

**Universidade do Minho** Escola de Engenharia

Catarina Castro Ferreira

*Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biorefinery: A sustainable approach to valorize microalgae biomass towards biomolecules recovery



**Universidade do Minho** Escola de Engenharia

Catarina Castro Ferreira

*Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biorefinery: A sustainable approach to valorize microalgae biomass towards biomolecules recovery

Dissertação de Mestrado

Mestrado em Biotecnologia

Trabalho efetuado sob a orientação de

Doutora Cristina Rocha

Professor Doutor António Vicente

Doutora Joana Laranjeira Silva

### DIREITOS DE AUTOR E CONDIÇÕES DE UTILIZAÇÃO DO TRABALHO POR TERCEIROS

Este é um trabalho académico que pode ser utilizado por terceiros desde que respeitadas as regras e boas práticas internacionalmente aceites, no que concerne aos direitos de autor e direitos conexos.

Assim, o presente trabalho pode ser utilizado nos termos previstos na licença abaixo indicada.

Caso o utilizador necessite de permissão para poder fazer um uso do trabalho em condições não previstas no licenciamento indicado, deverá contactar o autor, através do RepositóriUM da Universidade do Minho.

Licença concedida aos utilizadores deste trabalho



Atribuição-NãoComercial-Compartilhalgual CC BY-NC-SA

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

A presente dissertação inseriu-se no âmbito dos Projetos ALGAVALOR (Lisboa 2020, ALGARVE 2020, FEDER, COMPETE 2020, PT2020) e OH2O (FCT, COMPETE 2020, PT2020), pelo que gostaria de agradecer o seu financiamento.

Em primeiro lugar, gostaria de agradecer à Professora Cristina, por sempre se demonstrar disponível para me ajudar, pela partilha de conhecimento, por me dar as ferramentas necessárias para poder crescer profissionalmente, mas, acima de tudo, pela palavra amiga quando mais precisava. Obrigada por me permitir ter liberdade de escolha ao longo de todo o trabalho, incentivar o meu pensamento-crítico e acreditar nas minhas capacidades. Ao Professor Vicente gostaria de agradecer pela disponibilidade e prontidão em me ajudar, bem como a sua simpatia. À Doutora Joana Laranjeira não podia deixar de agradecer pela oportunidade que me deu em experienciar a investigação em contexto industrial, permitindo-me, assim, perceber o rumo que quero dar às etapas que se seguem.

Aos meus colegas de laboratório, muito obrigada por me receberem tão bem! Queria agradecer especialmente às meninas (Catarina, Joana e Sara) por todas as horas partilhadas, por toda a ajuda que me deram, por todos os favores que me fizeram e por tornarem o trabalho num local mais aprazível. Ao Pedro, um obrigada pelos conhecimentos que partilhou e pelo auxílio que me deu, mesmo nos momentos em que estava atolado de trabalho. E como não podia deixar de ser, aos investigadores do LIP, pela constante simpatia e por me fazerem sentir que era um deles, ainda que não pertencesse a este laboratório. Em especial, um obrigada ao Maciel, por toda a ajuda e por todos os conselhos que me deu, que foram imprescindíveis para o sucesso deste trabalho.

Às amigas que este mestrado me deu (Bruna Dias, Bruna Martina, Bruna Parente, Márcia e Lúcia), as quais sei que vou levar para a vida. Obrigada por partilharem comigo esta etapa, com todos os altos e baixos, por lidarem com o meu stress constante e conseguirem fazer-me rir nos momentos mais complicados.

Ao meu mais que tudo, ao meu melhor amigo e companheiro de todas as horas, ao meu Francesco, um obrigada não chega! Obrigada por mesmo longe, fazeres por estares sempre perto. Estou eternamente grata por poder partilhar este meu sucesso contigo. Obrigada por toda a paciência e mais alguma. Sem a tua motivação, isto não teria sido possível. Obrigada por seres o meu maior apoio e acreditares em mim, mesmo quando eu não o faço.

Por último, quero agradecer às pessoas mais importantes da minha vida, aqueles que fizeram de mim quem sou hoje e que estiveram lá em todos os momentos, aos meus pais. Se isto foi possível, foi por vocês! Um obrigada por toda a paciência e mais alguma. Um obrigada pela compreensão e

iii

preocupação constante. Um obrigada pela motivação em ser mais e melhor. Um obrigada por tudo! Enfim, todos e quaisquer agradecemos nunca serão suficientes pelos sacrifícios, por todas as horas mal dormidas e por todos os favores que fizeram por mim! São os melhores do mundo e sou uma sortuda por vos ter. Espero que isto vos deixe tão orgulhosos quanto o orgulho que tenho em vocês.



UNIÃO EUROPEIA Fundo Europeu de Desenvolvimento Regional



### STATEMENT OF INTEGRITY

I hereby declare having conducted this academic work with integrity. I confirm that I have not used plagiarism or any form of undue use of information or falsification of results along the process leading to its elaboration.

I further declare that I have fully acknowledged the Code of Ethical Conduct of the University of Minho.

### BIOREFINARIA DE *PHAEODACTYLUM TRICORNUTUM*: UMA ESTRATÉGIA SUSTENTÁVEL NA VALORIZAÇÃO DE BIOMASSA DE MICROALGAS PARA A RECUPERAÇÃO DE BIOMOLÉCULAS

### Resumo

A grande capacidade das microalgas para subsistir à exposição a condições severas ou limitantes é amplamente conhecida, constituindo uma fonte singular de biocompostos específicos e de valor acrescentado. O potencial dos seus extratos, no que concerne às propriedades funcionais e bioativas, encontra-se bem estabelecido, com características interessantes para o cuidado da pele, enquanto agentes de consistência, hidratação e antioxidantes. O interesse crescente por metodologias mais sustentáveis culmina numa maior procura por formulações naturais. Todavia, o potencial e a utilidade das microalgas encontram-se dependentes das técnicas de extração aplicadas. A seleção do método de extração preferencial constitui um fator determinante para a qualidade do produto final, o qual deverá exceder os requisitos do consumidor, enquanto oferece um processo economicamente apelativo.

Desta forma, esta tese objetivou evidenciar o potencial da microalga *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*, ao fornecer úteis informações para a formulação de um produto cosmecêutico natural. Procurou-se obter duas frações, responsáveis por funções bioativas e tecnológicas, explorando o impacto das condições de crescimento em culturas de *P. tricornutum* e estabelecendo uma metodologia de extração, que inclui o aquecimento óhmico (OH) como potencial alternativa aos processos de extração convencionais.

Inicialmente, implementou-se uma evolução laboratorial adaptativa (ALE) acoplada à mutagénese por UV-C nas culturas de *P. tricornutum*. Apesar dos resultados não evidenciarem um claro impacto positivo na atividade antioxidante dos extratos, esta estratégia apresentou-se potencialmente útil no aumento da extração lipídica. Utilizou-se a água e diferentes misturas de etanol/água como solventes para explorar os efeitos da extração baseada em OH e convencional nas propriedades dos extratos, com objetivando-se um espetro de polaridade. A funcionalidade de *P. tricornutum* foi avaliada relacionando a composição dos extratos (estabelecida por fluorescência intrínseca, eletroforese SDS-PAGE, FTIR e cromatografia de permeação em gel) com o seu comportamento térmico, reológico e emulsificante. A triagem do seu potencial bioativo baseou-se em três ensaios de determinação de atividade antioxidante (FRAP, ABTS e DPPH) e num ensaio de viabilidade em linhas celulares normais e de cancro.

Os extratos demonstraram potencial tecnológico e bioactivo, com interessantes capacidades de gelificação, emulsificação e antioxidante. O seu perfil bioquímico e de atuação foi dependente do solvente utilizado. Na generalidade, não se observaram efeitos significativos aquando da aplicação de OH. Em suma, os objetivos delineados foram cumpridos, reconhecendo-se o potencial dos extratos de *P. tricornutum* para a indústria cosmecêutica, bem como para o desenvolvimento de alimentos funcionais. **PALAVRAS–CHAVE**: Aquecimento óhmico; Bioatividade; Extração; Propriedades funcionais; *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* 

vi

#### Abstract

Microalgae superior ability to sustain harsh, stressing or limiting conditions is widely known, while being also a unique source of specific and valuable biocompounds. Microalgae extracts' potential has been well recognized for their interesting functional and bioactive properties, showing specially interesting features for skin care products' manufacturing mainly as thickening, water-binding and antioxidant agents. The expanding interest in addressing a more sustainable and eco-friendly product development results in a growing community searching for natural-based formulations. However, microalgae potential and usefulness are dependent on the extraction techniques applied. The selection of the preferential method presents a major impact on the final product quality, which should exceed costumer's requests, while simultaneously offering an economically appealing process.

Thus, this thesis aimed at acknowledging *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* potential, by ultimately providing important information for the formulation of an algae-based cosmeceutical product. The present work focused on achieving two different main fractions accountable for bioactive and technological functions, underlying *P. tricornutum* growth conditions impact and designing the extraction methodology, including ohmic heating (OH) as a potential alternative to conventional extraction processes.

Firstly, an adaptive laboratory evolution (ALE) taking advantage of UV-C mutagenesis was performed in *P. tricornutum* cultures. Although the results did not allow a clear positive impact in global extracts' antioxidant activity, it presented as a potentially useful tool to enhance lipidic extraction. In order to explore the OH-based and conventional extraction implications on the microalgae extracts properties, water and different ethanol/water mixtures were used as solvents, addressing a polarity spectrum. *P. tricornutum* functionality was evaluated by relating the extracts composition (assessed by intrinsic fluorescence analysis, SDS-PAGE electrophoresis, FTIR and gel permeation chromatography) with their thermal, rheological and emulsifying behavior. Bioactive potential was analyzed by three different antioxidant activity measuring tests (FRAP, ABTS and DPPH) and a viability assay in normal and cancer cell lines.

This diatom extracts showed promising technological and bioactive potential, with interesting gelling, emulsification and antioxidant capacities. Extracts showed different biochemical and performance profiles, depending on the solvent used. Generally, no significant effects were observed for OH application, having this process lower energy consumptions. In conclusion, the major goals of the present work were successfully accomplished, underlining *P. tricornutum* extracts potentiality not only for cosmeceutical industry, but also for functional foods development.

KEY WORDS: Bioactivity, Extraction, Functional properties, Ohmic heating, Phaeodactylum tricornutum

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

DIREITOS D	E AUTOR E CONDIÇÕES DE UTILIZAÇÃO DO TRABALHO POR TERCEIROS	ii
ACKNOWLE	DGMENTS	iii
STATEMENT	OF INTEGRITY	V
RESUMO		vi
Abstract.		vii
		vi
LIST OF FIG	URES	XIV
LIST OF TAE	BLES	xvii
1. State	E OF THE ART	19 -
1.1.	Algae definition	21 -
1.2.	Cosmeceutical market	23 -
1.3.	Algae potential in cosmeceutical	25 -
1.4.	Phaeodactylum tricornutum	33 -
1.4.1	. Main applications: cosmeceutical potential	35 -
1.5.	Microalgae cultivation strategy and requirements	36 -
1.6.	Adaptive laboratory evolution using UV mutagenesis	41 -
1.7.	Microalgae extraction process: ohmic heating focus	45 -
1.8.	Algae biorefinery	49 -
2. Aims.		51 -
3. Mate	RIALS AND METHODS	53 -
3.1.	Biomass material	53 -
3.1.1	. <i>P. tricornutum</i> growth for enhanced rich fractions	53 -
3.1.2	. <i>P. tricornutum</i> commercial biomass	55 -
3.2.	<i>P. tricornutum</i> extraction	55 -
3.2.1	. Growth conditions impact on extracts fractions	55 -
3.2.2	. Preliminary assays: solvent based extractions	56 -
3.2.3	. Ohmic heating	57 -

	3.3.	Biomass and extracts characterization	59 -
	3.3.1	. Moisture and ash content	59 -
	3.3.2	. Lipid content	59 -
	3.3.3	. Protein content	60 -
	3.3.4	. Carbohydrate content	61 -
	3.3.5	. Photosynthetic pigment analyses	62 -
	3.3.6	. Total phenolic content determination	62 -
	3.3.7	. Total flavonoid content determination	62 -
	3.4.	Functional properties analyses	63 -
	3.4.1	. Intrinsic fluorescence analyses	63 -
	3.4.2	. SDS-PAGE electrophoresis	63 -
	3.4.3	. Thermal behavior	63 -
	3.4.4	. Rheological analyses	63 -
	3.4.5	. Chemical and structure analyses	64 -
	3.4.6	. Gel permeation chromatography	64 -
	3.4.7	. Emulsification activity	64 -
	3.5.	Bioactive properties analyses	65 -
	3.5.1	. Antioxidant assays	65 -
	3.5.2	. Cell Viability	66 -
	3.6.	Statistical analyses	67 -
4.	Resu	LTS AND DISCUSSION	68 -
	41	Adaptive laboratory evolution and LIV exposure	- 68 -
	42	Phaeodactylum tricornutum mixotrophic growth	- 77 -
	43	Riomass pretreatment selection	- 78 -
	4.4	Functional extracts	_ 79 _
	45	Rigactive extracts	_ 97 _
5	CONC		- 104 -
J.	-	LUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK FERSELUTIVES	
6.	Refer	RENCES	106 -
7.	Appei	NDIX	130 -
	Appendi	x 1 – Extraction technology extractions	131 -
	Appendi	x 2 – Calibration curves	134 -

Appendix 3 – Protein quantification methods	- 137 -
APPENDIX 4 – MICROALGAE EXTRACTS ANTIOXIDANT PROFILE	- 138 -

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

$\lambda_{\max}$	Maximum of the fluorescence emission spectra
1-UVR	One UV stimulus
3-UVR	Three UV stimuli
ABTS	2,2-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline)-6 sulphonic acid
ALE	Adaptive Laboratory Evolution
APX	Ascorbate peroxidase
ARA	Arachidonic acid
ATR	Attenuated Total Reflectance
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
CE	Catechin Equivalents
DE	Dry Extract
DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid
DichEt	Dichloromethane:ethanol 50%
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DPPH	2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl
DSC	Differential Scanning Calorimetry
DSP	Downstream processing
DW	Dry weight
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EF	Electric Field
EI	Emulsification Index
em	Emission
EMS	Ethyl methanesulfonate
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid
EPS	Exopolysaccharide
eq	Equivalent
EtOH	Ethanol
EU	European Union
ex	Excitement
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum

FRAP	Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power
FTIR	Fourier Transform Infrared
G'	Storage modulus
G''	Viscous/Loss modulus
GAE	Gallic Acid Equivalents
GMO	Genetically Modified Organism
GPC	Gel Permeation Chromatography
GR	Glutathione Reductase
GRAS	Generally recognized as safe
h	Hour
НА	Hyaluronic acid
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
HVED	High Voltage Electric Discharges
IC 50	Half-maximal inhibitory concentration
LAP	Laboratory Analytical Procedures
LED	Light-emitting diode
MAA	Mycosporine-like Amino Acid
MEF	Moderate Electric Fields
min	Minute
MW	Molecular Weight
NREL	National Renewable Energy Laboratory
NTG	N-methyl-N'-nitro-N-nitrosoguanidine
OD	Optical density
ОН	Ohmic heating
р	p-value
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
PEF	Pulsed Electric Fields
РОН	Pulsed Ohmic Heating
PSA	Phenol-sulfuric acid
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acid
RI	Refractive Index
RNA	Ribonucleic acid

ROS	Reactive oxygen species
rpm	Rotation per minute
S	Second
SD	Standard Deviation
SDS-PAGE	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate–Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
SLE	Solid-liquid extraction
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
TAG	Triacylglycerol
TEM	Transmission Electron Microscopy
TFC	Total Flavonoid Content
T <sub>g</sub>	Temperature of gelling
T <sub>m</sub>	Temperature of melting
TPC	Total Phenolic Content
TPTZ	2,4,6-tripyridyl-s-triazine
Trolox	(±)-6-Hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchromane-2-carboxylic acid
Trp	Tryptophan
Tyr	Tyrosine
USP	Upstream processing
UV	Ultraviolet

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 – Phaeodactylum tricornutum's morphotypes ultrastructural organization. (A) Triradiate cell by transmission electron microscopy (TEM); (B) oval cell in transversal section in the raphe area (r) by TEM; (C) oval cell with silicified valve by scanning electron micrograph; (D) and (E): fusiform cell in longitudinal and transversal sections, respectively; (F) Cruciform under light microscopy. c: chloroplast; ep: epivalve; hyp: hypovalve; m: mitochondria; n: nucleus; pl: plastid; pyr: pyrenoid; ra: raphe; v: vacuole. Adapted Figure 2 – Adaptive laboratory evolution (ALE) can be performed in the laboratory using three broad approaches. (A) Sequential serial passages at regular intervals in shake flasks with liquid medium, where nutrients will not be limited, and certain growth parameters can heavily vary. (B) Colony transfer is similar to serial transfer but is performed on plates with solid medium. (C) A chemostat comprises a culture vessel in which the population grows under continuous agitation and aeration, where cell density and environmental conditions can be kept constant. Fresh medium is added into the vessel at a defined rate and culture broth is harvested continuously during the process. Adapted from X.-M. Sun et al. (2018); Dragosits and Mattanovich (2013). ....- 43 -Figure 3 – Bench-scale batch ohmic heater and data acquisition system used for ohmic heating treatments.....- 57 -**Figure 4** – *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* growth curve in 1 L photobioreactor, for a maximum of 7 days. Results are the average of a duplicated experiment. Cultures were maintained using Guillard's f/2 medium at 24 °C, under continuously white light (100 µmol photons m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) and aeration with 0.33% CO<sub>2</sub>....- 68 -Figure 5 – Microscopic observation of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* cultures at 60x. (A) Control: (B) Culture after one UV-C treatment of 10 min...... 71 -Figure 6 – Lipidic content determined on (A) P. tricornutum biomass and (B) ethanolic extracts. Cultures were maintained using Guillard's f/2 medium at 24 °C, under continuously white light (100  $\mu$ mol photons m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) and 0.33 % CO<sub>2</sub> aeration. Different letters indicate significant differences  $(p \le 0.05)$  between microalgae expose to different UV-C treatments within the same extraction solvent used.....-73 -

**Figure 7** – Scan spectrum of the different extracts within 230 and 700 nm, with a resolution of 10 nm..-75 -

**Figure 8** – Principle component analysis (PCA) on the ethanolic 50 % or 96 % extracts obtained from *P. tricornutum* cultivation, with cluster segregation assemble by the number of UV stimuli applied:

C – control culture; F – culture after the first UV treatment; T – culture after the third UV treatment.- 76

**Figure 11** – *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* (A) extracts composition and (B) extraction yield on dry weight microalgae basis. Different extraction conditions were performed: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C by control treatments (without the presence of OH) and OH at 25 Hz, using water (W) and ethanol 25% (E). Different letters indicate significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) between extraction conditions, within the same molecule fraction....-82 -

**Figure 12** – *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* precipitation yield when exposed to different extraction conditions: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C by control treatments (without the presence of OH) and OH at 25 Hz, using water (W) and ethanol 25 % (E). Precipitation was performed by adding cold ethanol to a final concentration of 80 % (v v<sup>-1</sup>). Different letters indicate significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) between extraction conditions.....-83 -

Figure 16 – Typical DSC thermogram for P. tricornutum purified extracts during heating cycle...... 88 -

Figure 17 - FTIR spectra for <i>P. tricornutum</i> purified extracts when exposed to different extraction
conditions: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C by control treatments (without the presence of OH) and OH at
25 Hz, using water and ethanol 25 % 93 -
Figure 18 – Gel permeation high-performance liquid chromatography profile of polysaccharides present
on <i>P. tricornutum</i> purified extracts (1 mg mL-1), using RI detection: effect of using (A) ethanol 25 % and
(B) water as solvent extraction. Temperature and OH effect were analyzed, from top to bottom: 40 $^\circ\mathrm{C}$
conventional extraction; 40 $^\circ$ C extraction with OH treatment; 80 $^\circ$ C conventional extraction; and 80 $^\circ$ C
extraction with OH treatment94 -
Figure 19 – Gel permeation high-performance liquid chromatography profile of proteins present on P.
tricornutum purified extracts (1 mg mL-1), using UV detection: effect of using (A) ethanol 25% and (B)
water as solvent extraction. Temperature and OH effect were analyzed, from top to bottom: 40 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$
conventional extraction; 40 $^\circ$ C extraction with OH treatment; 80 $^\circ$ C conventional extraction; and 80 $^\circ$ C
extraction with OH treatment
Figure 20 – Emulsification index over a 25 days period registered for 1 % <i>P. tricornutum</i> purified extracts,
using soybean oil as a hydrocarbon. Different extraction conditions were analyzed to establish emulsifying
formation and stability impact: temperatures of 40 and 80 $^{\circ}$ C by control treatments (without the presence
of OH) and OH at 25 Hz, using water (W) and ethanol 25 % (E)
Figure 21 – Pretreatment impact on <i>P. tricornutum</i> extracts: (A) antioxidant (ABTS, DPPH and FRAP)
activities and (B) phenolic and lipidic content
Figure 22 – Impact of different extractions conditions, namely, temperature (45 and 65 °C) and time (15
and 30 min) on <i>P. tricornutum</i> frozen paste: (A) antioxidant (ABTS, DPPH and FRAP) activities and (B)
phenolic and lipidic content
Figure 23 - Effect on cell viability of <i>P tricornutum</i> extracts using conventional (C) and ohmic heating
(OH) treatment in four different cell lines. Values are expressed as mean and standard deviation of three
independent experiments 102 -

### LIST OF TABLES

 Table 1 – Microalgae extract or bioactive compound whose reported activity is potential interesting for cosmeceutical industry and respectively commercially available products.
 27 

 Table 2 – Main advantages and disadvantages of each cultivation system used for microalgae growth.
 37 

**Table 3** – Main electro-technologies and its applications previously reported. Adapted from Sastry (2008); Rocha et al. (2018). .....- 48 -Table 4 - Conditions for the extraction of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* exposed to two different Table 5 – Kinetic parameters of *P. tricornutum* cultures grown in 1 L reactors under batch conditions. Results are the average of a duplicated experiment, and a measurement of the dispersion of the data is Table 6 – Maximum dry weight and maximum volumetric productivities of *P. tricornutum* cultures grown in 1 L reactors under batch conditions and submitted to different ultraviolet radiation stimuli. 1-UVR -After first UV stimulus; 3-UVR - After third UV stimulus. ..... 70 -Table 7 – Preliminary assays results to establish extraction conditions impact on protein and polysaccharide content on the extracts attained. Extractions were carried out under 170 rpm agitation with 2 % as solid solvent ratio.....- 80 -Table 8 – Carbohydrate quantification in *P. tricornutum* purified extracts performed by HPLC-RI. Values are the mean ± SD. Different extraction conditions were performed: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C, using water (W) and ethanol 25 % (E). Glu – glucose; Xil – xilose; Man – mannose; Gal – galactose; Fuc – fucose. Different letters indicate significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) between extraction conditions, within the same fraction.....- 87 -

**Table 9** – Thermal properties attained by DSC analyses for *P. tricornutum* purified extracts. Values are the mean  $\pm$  SD. Different extraction conditions were performed: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C, using water (W) and ethanol 25 % (E). n.d. – not discernible; *T* – temperature. Different letters indicate significant differences (p  $\leq$  0.05) between extraction conditions, within the same peak and parameter...-89 -

**Table 10** – Rheological data obtained through dynamic rheological measurements in a stress-controlled rheometer for 5 % P. tricornutum purified extracts. Values are the mean  $\pm$  SD. Different extraction conditions were performed: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C, using water (W) and ethanol 25 % (E). *G*'- storage modulus; *G*''– viscous modulus; *T*<sub>s</sub>– gelling temperature; *T*<sub>m</sub> – melting temperature. Different

letters indicate significant differences (p $\leq$ 0.05) between extraction conditions, within the same
parameter
Table 11 – Ohmic heating impact on antioxidant (ABTS, DPPH and FRAP) activities and biochemical
characterization of ethanolic extracts from Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Extractions were carried out at
65 °C for 15 min. Values are expressed as mean $\pm$ SD of 3–4 experiments (half-maximal inhibitory
concentration, <i>IC</i> <sub>50</sub> ) 100 -
Table 12 – Half-maximal inhibitory concentration ( $IC_{50}$ ) of P. tricornutum extracts on proliferation in four
different cell lines 103 -

### 1. STATE OF THE ART

The aquatic environment is a crucial and growing source of bioactive compounds, comprising approximately a half of the total global biodiversity (Aneiros and Garateix 2004; Ruocco *et al.* 2016). It has been classified as the largest remaining reservoir of natural molecules to be evaluated for drug activity, providing an unique source of microorganisms, animals and plants with particular characteristics, due to the very demanding, competitive and aggressive surrounding environment. This singular way of life leads to the production of specific and promising active natural molecules. With oceans accounting for about 70 % of the Earth's surface and corresponding to about 90 % of the biosphere, it becomes understandable its increasing exploration interest, having into account the revealing great potential of its source in several fields (Ruocco *et al.* 2016; Aneiros and Garateix 2004; J. Kim *et al.* 2018; Ariede *et al.* 2017). In fact, there are plenty of known studies reporting that ocean's biological activity overcomes to those isolated from terrestrial sources (J. Kim *et al.* 2018).

Algae species, due to their harsh environment and phototropic life, are submitted to high oxidative and free-radical stresses in their habitat. This leads its evolution towards the development of natural protective systems and different adaptation strategies, which enable them to survive in these hostile conditions (Bleakley and Hayes 2017; H. D. Wang *et al.* 2017; Ruocco *et al.* 2016).

The increasing environmental pollution that has been noticed in the last few decades has emerged as one of the major problems around the globe, owing to rapid industrial expansion and the growing global population. With their health hazard origin and eminent danger to the living ecosystems as simultaneously socioeconomic awareness and ecological apprehensions, scientific research aims to address a more sustainable and ecofriendly product development (Ahmed, M. N. Iqbal, and Dhama 2017; Bilal *et al.* 2018). Therefore, the expanding interest on searching for bioactive formulations achieved by natural sources, instead of synthetic made products, can present as a considerable solution to this core humanity concerning (J. Kim *et al.* 2018). Since 2012, the European Union (EU) has established a sustainable strategy, which proposes a comprehensive approach in order to increase green products and limit the adverse ambient impact, revealing a gap opportunity for algae as a natural source (Vigani *et al.* 2015).

The algae extended application for food ingredient conception as a source of functional health ingredients has been extensively reviewed in literature, as well as its enhanced potential of providing a wide range of biologically important compounds useful for cosmeceutical benefit in humans and

pharmacological industry (Kadam, Tiwari, and O'Donnell 2013; Thomas and Kim 2013; Ruocco *et al.* 2016). These relates to the possibility that offers of maximizing resources, since they do not require freshwater or arable land to grow, and thereby have the ability to grow at higher rates than terrestrial plants, increasing the positive socioeconomic impact of its use. Furthermore, its strong ability to respond to external factors as the consequent physiology change due to environment alteration appeals their extensive variety of high-value molecules for diverse purposes. A practical application is the production of secondary metabolites like pigments (e.g., carotenes, chlorophylls, and phycobiliproteins) and polyphenols (e.g., catechins, flavonols, and phlorotannins), which can impart health benefits to the consumer when eaten (J. Kim *et al.* 2018; Vigani *et al.* 2015; H. D. Wang *et al.* 2017; Ruocco *et al.* 2016; Bleakley and Hayes 2017). In the other hand, it has been reported that, when compared to the terrestrial plants and animal-based foods, algae offers a richer source of some health-promoting molecules, such as dietary fiber,  $\omega$ -3 fatty acids, essential amino acids and vitamins A, B, C, and E, important aspect for cosmeceutical product development (Thomas and Kim 2013).

Hence, algae species are considered important biomass producers for many different applications, being capable of producing bioactive compounds with potential interest in the cosmetic industry. Important features for cosmeceutical application relate to the presence of thickening, water-binding and antioxidants agents (Ariede *et al.* 2017; Ruocco *et al.* 2016).

Having the ecological preservation in mind as well as the current interest by the consumers in natural made products, there is an important need to account to these demands. Marine organisms have been proved as a valuable source of structurally diverse biologically active compounds for cosmeceutical industry, offering a considerable contribution to prevent aging, inflammation and skin degradation linked to free radicals studies (J. Kim *et al.* 2018; Bilal *et al.* 2018; Ruocco *et al.* 2016). Moreover, since Portugal has one of the largest Exclusive Economic Zones around the world, accounting for 18.7 times its size, the marine exploration becomes of greater potential (Tomé 2014; "Ordenamento Do Espaço Marítimo Nacional, Plano de Situação," n.d.). Furthermore, taking into consideration the well-recognized algae potential and its remarkable but confined used as a powerful healthy nutrient based diet, the assessment of this ecosystem becomes of further importance. In fact, despite the greater bioavailability content in Portugal, the current confined and non-traditional alimentation based ingredient, allows a non-competitive handling to other human benefits, referring to land or nutritional use (To *et al.* 2018; Vigani *et al.* 2015; L. Pereira 2008; Sathasivam *et al.* 2019).

There has been a growing national effort to adopt a more integrate and flexible management of the coastal zones, which is reflected by the major importance recognized to algae production (Lillebo and

Gooch 2015). In fact, the algae bloom phenomena characterized by an excessive growth of this species has been considered an ecological concern. It leads to drastic negative consequences as a result of the water clarity and oxygen levels decreasing. Thereby, its exploration could result in the repression or even prevention of this incident (Ribeiro 2008). Portugal provides the largest european microalgae production center, which applies a circular economy advantage system (M. Fernandes 2018). As a result, cosmeceutical algae-based products have a promising future in Portugal, following the current demand of more sustainable and ecological approaches to fulfill costumer's needs.

#### 1.1.Algae definition

Algae assemble a multiplicity of species with a polyphyletic origin, which had suffered a heterogeneous evolution process and can be broadly described as photosynthetic oxygen-producers, unicellular or multicellular organisms, excluding embryophyte terrestrial plants and lichens (Ariede *et al.* 2017; Sasso *et al.* 2012; Bleakley and Hayes 2017). They are known for being capable of growing by themselves or in symbiosis with other organisms in a variety of aquatic habitats – such as lakes, ponds, rivers, oceans and wastewater – and indulge in a wide range of temperatures, salinities and pH values, as well as different light exposure and conditions (Khan, Shin, and Kim 2018). It is recognized that these environmental factors, the physiological status, and the aerobic or anaerobic conditions can influence its chemical composition. Thereby, they must be taken into consideration when processes development and optimization are aimed (H. D. Wang *et al.* 2017). Algae cells ' ability to perform the conversion of solar energy into chemical energy through photosynthesis process allows the storage of different bioactive compounds (Bilal *et al.* 2018). This has enhanced its application as a natural resource (Ariede *et al.* 2017).

Algae classification based on its size results into macroalgae (seaweeds) and microalgae. Macroalgae are defined as multicellular and large-size marine plants, usually found in coastal areas, with simpler structures than terrestrial plants (H.-M. D. Wang *et al.* 2015; J. Kim *et al.* 2018). It is possible to classify macroalgae into three main taxonomic groups based on their pigmentation: *Phaeophyta* (brown macroalgae), *Chlorophyta* (green macroalgae), and *Rhodophyta* (red macroalgae) (Kadam, Tiwari, and O'Donnell 2013; Bleakley and Hayes 2017; J. Kim *et al.* 2018). Microalgae comprise an enormous biodiversity, including prokaryotic and eukaryotic microorganisms with high growth rates due to their unicellular or simple multicellular structure (Mata, Martins, and Caetano 2010; Suganya *et al.* 2016). In fact, data from the literature report that only 40-50.000 species are described or analyzed from a total of

20.000-800.000 species estimated (Suganya *et al.* 2016). Microalgae species may be found in all ecosystems and in oceanic water area as phytoplankton (Ariede *et al.* 2017; J. Kim *et al.* 2018). The evolutionary and phylogenetic diversity of this group provides a wide variety in chemical composition, enhancing its interest for bioprospecting and exploitation as commercial sources (Borowitzka 2013) since commonly display exceptionally high market values (Koller, Muhr, and Braunegg 2014). Microalgae 's essential role to sustain earth's ecosystems is highlighted by the production of approximately half of the atmospheric oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>), while allowing the greenhouse gas carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) levels to decrease thought out an exceptional CO<sub>2</sub> fixation capacity (Suganya *et al.* 2016; Koller, Muhr, and Braunegg 2014).

Algae have been traditionally classified based on their color, characteristic that still remains of certain importance. Additional criteria may include cytological and morphological features, such as flagellate cells presence and flagella structure, nuclear and cell division type, the existence of an endoplasmic reticulum envelope around the chloroplast and endoplasmic reticulum connection with the nuclear membrane. It is known that microalgae may have different cell organization types, namely unicellular, filamentous and colonial, with possible diverse shapes of colonial organization, such as flat, spherical, cubic, palmelloid, dendroid, flagellate and non-flagellate (Richmond 2004). The current systems take mainly into consideration the kind of pigments present, chemical nature of storage products and cell wall components. Thus, there are two groups of prokaryotic microalgae (Cyanophyta and Prochlorophyta) (Mourelle, Gómez, and Legido 2017) and ten phyla of eukaryotic cells (Glaucophyta, Rhodophyta, Chlorophyta, Euglenophyta, Dinophyta, Apicompexa, Cryptophyta, Heterokontophyta and Prymnesiophyta) (R. E. Lee 2008). The most abundant microalgae divisions are Bacillariophyta (diatoms), Chlorophyta (green algae), Chrysophyta (golden algae) and Cyanophyta (blue-green algae) (Bleakley and Hayes 2017).

Microalgae superior ability to sustain harsh or limiting conditions, as well as environmental stressors such as photo-oxidation, osmotic pressure, and ultraviolet (UV) radiation exposure, due to its microscopic size, is widely known. Their ability to provide a broad range of bioproducts and incorporate many valuable bioactive components such as polysaccharides, proteins, pigments, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), tocopherols, sterols, vitamins, antioxidants, and minerals has been explored by different areas. In addition, when compared to plants, they present several advantages such as increased productivity, confined season variation, easier extraction processes and a possibility of obtaining a great number of raw materials (Christaki *et al.* 2013). Several of these species have been applied to a multiplicity of biotechnological purposes, namely cosmeceuticals, animal feed, health supplements, pharmaceuticals, wastewater treatment, atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> mitigation and biofuel production, either as

biomass or as high-value products source (Acién *et al.*, 2017; Bleakley & Hayes, 2017; Christaki *et al.*, 2013; Khan *et al.*, 2018). However, there are biological and economic challenges regarding large-scale microalgae cultivation, as well as their biorefinery process, which should be addressed to ensure a sustainable production achievement (Barkia, Saari, and Manning 2019).

#### 1.2.Cosmeceutical market

The cosmeceutical industry is a worldwide business, being used on a daily basis by millions of people by taking advantage of the aging effects and of the beauty patterns established by the society (Ariede *et al.* 2017; Kligman 2000). Statistical data from 2014 show that skin care consumption, when compared to make-up and fragrances, accounts to the highest sales value, with  $305.3 \notin$  million versus 79.2 and 195.5  $\notin$  million, respectively. Portugal was recognized, in 2018, as the  $12^{\text{th}}$  EU country with the highest consumption value of cosmetics and personal care in Europe (statista 2019). In a social opportunity point of view, a previous study from 2016 reported that Portuguese consumers reveal a preference towards international brands, due to its availability and quality (Lopes 2016). Therefore, there is a useful gap for Portuguese-made products distribution that should be taken into consideration and possibly explored.

Nowadays, cosmeceuticals have been showing as an important and increasing demand by consumers, due to its known potential beneficial effects on human health. Cosmeceuticals can be defined based on its etymology, fusion result of the words "cosmetic" and "pharmaceutical" (Ruocco *et al.* 2016; S.-K. Kim *et al.* 2008). Cosmetics products are any substance or preparation that is applied to the external parts of human body for its reinforcement, beautification and appearance improvement that must not affect its structure and functions, establishing its inert and pharmacological inactive role (Ruocco *et al.* 2016; Kligman 2000; H.-M. D. Wang *et al.* 2015). Taking into account this definition, it is understandable the relevance of cosmeceuticals in society, as a cosmetic product with drug-like benefits that enhance or protect the appearance of human body, which includes anti-aging creams and moisturizers (S.-K. Kim *et al.* 2008). Its formula contains active ingredients, such as vitamins, minerals, phytochemicals, enzymes, antioxidants and essential oils, useful to promote a healthier skin, hair and nails at a cellular level (S.-K. Kim *et al.* 2008; Ruocco *et al.* 2016). Some of the costumer's requirements include safety, effectiveness, protection, natural formulation and good sensatory quality (Ruocco *et al.* 2016).

The skin, as the largest organ in the human body, is constantly exposed to environment conditions and has a crucial role as first defense barrier and in many physical functions (Yasin *et al.* 2018; H.-M. D. Wang *et al.* 2015; Review 2011). Skin structure complexity and aging responsible factors

- 23 -

acknowledgment will enhance its prevention, by anti-aging products development or improvement (Yasin *et al.* 2018).

This organ's ability to offer protection against exogenous factors, such as toxic or immune inductive response substances penetration and UV radiation, while prevents excessive water loss, is directly dependent on the structural epidermal integrity (Lorencini *et al.* 2014; Review 2011). Skin is composed of the epidermis, dermis and hypodermis (H.-M. D. Wang *et al.* 2015; Lorencini *et al.* 2014). In the epidermis, the predominant keratinocyte cells repair skin damage, with water content being vital for the skin cells functions, the sequential differentiation process and the skin's final appearance. The dermis is mainly composed of connective tissues, including blood vessels, sweat glands, nerves, fibroblasts, hyaluronic acid (HA), collagen and elastin, in which these two last polymers are cross-linked and provide support to the skin. HA is known for its important role in tissue repair and water retention, with its size assuming a critical parameter for its various functions (Review 2011; H.-M. D. Wang *et al.* 2015). An expecting consequent of aging is the breakdown of collagen and HA occurrence, leading to the depletion of skin firmness and to wrinkles appearance. The hypodermis is characterized by a fat and loose connective tissue layer (H.-M. D. Wang *et al.* 2015).

It is widely recognized that moisturization is the basic and first anti-aging gesture, helping to maintain the skin appearance and elasticity, while simultaneously strength its barrier function (H.-M. D. Wang *et al.* 2015). Hyaluronic acid proprieties have been of great interest for cosmetics industry, performing as an important functional ingredient due to its excellent moisture-retention ability. However, its limited amount and highly price enhances the search for novel abundant, natural and cheaper alternatives. Algae derived polysaccharides presents an excellent additive solution, with a previously study reporting a better performance of polysaccharides extracted from *Saccharina japonica* than HA (J. Wang *et al.* 2013; H.-M. D. Wang *et al.* 2015).

Skin aging is a slow and complex biological process, comprising intrinsic and extrinsic factors, that has been reported as the primal cause of thinning, dryness, laxity, fragility, enlarged pores, fine lines and wrinkles (H.-M. D. Wang *et al.* 2015). In fact, aging involves major variable cutaneous alterations with consequent important skin functions deterioration. Intrinsic aging is related to genetic predisposition, cellular metabolic pathways and qualitative and/or quantitative hormonal alterations, while extrinsic aging results from UV light exposure and less frequently due to chemical, toxins and pollution exposure. (Nikolakis, Makrantonaki, and Zouboulis 2013).

At a molecular and cellular level, the skin aging process involves several modifications, including disappearance of epidermal HA ant its size reduction, increase extracellular matrix (ECM) degradation,

cellular senescence and collagen and elastin degradation by ascorbic acid – hydroxylase cofactor required in reactive species oxygen (ROS) elimination process, ultimately leading to a skin aging acceleration (Nikolakis, Makrantonaki, and Zouboulis 2013; H.-M. D. Wang *et al.* 2015; Kammeyer and Luiten 2015; Masaki 2010).

Therefore, anti-aging strategies are based in hindering or even reducing the evidence of aging, being the use of formulations with active substances a commonly and successful approach (Ramos-e-Silva *et al.* 2013). Antioxidant properties display an important role for anti-aging effect, since it prevents skin cellular level damage by decreasing free radicals negative influence (Ramos-e-Silva *et al.* 2013).

Taking these into consideration, it becomes understandable the vitamins and antioxidants application acceptance as primary cosmetics ingredients. However, to assure the compound bioactivity advantageously effect, several factors must be accomplished: molecule stability during production, storage and manipulation phases, nontoxic impact for the consumer and activity evidence at the target site. Thus, stability analysis is an indispensable tool to assess formulation usefulness, since it has a major impact on product quality, efficacy and safey (Baby *et al.* 2007).

#### 1.3. Algae potential in cosmeceutical

Algae extracts are currently being used for a variety of cosmeceutical products, since its composition offers a multiplicity of bioactive ingredients suitable for skin care manufacturing, mainly as thickening, water-binding and antioxidants agents. Brown and red algae add to the highest explored group due to the presence of vitamins, minerals, amino acids, sugars, lipids and other biological active molecules involved in moisture loss reduction and cell regeneration, thickening and skin health promotion processes (S.-K. Kim *et al.* 2008; Ariede *et al.* 2017). It is important to enhance the potential use of polysaccharides in algae cell walls as texture-improving and stabilizing agents: fucoidans in brown algae, carrageenan's in red algae and ulvan's in green algae (J. Kim *et al.* 2018; Ruocco *et al.* 2016).

Microalgae extracts potential for its interesting bioactive properties has been widely recognized, with antioxidant activity accounting for a major application in cosmetics, pharmaceutics and nutrition fields, due to its health-promoting effects (M. Raposo, De Morais, and Bernardo de Morais 2013). In fact, microalgae phototrophic growth regime and consequent exposure to high oxygen and radical stress result in the development of numerous efficient protective systems. This enables them to prevent free radicals and ROS accumulation and thus to counteract cell-damaging activities (Pulz and Gross 2004). Oxidative stress has been associated with various chronic diseases including atherosclerosis, diabetes mellitus, neurodegenerative disorders, and certain types of cancer (Banskota *et al.* 2019), as well as with skin

- 25 -

aging acceleration (J. Kim *et al.* 2018). Microalgae extracts are mainly used in cosmeceutical industry as antiaging creams, refreshing or regenerating skin care products, antioxidant and emollient products formulation. Moreover, it has been reported that some of microalgae secondary metabolites can repair damaged skin, maintain skin moisture and inhibit inflammation and accelerate healing processes (Ariede *et al.* 2017; S.-K. Kim *et al.* 2008).

Therefore, a variety of compounds with antioxidant properties and antiaging effects acquired from algae exploration have been widely applied in skin care and protection (H.-M. D. Wang *et al.* 2015). Some include the use of carotenoids, vitamins, polyphenols, sulfated polysaccharides and PUFAs, with macro and microalgae extracts already being used as sources of cosmeceuticals (Mourelle, Gómez, and Legido 2017; Masaki 2010; H.-M. D. Wang *et al.* 2015; Borowitzka 2013), as evidenced in Table 1. In another perspective, antioxidant activity presents of greater relevance for cosmeceutical development due to its ability to preserve the product organoleptic properties (H.-M. D. Wang *et al.* 2015).

 Table 1 – Microalgae extract or bioactive compound whose reported activity is potential interesting for cosmeceutical industry and respectively commercially available products.

Bioactive compound		Algae organism	Potential activities and cosmetic application	Examples of commercially available products	Ref
Polysaccharides					
		Laminaria japonica Fucus vesculosus Undaria pinnatifida Cladosiphon okamuranus Hizikia fusiforme	Skin protection and elasticity maintenance by moisture increasing, antioxidant and anti- aging effects	Tiande® Fucoidan line	(Tiande® n.d.; SK. Kim <i>et al.</i> 2008; Wijesinghe and Jeon 2011)
Fu	Fucoidans Saccharina japonica Costaria costata Mekabu Ascophyllum nodosum Sargassum tenerrimum Turbinaria conoides	Saccharina japonica	Higher moisture absorption and retention ability than hyaluronic acid		
		Skin anti-aging		(Tiande® n.d.; J. Kim <i>et al.</i> 2018)	
		Sargassum tenerrimum Turbinaria conoides	Antioxidant		
Carr	rageenans	<i>Chondrus</i> sp.	Viscosity-altering and thickening agents	Satiagum™ and Satiagel™	(Necas and Bartosikova 2013; "Cargill: Skin Care/Face" n.d.; SK. Kim <i>et al.</i> 2008)
Algina	ate/ Alginic acid	Brown algae	Thicken and stabilize emulsions at low pH; quickly water retention;	ALGOBOTOrelax, Teana laboratories	(SK. Kim <i>et al.</i> 2008; HM. D. Wang <i>et al.</i>

			provide cellular support to keep the cells from collapsing		2015; "Teana Laboratories: ALGOBOTORELAX" n.d.)
	Agar	Pterocladia Pterocladiella Gelidium Gracilaria gracilis Gracilaria chilensis	Viscosity-altering and thickening agent	Hot Chocolate Aromatherapy Powder Facial Mask, CALM SkinCare Inc®	(Inc n.d.; SK. Kim <i>et al.</i> 2008; HM. D. Wang <i>et al.</i> 2015)
	Ulvans	<i>Ulva</i> sp	Antioxidant and skin anti-aging	_	(J. Kim <i>et al</i> . 2018)
Sulfated	l polysaccharides	Phaeodactylum tricornutum Chlorella stigmatophora	Anti-inflammatory activity and immunomodulatory agent	_	(M. Raposo, De Morais, and Bernardo de Morais 2013; Talakoub, Neuhaus, and Yu 2016) (M. Raposo, De Morais, and Bernardo de Morais 2013)
		Porphyridium	Anti-inflammatory activity; immunomodulatory agent and biolubricant properties	Astaderm <sup>™</sup>	(M. Raposo, De Morais, and Bernardo de Morais 2013; Coast Southwest™ n.d.)
	Proteins	Chlorella sp	Skin moisture; excellent emulsifying properties; anti-photoaging.	-	Ariede <i>et al.</i> , 2017; Sathasivam, Radhakrishnan,

					Hashem, & Abd_Allah, 2019; Ursu <i>et al.</i> , 2014
Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA)					
	Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA)	Nannochloropsis oceanica. Phaeodactylum tricornutum Chlorella vulgaris	Anti-photoaging effect; cell regeneration and skin health assistance;	GENIUS Liquid Collagen™	(Huang <i>et al.</i> 2018; Jeong <i>et al.</i> 2017; Sathasivam <i>et al.</i> 2019; Yang <i>et al.</i> 2017; Algenist ® n.d.)
	Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA)	Nannochloropsis oceanica		Algenist®Skincare (San Francisco)	(H. Kim <i>et al</i> . 2019; Algenist ® n.d.)
	Arachidonic acid (ARA)/ omega-6	Porphyridium cruentum	Cell regeneration and skin health assistance.		(Barkia, Saari, and Manning 2019; Huang <i>et al.</i> 2018; Algenist ® n.d.)
Carotenoi	ids				
	Violaxanthin	Nannochloropsis oceanica	Anti-photoaging agent	-	H. Kim <i>et al.</i> , 2019
	Fucoxanthin	Phaeodactylum tricornutum	Effective radical scavenger with higher antioxidant properties; skin photoage and wrinkle formation prevention	_	J. Peng, Yuan, Wu, & Wang, 2011 (S. M. Kim <i>et al</i> . 2012; Borowitzka 2013)
	Astaxanthin	<i>Haematococcus</i> <i>pluvialis, Chlorella</i> sp. <i>Chlorococcum</i> sp. and <i>Scenedesmus</i> sp	Ultraviolet radiation protection; strong antioxidant	Astaxanthin Collagen All-in-One Gel, DHC	(Bhalamurugan, Valerie, and Mark 2018; Panis and Carreon 2016; M. F. de J. Raposo, Morais,

					and Morais 2013; "DHC: Astaxanthin Collagen All-in-One Gel" n.d.)	
	Lycopene	Dunaliella salina, Haematococcus pluvialis	Antioxidant and anti-aging agent by skin roughness decreasing	-	Masaki, 2010; Takaichi, 2011	
	β-Carotene (pro-vitamin A)	Dunaliella salina	Antioxidant; epithelial cell growth and differentiation regulation; roughness and facial wrinkling decreasing; keratinization normalization	AHAVA Skincare	(Lupo 2001; Varela <i>et</i> <i>al</i> . 2015; AHAVA n.d.)	
Vitamins	Vitamins					
	Vitamin E (α-Tocopherol)	Dunaliella tertiolecta, Tetraselmis suecica, Nannochloropsis oculata, Chaetoceros calcitrans and Porphyridium cruentum	Antioxidant and wrinkle reduction effect.	Algenist®Skincare (San Francisco)	(Galasso <i>et al</i> . 2019; Lupo 2001; Algenist ® n.d.)	
	Vitamin C (ascorbic acid)	Skeletonema marinoi	Antioxidant; collagen biosynthesis and deposition stimulation, vitamin E regeneration.	GENIUS Ultimate Anti-Aging Vitamin C+ Serum, Algenist® Skincare (San Francisco)	(Galasso <i>et al.</i> 2019; Lupo 2001; Algenist ® n.d.)	
Microalga	l extracts					
Chlorella vulgaris extract		Collagen synthesis stimulation (anti- aging); supporting tissue	Dermochlorella, Codif, St. Malo, France ;	(de Melo <i>et al.</i> 2019; ELEMIS n.d.; Mourelle, Gómez, and Legido		

	regeneration; wrinkle reduction and wound healing effects. Early skin aging signs repair, tightening effect and stria formation prevention Skin-tightening properties by protecting the cells from oxidative stress and stimulating collagen-l synthesis	Pro-Collagen Marine Cream SPF 30, ELEMIS.	2017; Spolaore <i>et al.</i> 2006)
Arthrospira extract		Protulines, Exsymol S.A.M., Monaco	Spolaore <i>et al</i> ., 2006
Nannochloropsis oculate extract		Pepha®-Tight, Pentapharm (Basel, Switzerland)	(Pentapharm, n.d.; Spolaore <i>et al</i> . 2006)
Dunaliella salina extract	Cell proliferation and turnover stimulation and skin metabolism positively influence	AHAVA Skincare Pepha®Ctive, Pentapharm (Basel, Switzerland)	(Spolaore <i>et al</i> . 2006; AHAVA n.d.)
Phaeodactylum tricornutum lipidic extract	Anti-aging effect by limiting the accumulation of harmful proteins; skin protection from UV exposure adverse effects; skin elasticity and firmness improvement; skin- depigmenting properties	Givaudan, Switzerland	(Ariede <i>et al.</i> 2017; Mourelle, Gómez, and Legido 2017)

Despite the extensive research and development that has been made related with cosmeccutical algae-based products to enhance biological effects on the skin, the complete acknowledgement of its potential is still not well recognized. Most of these studies are present in patents, which do not report details concerning the cause-effect relation that would enable the full cosmetic performance comprehension, by not establishing the biocompounds and mechanisms accountable for the respective biological activity. Furthermore, the singular or combined action of each biological element, as well as their part in the overall algae outcome for the cosmetic products, is not clarified. Therefore, the bioactive compounds and extracts characterization regarding their effect on the skin must be further explored in order to promote an improved development approach for new cosmeceutical products with commercial purposes. Moreover, parameters related to stability, physical-chemical and toxicological research should be considered to evaluate the product potential in a commercial perspective. (Ariede *et al.* 2017)

Beside these bioactive components, microalgae generally contain large amounts of structural biopolymers, including proteins and carbohydrates. These structural biopolymers might possibly display interesting technological functionalities in cosmeceutical products, by showing a potential role as texturizer, stabilizer, or emulsifier (Bernaerts et al. 2019). Rheological properties are one of the most important quality aspects to consider in these products (Gilbert et al. 2013), not only for their physical appearance (e.g. creating a desired texture or preventing phase separation phenomena during storage), but also regarding consumer sensory perception. There is a lack of knowledge on the functionality role of microalgae cell wall related polysaccharides, despite cell wall polysaccharides of many taxonomically related macroalgae are among the common thickening and gelling agents used, such as carrageenans, agars, and alginates. This might be due to the diversity and complexity of molecular structures of the cell wall related polysaccharides, but enhances the possibly use of microalgae as a sustainable source of functional agents (Bernaerts et al. 2019). Moreover, microalgae exopolysaccharides have been recognized for being shelf-life extenders (Levasseur, Perré, and Pozzobon 2020). A natural sulfated polysaccharide compound isolated from *Porphyridium* sp., that acts as a physical barrier, creating a thick protective layer around the cell, also evidenced an active protection against skin photo damaging and aging (Martins et al. 2014). Therefore, a synergetic effect between bioactive and technological properties may be attained (Lupo 2001).

On the other hand, microalgae have been granted with the generally recognized as safe (GRAS) status, which emphasis their use as a cell factory. This GRAS classification is critical since allows to simplify downstream processes, such as purification steps, leading to a more economical appealing production by costs decreasing and higher global efficiency (Fu *et al.* 2016).

- 32 -

#### 1.4. Phaeodactylum tricornutum

The class Bacillariophyceae or diatoms are golden brown unicellular eukaryotes, which color results from the combination of green due to chlorophylls a, c1 and c2 content with brown and yellow pigmentation of the fucoxanthin and  $\beta$ -carotene (Richmond 2004). Diatoms are characterized by a protoplast embedded in a frustule composed of two overlapping thecae: the larger, upper epitheca and the smaller, lower hypotheca. The frustule is composed of three successive layers: (1) diatotepum, which is the inner-most organic layer; (2) a mineral and silicified shell that contains organic matter and (3) an external organic coat designated as cell wall-bound exopolysaccharides (EPSs) (Gügi et al. 2015). Two major diatom groups can be establish according to frustule symmetry: pennate diatoms characterized by a bilateral symmetry; central diatoms with radial symmetry (Richmond 2004; De Tommasi et al. 2018). This class is responsible for about 20-25 % of the global CO<sub>2</sub> fixation (Villanova *et al.* 2017), while provides approximately half of the marine primary food sources (Yi et al. 2019). Their essential role in marine ecosystems is enhanced, accounting for the production of a large portion of the oceans total energy, as well as for global silicon (Yi et al. 2015) and carbon cycle (Armbrust 2009). Diatoms complex evolutionary history based on the union between heterotrophic host and photosynthetic red alga may explain the distinctive range of attributes found (Armbrust 2009). In fact, resulting from a secondary endosymbiotic event, diatoms display a complex combination of genes and metabolic pathways acquired from endosymbiotic events and horizontal transfer with bacteria and viruses. This chimeric metabolism is believed to be an essential component of the great evolutionary success and the high biotechnological potential of these microalgae species. Their potential industrial applications rely on the use of silica for nanostructures, food and production of triacylglycerols (TAGs) for biofuel under low-input conditions. Given their metabolic flexibility, different growth systems can be induced in microalgae and diatoms in particular (Villanova *et al.* 2017).

*Phaeodactylum tricornutum* is a marine pennate raphid diatom, on which interest has been increasing over the years. This is due to its high growth rates and known ability to thrive in large-scale production facilities, enabling the obtention of bioactive compounds such as carotenoids, phytosterols, vitamins, and antioxidants, as well as different biotechnological applications (Quelhas *et al.* 2019; Zhao *et al.* 2015). In general, this diatom shows good tolerance to growth at 9-30 % of salinity and temperatures between 15 and 25 °C (Sigaud and Aidar 1993; García *et al.* 2005), with temperatures above 28°C leading to a drop in proteins and PUFAs concentration, due to metabolic stress (Bitaubé Pérez, Caro Pina, and Pérez Rodríguez 2008). Literature report that *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* under photoautotrophic regime contains around 34.8-39.6 % of crude protein, 16.8-26.1 % available carbohydrate and 16.1-

18.2 % lipid, on a dry weight (DW) basis (Barkia, Saari, and Manning 2019; S. M. Kim *et al.* 2012; Tibbetts, Milley, and Lall 2015).

Furthermore, *P. tricornutum* is the first pennate diatom for which its genome has been sequenced being currently used as a model organism (Le Costaouëc et al. 2017; Quelhas et al. 2019), despite the unique and atypical pleiomorphy of this species that highlights its great adaptation ability (Ovide et al. 2018; Martin-Jézéquel and Tesson 2012). In fact, it has four convertible morphotypes: oval, fusiform, triradiate and cruciform, with the last one only being more recently discovered. All have similar cellular ultrastructure except for cell wall and vacuolar organization (He, Han, and Yu 2014; Tesson, Gaillard, and Martin-Jézéquel 2009; Ovide et al. 2018; Zhao et al. 2015), such that all three morphotypes (oval, fusiform and triradiate) possess silicified structures on epitheca. However, unlike typical diatoms, the cell wall is essentially composed of organic compounds and poorly silicified, despite also presenting a threelayered based structure (Martin-Jézéquel and Tesson 2012; Song, Lye, and Parker 2020). This may be advantageous for biotechnological purposes when compared to other diatoms rigid cell walls regarding intracellular product recovery (Song, Lye, and Parker 2020). Moreover, a sulfated glucuronomannan was described as the prominent polysaccharide in *P. tricornutum* cell wall. It comprises a backbone of  $\alpha$ -1,3linked mannose residues with side chains of mannose and glucuronic acid (Bernaerts et al. 2019), which may enhance its potential to attain value-added products for different application areas, such as nutraceuticals, therapeutic agents and cosmetics (M. Raposo, De Morais, and Bernardo de Morais 2013; Le Costaouëc et al. 2017). The oval cells are the only form capable to synthesize a silicified valve (frustule) with pores and displaying an identical morphology as raphid pennate diatoms with central raphes (Martin-Jézéquel and Tesson 2012; Bernaerts et al. 2019; Tesson, Gaillard, and Martin-Jézéquel 2009). Ultrastructural organization of the different diatom cells is represented in Figure 1.

Numerous researchers have tried to understand the cause-effect relation behind this species polymorphism (Tesson, Gaillard, and Martin-Jézéquel 2009). A correlation between the environmental factors change and the morphogenesis phenomenon has been suggested. Data report that different shapes of *P. tricornutum* are more prevalent under different culture conditions. Oval cells are enhanced under stressed conditions (e.g. nutrient limitation, hyposaline conditions, low temperature, low light, unshaken liquid culture and solid substrate), converting to fusiform or triradiate cells under favorable conditions, while the fusiform morphotype accounts for the most widespread phenotype (Tesson, Gaillard, and Martin-Jézéquel 2009; Zhao *et al.* 2015; Ovide *et al.* 2018). In fact, different morphotypes provide more favorable acclimation processes under different environments, with oval cells allowing a better sedimentation and surface adhesion (Yi *et al.* 2019; Song, Lye, and Parker 2020). Despite these
observations, limited information is available about conditions manipulation to attain each cell morphotype of *P. tricornutum* (Song, Lye, and Parker 2020).



**Figure 1** – *Phaeodactylum tricornutum's* morphotypes ultrastructural organization. (A) Triradiate cell by transmission electron microscopy (TEM); (B) oval cell in transversal section in the raphe area (r) by TEM; (C) oval cell with silicified valve by scanning electron micrograph; (D) and (E): fusiform cell in longitudinal and transversal sections, respectively; (F) Cruciform under light microscopy. c: chloroplast; ep: epivalve; hyp: hypovalve; m: mitochondria; n: nucleus; pl: plastid; pyr: pyrenoid; ra: raphe; v: vacuole. Adapted from Ovide *et al.* (2018); De Martino *et al.* (2011); Martin-Jézéquel and Tesson (2012).

## 1.4.1. Main applications: cosmeceutical potential

*Phaeodactylum tricornutum* is widely known for its interesting lipid profile with significant amounts of PUFA, in particular eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), while assembles a rich source of fucoxanthin up to at least ten times more abundant than in macroalgae (S. M. Kim *et al.* 2012; Song, Lye, and Parker 2020).

Fucoxanthin has been found to have several health-conducive effects, including antioxidant, antiinflammatory, anticancer and antiobesity activities (McClure *et al.* 2018; S. M. Kim *et al.* 2012). Since most of these studies rely on fucoxanthin derived from macroalgae, little is known about beneficial effects of fucoxanthin obtained from *P. tricornutum*, although this microalga was shown to comprise 16.5 to 26.1 mg fucoxanthin per gram dry matter. A study evidenced the antioxidant and antiproliferative *in vitro* ability of the carotenoid fucoxanthin extracted from this diatom, enhancing its role against oxidative stress, which could be potentially interesting for the cosmeceutical industry. This may be related to its location in the thylakoids of chloroplasts, as well as its natural occurrence as a light harvesting complex with

chlorophyll a/c (Neumann *et al.* 2019). In fact, carotenoids protect chlorophyll from the effects of excess light exposure, by scavenging ROS such as singlet oxygen molecules and free radicals (Sathasivam and Ki 2018).

It has been recognized that over exposure to UV radiation from sunlight leading to the generation of ROS, inflammatory reaction, and angiogenesis of the skin may be the primary causative agent in the damage of cellular constituents and some cutaneous disease such as pigmentation, laxity, wrinkling, and erythema. Several results show that topical treatment with fucoxanthin prevented skin photoaging and wrinkle formation in UV-B irradiated mice, possibly through its antioxidant and antiangiogenic effects. These studies suggest the possible effective use of fucoxanthin in cosmetics formulations as UV protect ingredient (Peng *et al.* 2011). Therefore, rational biotechnological approaches should be developed in order to make fucoxanthin production in diatoms feasible, while further encourage its full potential exploration.

Moreover, as it has been previously underline, microalgae structural biopolymers such as proteins, storage polysaccharides, and cell wall related polysaccharides might possibly alter the rheological properties of the enriched cosmetic product (Bernaerts *et al.* 2019). Environmental conditions have shown to influence the monosaccharide composition of *P. tricornutum* cell wall polysaccharides, thus affecting their respective structure (Gügi *et al.* 2015). Therefore, the effects of culture conditions on microalgae composition must be considered, since different techno-functional properties may be observed (Gügi *et al.* 2015; Bernaerts *et al.* 2019).

#### 1.5. Microalgae cultivation strategy and requirements

The major elements of microalgae biomass are carbon (30 %–50 % DW), oxygen (30 %–50 % DW), hydrogen (3 %–7 % DW), nitrogen (4 %–9 % DW), phosphorus (1 %–3 % DW) and minor amounts of other elements such as sulfur, potassium, magnesium and calcium. These components should be present in culture medium to allow culture's performance maximization (Acién *et al.* 2017). In a broad way, microalgae biomass growth mainly depends on a carbon source and light suitable supply, in order to carry out photosynthesis. However, their ability to respond to environmental stimuli by internal adjustments like biochemical and physiological acclimation has been largely explored. Moreover, they are externally capable of excrete a diversity of compounds to amongst others, render nutrients available or limit competitor's growth (Mata, Martins, and Caetano 2010; Richmond 2004). Therefore, when considering microalgae cultivation there are several conditions that must not be overlooked, since they may have a great impact on its growth kinetics. This include abiotic factors such as temperature, pH,

salinity, light, nutrient concentration, O<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub> and toxic components, as well as biotic factors such as pathogens (bacteria, fungi, viruses) and competition by other algae. Moreover, operational factors such as shear produced by mixing, dilution rate, depth, harvest frequency, self-shading due to high cell density and addition of bicarbonate must also be consider (Mata, Martins, and Caetano 2010; Barkia, Saari, and Manning 2019). In this manner, establishing microalgae biochemical composition presents of greater importance in order to address the valorization of the high-value compounds produced and enhance the economic feasibility of the cultivation process, while promoting the main goal fulfillment (Branco-Vieira *et al.* 2018; Richmond 2004). To satisfy these requirements at a laboratory-scale is relatively easy although costly, but to carry it out at large-scale is more challenging, especially because it must consider the global cost of the process (Acién *et al.* 2017).

Microalgae species are mainly cultured under photoautotrophic conditions, although some species are capable to indulge different growth regimes and metabolic shift as an outcome of the environmental conditions' modification (Mata, Martins, and Caetano 2010; Acién *et al.* 2017). Such that can use organic carbon and oxygen to growth heterotrophically (Cerón-García *et al.* 2013). Mixotrophic can be broadly defined as a cultivation system in which CO<sub>2</sub> and organic carbon are simultaneously assimilated, combining energy sources and resulting in both respiratory and photosynthetic metabolism operating concurrently (Richmond 2004; Cerón-García *et al.* 2013). These potential allows to attain higher biomass yields, while maintaining a high content of valuable products (Cerón-García *et al.* 2013). Advantages and disadvantages of each cultivation system can be found in Table 2.

	Advantages	Disadvantages	References	
	- 0 - 1	<ul> <li>Cellular self-shading;</li> </ul>		
Photoautotrophic growth	<ul> <li>Carbon emissions to atmosphere reduction;</li> <li>Potable water and arable land not required;</li> <li>Suitable for almost all microalgae species;</li> <li>Valuable compounds production.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Low maximum biomass concentration attainable;</li> <li>Decreased harvesting efficiency;</li> <li>Limited productivity</li> <li>Cost-ineffective system.</li> </ul>	(Bart, Palmeri, and Cavallaro 2010; García <i>et al.</i> 2005; Cerón García <i>et al.</i> 2006; Richmond 2004)	
Heterotrophic growth	<ul> <li>Higher cell densities;</li> <li>Light not required;</li> <li>Easier to control;</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Limited number of available</li> </ul>	(Perez-Garcia and Bashan 2015; García <i>et al.</i> 2000)	

Fable 2 – Main advantages an	d disadvantages of each	cultivation system used for	or microalgae growth.
------------------------------	-------------------------	-----------------------------	-----------------------

	<ul> <li>Easier scaling-up process;</li> <li>Biomass harvesting cost effective.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>heterotrophic algal species;</li> <li>Increased potential of bacterial contamination;</li> <li>Growth inhibition by low concentrations of organic substrates;</li> <li>Photosynthesis- related compounds production reduction or inability.</li> </ul>	
Mixotrophic growth	<ul> <li>Low light intensities requirement, resulting in energy costs reduction;</li> <li>Simultaneously synthesis of compounds characteristic from heterotrophic and photosynthetic metabolisms;</li> <li>Higher productivities;</li> <li>Higher growth rates than either heterotrophic or photoautotrophic regimes;</li> <li>Prolonged exponential growth phase;</li> <li>Reduction or stopping of photo-inhibitory effect;</li> <li>Protection from photo- oxidative damage stimulated by accumulating oxygen in enclosed photo- bioreactors;</li> <li>Reduction of lost biomass from respiration during dark hours;</li> <li>Land surface and refrigeration reduction.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Dual limiting process;</li> <li>Increasing costs by adding an organic substrate;</li> <li>Increased potential of bacterial contamination;</li> <li>Limited number of available mixotrophically algal species.</li> </ul>	(Cerón García <i>et al.</i> 2006; García <i>et al.</i> 2000; García <i>et al.</i> 2005; Perez-Garcia and Bashan 2015)

Although mixotrophy presents as a promising alternative for enhancing the productivity of many interesting compounds, its potential must be analyzed regarding the product of interest. Optimal balance between heterotrophic and photoautotrophic stimuli should be addressed considering the specific culture

application (Cerón-García et al. 2013). For instance, at high cell density, light becomes limiting leading to photoautotrophic growth rate decreasing. Under this condition, both protein and chlorophyll contents are much lower than those of the autotrophic cultures (García et al. 2000). Several studies have reported the ability of *P. tricornutum* to growth mixotrophically in the presence of different organic substrates, namely, glycerol, glucose, fructose and mannose (Cerón-García et al. 2013; Villanova et al. 2017). Organic nutrient selection for potential use in commercial scale should rely on an inexpensive and easy to sterilize carbon source, while allows to enhance microalgae growth and desired bioproducts synthesis (Cerón García et al. 2006). Glycerol has been recognized as the preferable choice for promoting mixotrophic growth by this microalgae (Cerón García et al. 2006; Cerón-García et al. 2013), with significant impact on *P. tricornutum* biochemical profile, namely at fatty acid profile and content (Cerón-García et al. 2013). It acts like an osmoticum i.e. a substance capable of raising the solution osmotic strength and, consequently, keeping cells osmotic equilibrium. This may be related to its use as preferable substrate for the majority of species that naturally occur in habitats with elevated osmolarity, such as seawater and saline pounds. Glycerol is considered an economical carbon source for energy and carbon supply and requirements, with almost no toxic effects even at high concentrations (Perez-Garcia et al. 2011). Furthermore, since glycerol is a major by-product of biodiesel industry, its use as substrate could provide a more integrating by-product valorization and sustainable microalgae production (Choi and Yu 2015; Poddar, Sen, and Martin 2018).

The most suitable proportion of phototrophy/heterotrophy to be used must consider its influence on growth kinetics and biochemical profile. Since exclusively heterotrophic growth is not possible for *P. tricornutum*, this parameter selection becomes of greater importance to establish the minimum amount of light needed to maintain growth, while fulfilling the correct amount of organic nutrients. It is widely known that high substrate initial concentrations may negatively affect cell growth. A commonly strategy applied to overcome this limitation is fed-batch feeding, which relies on gradually adding the organic nutrient and only when the biomass concentration is sufficiently high to indulge culture photolimitation. This must be carefully planned as part of the process design, defining the addition frequency and dose in order to guarantee that the organic nutrient is consumed and does not accumulate (Cerón-García *et al.* 2013). However, mixotrophic growth consequences under *P. tricornutum* biochemical profile is not well recognized, with a limited number of studies focusing on pigments and lipid fractions variation (García *et al.* 2005; Cheirsilp and Torpee 2012; Cerón-García *et al.* 2013; Cerón García *et al.* 2006).

It has been established that culture conditions have a direct impact on microalgae cell composition, which can be optimized using a multistage cultivation strategy, providing the achievement of specific biotechnological goals. This concept allows ensuring maximum biomass production, as well as maximum induction and accumulation of the desired products, by their occurrence in separate phases through a two-stage process. In fact, the culture exposure to stressful environmental conditions may result in overall biomass productivity reduction and introduce potential instability of the culture, which often accounts for contamination and culture collapse (Richmond 2004). Commonly stress strategies include nutrient depletion – in particular nitrogen and phosphate –, unfavorable temperature, high light intensity and/or high salinity (X.-M. Sun *et al.* 2018; Poddar, Sen, and Martin 2018). Therefore, biomass concentration is increased prior to the stress stimuli (Yap *et al.* 2016).

Culture media formulation aims to supply nutrients in excess to ensure that they do not become the rate-limiting factor. However, for specific applications, nutrients are purposely supplied in limiting concentrations. Nitrogen, after carbon, is the most important nutrient responsible for biomass production. Typical responses to nitrogen limitation include cells discoloration through the decrease in chlorophylls and an increase in carotenoid content, as well as accumulation of organic carbon compounds such as polysaccharides and PUFAs (Richmond 2004). Moreover, several studies have reported the possibility to control cell metabolism to yield a high content of energy-rich compounds (B. Fernandes et al. 2013). Diatoms allocate organic carbon into two primary energy storage compounds: carbohydrates, specifically  $\beta$ -1,3 glucans also known as chrysolaminarin; and lipids, as neutral lipid TAGs (Caballero *et al.* 2016; Jensen et al. 2019). Chrysolaminarin is a glucose-based water soluble polysaccharide which accumulates in the vacuole (Chauton et al. 2013; Obata, Fernie, and Nunes-Nesi 2013) and may present potential biotechnological applications, since it has been demonstrated to have antioxidant activity, as well as antitumor effects (Gao et al. 2017). This polymer accumulation in P. tricornutum cells can be induced by nutrient replete conditions (Chauton et al. 2013; Obata, Fernie, and Nunes-Nesi 2013), as well as by high CO<sub>2</sub> concentration (Jensen et al. 2019). On the other hand, lipid accumulation in diatoms mainly occurs as oil bodies in the cytoplasm and, less usual, in the chloroplasts (Jensen et al. 2019). Lipid content can be enhanced by nitrogen or phosphate limitation, high salt or iron concentrations or growth under heterotrophic/mixotrophic culture conditions (B. Fernandes et al. 2013).

Despite the knowledge that glycerol addition enhances overall lipid production (Cerón-García *et al.* 2013), as well as increases carbohydrates storage (Villanova *et al.* 2017), no study was found regarding the combination of mixotrophic growth and nutrient stress for this species. Moreover, glycerol

presence results in higher mannitol and trehalose storage, which upon glycerol addition may also represent a response to an increased osmotic pressure (Villanova *et al.* 2017).

#### 1.6.Adaptive laboratory evolution using UV mutagenesis

Adaptive laboratory evolution (ALE) is an increasingly popular biotechnological tool for developing and improving desirable traits of industrial microorganisms regarding their robustness to unfavorable conditions, such as unusual carbon source, hostile environment, and chemical inhibitors, as well as understanding biological phenomena (Sandberg *et al.* 2019; Su *et al.* 2018). ALE process comprises prolonged iterative cultivation under artificially specified stress, which application has been recognized by its simplicity and effectiveness (Su *et al.* 2018; Winkler and Kao 2014). It takes advantage of the microorganisms great ability to rapidly adapt to changing environments, which occur by random genomic mutations and subsequent positive selection towards best performance (X.-M. Sun *et al.* 2018). Therefore, this approach is based on two main assumptions: intrinsic spontaneous and random mutations in cells occurrence; defined selective pressure preserves mutants with improved adaptability to the given environment. This outcomes in microbial population direction evolution to desirable phenotypes over time and consequently relies on the evolutionary engineering field (Sandberg *et al.* 2019; Su *et al.* 2018).

Physical or chemical mutagenesis can be used to induce a higher frequency of mutation than the natural rate of a particular organism (Fu *et al.* 2016). Mutagens stimuli have been successfully applied for improving microalgae strain performance or enhancing carotenoids production. These include physical mutagens such as UV light and gamma and X-rays radiations, as well as chemical mutagens such as EMS (ethyl methanesulfonate) and NTG (N-methyl-N'-nitro-N-nitrosoguanidine) (Fu *et al.* 2016; Yi *et al.* 2015).

ALE has been extensively employed with *Escherichia coli* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for strain improvement over the last 25 years, whereas its application with non-conventional hosts like microalgae is recently emerging. Considering that environmental stimuli are decisive factors for microalgae biochemical composition, ALE suits the purpose for developing algal strains resistant to growth stresses and with improved production performance. In addition, when compared to other strain improvement strategies, that is, genetic engineering, ALE does not require a priori genetic knowledge, allowing to better understand molecular mechanisms by identifying the mutations underlying the improved phenotype (Su *et al.* 2018).

Three alternative methods of ALE have been identified, namely, batch cultivation in parallel serial cultures, colony transfer and chemostat cultures, as evidenced in Figure 2. In batch cultivation,

- 41 -

microorganisms undergo successive propagation in shake flasks, with an aliquot of culture being periodically transferred to fresh medium at regular intervals (X.-M. Sun *et al.* 2018; Su *et al.* 2018). An identical strategy is applied for colony transfer, where an aliquot of the culture is transferred to a new culture dish (X.-M. Sun *et al.* 2018). Both these methods are advantageous for their cheap equipment and easy setup. However, batch variations in nutrient supply, environmental conditions, population density, and growth rate are the main shortcomings. This is overcome by the stable equilibrium achieved through the continuous addition of medium and simultaneous removal of culture broth, where a tight control of nutrient supply and environmental conditions is possible. Furthermore, growth rates and population densities changes can be experimentally controlled by culture rate dilution modulation. Although chemostat culture requires complex procedures leading to an enhanced operation cost, which is much higher than the serial batch cultures, it provides more genetic diversity. Moreover, continuous selection may result in shorter ALE periods, reducing the overall project cost (Su *et al.* 2018; X.-M. Sun *et al.* 2018).

When considering ALE experiments, several key elements must be taken into consideration: selection pressure driving the evolution (X.-M. Sun et al. 2018; Su et al. 2018), passage size (X.-M. Sun et al. 2018), cultivation period and achievable performance improvement (Dragosits and Mattanovich 2013). In practice, the stress stimuli depend on the experiment purpose or the desired microorganism feature, while their levels need to suit the selection required, that is, growth inhibition of undesired variants and avoiding whole population death. When microalgal population approaches to adaptation to the designed stress, represented by population majority in mutants with high fitness, growth rate further improvement becomes lower. Therefore, ALE should proceed by changing or enhancing the stress (Su et al. 2018). Passage size determines how much of the population is used to propagate to each subsequent batch culture and may have a significant impact on ALE success. It has been previously recognized that small population passage can result in the beneficial mutation loss, leading to a ceased or slowed evaluation rate. Alternatively, higher volumes could be used in order to decrease the possibility of this loss, but an increase in the resources required to sustain would be observed (X.-M. Sun et al. 2018). Therefore, an adjustment should be fulfilled to address an economical and time feasible strategy. In addition, in serial batch cultures, the transfer usually occurs before the stationary phase is reached, to avoid stationary phase adaptation, while comprises the higher growth rate phase. In continuous cultures, since growth rate is kept constant (or under certain experimental setups stepwise) by a major growth nutrient limitation, cells selected under growth limiting conditions can show growth trade-offs in nonlimiting conditions and vice versa. Regarding ALE experiment duration it has been established a period

- 42 -

between a few weeks up to a few months, comprising 100 to 2000 generations. During ALE, several phenotypes will firstly occur and compete for dominance, with factors such as clonal interference, bet hedging, genetic hitchhiking and growth environment variation being responsible for a significant population heterogeneity. In this manner, it cannot be assumed that a homogenous population is present during any point of the experiment. It must be taken in consideration that the best phenotype is not necessarily the one with the highest fitness for a specific condition, but the one with increased performance and lowest trade-offs in other environmental conditions (Dragosits and Mattanovich 2013).

A) Batch cultivation in serial











**Figure 2** – Adaptive laboratory evolution (ALE) can be performed in the laboratory using three broad approaches. (A) Sequential serial passages at regular intervals in shake flasks with liquid medium, where nutrients will not be limited, and certain growth parameters can heavily vary. (B) Colony transfer is similar to serial transfer but is performed on plates with solid medium. (C) A chemostat comprises a culture vessel in which the population grows under continuous agitation and aeration, where cell density and

environmental conditions can be kept constant. Fresh medium is added into the vessel at a defined rate and culture broth is harvested continuously during the process. Adapted from X.-M. Sun *et al.* (2018); Dragosits and Mattanovich (2013).

ALE has been applied under different approaches aiming to: growth rate optimization, increasing tolerance, alternative substrate utilization, increasing product yield and general discovery (Sandberg *et al.* 2019). For the specific case of microalgae, the most common stress factors used for improving their performance include nutrient, environmental, oxidative and natural selection stresses (X.-M. Sun *et al.* 2018). Only one study was found for *Phaeodacty/um tricornutum*, by which it was used the combination of 25 % blue light-emitting diode (LED) light and 75 % red LED light as selection pressure, under semicontinuous cultivation for 60 days (11 cycles). The results showed that ALE is an efficient method to promote both carotenoids accumulation and growth rate in this microalgae species, since the final fucoxanthin content and final growth rate were approximately two-fold higher (Yi *et al.* 2015). This study also suggests the combined use of UV mutagenesis and ALE to achieve a promising and effective strategy for the accumulation of value-added carotenoids.

UV light has been recognized as a potent genotoxic stimulus that induces deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) damage, promotes mutations and can even be associated with cancer in animals. UV light can be generally divided into three categories based on its spectrum: UVA (from 320 to 400 nm), UVB (from 290 to 320 nm), and UVC (<290 nm). UV induced random mutagenesis advantage relates to not being classified as a genetically modified method, since in many countries, as the ones in EU, genetically modified organisms (GMOs) may encounter regulatory hurdles (Yi *et al.* 2015). Furthermore, it can be employed without clear genetic information from microalgae species and, when compared to chemical mutagenesis methods, UV mutagenesis can be flexibly more controlled to avoid secondary contamination. Previous studies have shown UV mutagen success on microalgae species, with EPA accumulation increasing in the diatom *P. tricornutum* (Fu *et al.* 2016).

Moreover, since UV light exposure has been established as an extrinsic aging factor (Ariede *et al.* 2017), it becomes understandable the importance to further explore this treatment effect on microalgae species. In fact, microalgae adaptability mechanisms may lead to the production of relevant compounds with cosmeceutical interesting properties. Some features may include superior antioxidant properties and radical scavaging activity, which allows an enhanced protection against UV-induced cellular damage (Pangestuti, Siahaan, and Kim 2018; Thiyagarasaiyar *et al.* 2020). In this manner, the lake of knowledge about the ALE effects on diatoms, allied with the UV stimuli potential as photo-oxidative stress, emphasis the need to underline this novel approach.

## 1.7. Microalgae extraction process: ohmic heating focus

Production of value-added products from microalgae biomass requires the growth and recovery of the algae biomass, extraction and downstream processing of the desired products (Abdel Ghaly 2015). The extraction process aims to improve compounds of interest separation from the matrix, in order to be further analyzed and employed (Grosso *et al.* 2015). Microalgae potential and exploitation is limited and dependent on the extraction techniques applied, since these can induce a negative influence in their bioactive compounds (Kadam, Tiwari, and O'Donnell 2013; Bleakley and Hayes 2017). The considerable interest in this sustainable natural resource for adding value to extracted biofunctional compounds is increasing. Thus the search for alternative extraction strategies aiming at high yields and recovery of bioactive compounds with its interesting activity preservation is enhanced (Wijesinghe and Jeon 2012). On the other hand, the final product cost displays as a critical aspect of the process viability, with an economical perspective needed in all its stages in order to achieve a competitive commercial alternative. With the extraction phase accounting for a major expensive concern, its analyses and optimization procedure should be exalted (Kempkes 2016). Therefore, the choice of the most adequate method presents of crucial importance to the final product quality, which should exceed costumer's demands as simultaneously enhance the offer of an economically appealing process.

Traditional methods include solvent solid-liquid extraction (SLE) that is frequently coupled with heat and/or agitation in order to increase the solute's solubility and mass transfer rate. SLE is based on the extraction of soluble components from a solid or semisolid matrix using suitable solvents. It involves five sequential steps: solvent penetration into the natural matrix; compounds solubilization; solute transport out of the natural matrix; migration of the extracted solute from the external surface of the natural matrix into the bulk solution; extract separation and discharge of the natural matrix (Grosso *et al.* 2015).

Several important factors must be taken into account when performing SLE: polarity and thermolability of the compounds of interest, solvent features (toxicity, volatility, polarity, viscosity and purity), artifacts' formation and the amount of biomass to be extracted (Grosso *et al.* 2015). Therefore, regarding the solvent selection, besides extraction yield, it should be easy to recover, with a viscosity sufficiently low to ensure high mass transfer efficiency and a melting temperature below ambient to guarantee ease of handling. In addition, it is also important that the solvent is thermally and chemically

stable to be easily recycled, while it is readily available at a reasonable cost and provides a minimal environmental impact of the whole extraction procedure (Ryckebosch *et al.* 2014).

The study and potential industrial applications of algae active components may be limited due to the cell wall firmness which may be responsible for strongly reducing the extraction efficiency during classical extraction methods application (Wijesinghe and Jeon 2012). Therefore, a pre-treatment is often performed, aiming for cell disruption and higher extract recovery yields, which include mechanical (bead milling and ultrasound), thermal (steam explosion, autoclaving and freeze-drying), electromagnetic radiation (microwave) and biological (enzymatic) treatments (Abdel Ghaly 2015).

SLE technique has some limiting aspects that decrease its global performance. In fact, it is highly dependent on the target's solute solubility and polarity to choose the correct solvents, which are mainly organic compounds and can interfere, by molecular affinity, with the solute properties (Rocha et al. 2018). On the other hand, traditional water or organic solvent extractions can be consider as time-consuming and energy intensive processes, as well as economic expensive, with lower or inaccurate selectivity. It is also often the requirement of high solvent amounts, leading to the formation of massive residues content. Considering the growing environmental preservation and protection problematics, as well as the increasing interest in modernize conventional processes to greener and safer approaches, the development of solvent-free methodologies becomes of greater significance (Chemat et al. 2015; Kadam, Tiwari, and O'Donnell 2013; Rocha et al. 2018). The green extraction definition is based on the discovery and design of processes that will allow to minimize energy consumption, which employ alternative solvents and renewable natural sources, assuring a safety handling and a high quality of the final product (Chemat, Vian, and Cravotto 2012). In this context, the search field has boosted to achieve an alternative ecological friendly extraction, aiming at fulfilling the green extraction definition requirements. Therefore, this operation strategy will decrease the system's energy and chemicals consumption, waste production and operating time, while promotes a superior overall yield and selectivity of the extract (Rocha et al. 2018; Kadam, Tiwari, and O'Donnell 2013).

Several techniques have been studied as potential alternative technologies, namely microwave, ultrasound and enzyme assisted extraction, supercritical fluid extraction, extrusion, subcritical water extraction, instant controlled pressure drop, electro-technologies, among others (Rocha *et al.* 2018; Chemat *et al.* 2015; R. N. Pereira and Vicente 2010). Solvent free extraction methods offer a multiplicity of advantages, since allows the manipulation simplification and downstream processes reduction, while a higher product purity outcome and energy consumption decrease is achievable (Chemat *et al.* 2015).

The several advantages, disadvantages and reviewed applications of each technique are more detailed described in Appendix 1.

The novel and emergent extraction and bioprocess methodologies focusing in biocompounds or fractions valorization based in electro-technologies presents itself as a particularly appealing strategy. This approach, which is based on electric current application in biomaterials, provides an interesting bioprocess assistant due to its versatile character, easy scale-up, short time procedure, membrane electroporation induction and energetic efficiency (Bleakley and Hayes 2017; Rocha *et al.* 2018). It can be classified taking into consideration different parameters, including electric flow type, electric field strength, pulses application based or not and heat deposition extension. The application of an external electric field (EF) can result in electroporation by membrane electropermeabilization, being induce when the formation of a transmembrane potential overcomes a value between 0.2 and 1 V. It is important to note that the EF intensity, exposure time and medium composition are determining factors to the permeabilization type, concerning to its degree and temporary or permanent nature (Rocha *et al.* 2018).

As previously reported, EF can be divided into pulsed and non-pulsed electro-technologies. While pulsed methodology uses electric pulses, usually of high intensity voltage (from 1 to 50 kV cm<sup>-1</sup>) and shorter periods of time (1-20 µs), non-pulsed techniques are based in a continuous electric current flow system for a significant period of time (Rocha *et al.* 2018; Kempkes 2016). Their variation regarding the treatment mode and deliver electrical current mechanism leads to several appealing extraction electro-technologies (Poojary *et al.* 2016), as described in Table 3.

When EF is applied to a biological system to promote or assist its biocompounds extraction it leads to heat dissipation, due to the system's semi-conductivity (Rocha *et al.* 2018). This effect is frequently referred to as Ohmic Heating (OH), also called Joule heating, electrical resistance heating or electroconductive heating, which can be defined as the internal generation of heat in a material, phenomenon consequence of its ability to resist to the electrical current passage (R. N. Pereira and Vicente 2010; Sastry 2008; Varghese *et al.* 2014). An innovative and potential extraction strategy is based on ohmic heating by moderate electric fields (MEF), since its use has been reported as an advantageously approach by offering a high-quality product with minimal chemical interference. Having in consideration the increasing demand for process implementation and development towards an improved sustainability, efficiency and environmental performance, the gathering of these methodologies can enhance their individual potential and therefore present as a promising alternative (Rocha *et al.* 2018; Sastry 2008). In fact, in order to preserve and enhance the algae bioactivity potential, the non-pulsed methodology presents of further interest, since the resulting cellular damage is expected to be lower, based on the

# *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biorefinery: A sustainable approach to valorize microalgae biomass towards biomolecules recovery

lesser current flow intensity applied. On the other hand, despite pulsed electric fields (PEF) remains the most referred technology in the literature for extraction purposes, the use of MEF with the corresponding OH is gaining attention for bioresources valorization. This relates to the less demanding operational conditions and easier technology implementation, when compared with the more challenging high energy pulsed technologies (Rocha *et al.* 2018).

**Table 3 –** Main electro-technologies and its applications previously reported. Adapted from Sastry (2008);Rocha *et al.* (2018).

Electric fields	Electro-technologies	Main applications	
		Non-thermal inactivation of microbial cells.	
	Pulsed Flectric Fields (PFF)	Electroporation of cell membranes.	
Pulsed		Thermal labile biocompounds extraction.	
		Softening tissues and peeling.	
	Pulsed Ohmic Heating (POH)	Biocompounds thermal extraction.	
	High Voltage Electric Discharges (HVED)	Biocompounds extraction.	
Non-pulsed	Non-Pulsed Ohmic Heating (OH)	Biocompounds thermal extraction.	
		Non-thermal inactivation of microbial cells.	
	Moderate Electric Fields (MEF)	Eukaryotic cells permeabilization.	
		Improvement of biocompounds extraction.	

MEFs are based on the application of low to medium electric fields (commonly between 1 and 1000 V), using a defined wave shape which is mainly sinusoidal or square, with or without heating, to biomaterials placed between two electrodes (Poojary *et al.* 2016; Rocha *et al.* 2018). OH presents as a side effect of moderate electric fields application on a semi-conductive material, seen as an internal thermal energy generation technology (Rocha *et al.* 2018; Sastry 2008; Knirsch *et al.* 2010). Although OH leads to heat production, it may present mild non-thermal cellular damage, due to the presence of the electric field. Moreover, it induces permeabilization, which allows cells' walls to develop charges and form pores (Kaur and Singh 2016; Sastry 2008; Knirsch *et al.* 2010). Furthermore, OH can promote at

least reversible electroporation which has been reported to improve extraction efficiency, mainly due to assist in intracellular compounds diffusion (Poojary *et al.* 2016).

In this manner, OH technology is easily accomplished as long as the conditions leading to significant heat deposition are assured: medium with enough conductivity and proper exposure time. OH use appeal relies on the less demanding operational conditions and associated heating features and control systems, when compared to a more challenging high energy pulsed application. Its promising future can be establish by offering an easier and economic feasible implementation and scale-up (Rocha *et al.* 2018). In addition, the joule effect fundamental of OH allows a heating process not dependent of heat transfer mechanisms, leading to an uniform and extremely fast heating (Knirsch *et al.* 2010; R. N. Pereira and Vicente 2010; Kaur and Singh 2016; Rocha *et al.* 2018). Moreover, a precise temperature control is suitable for this method, offering, as consequence, a mild process capable of preserve the biosystem nutritional, functional and structural properties, with low maintenance costs and heat losses, resulting in high energy conversion efficiencies (R. N. Pereira and Vicente 2010; Kaur and Singh 2016; Rocha *et al.* 2018).

As a final mark, it is possible to enhance the OH technology as a potential strategy to achieve a more environmentally-friendly extraction system, while simultaneously preserving the algae bioactive potential compounds. This can be assembled as a determining aspect to microalgae exploration with enhanced quality production (R. N. Pereira and Vicente 2010; Rocha *et al.* 2018).

## 1.8. Algae biorefinery

The biorefinery concept presents of remarkable global acceptance and interest as a sustainable biomass processing into a large spectrum of desirable products and energy. It offers a facility capable of combining the biomass conversion with equipment to produce a wide range of bio-based compounds, biofuels, chemicals and valued added products (Chemat, Vian, and Cravotto 2012; Cherubini 2010). This approach relies in the use of several technologies to take advantage of the biomass fractioning into their main building blocks in order to improve each component value while generating its own power. This allows to maximize profitability and enhances the environment preservation (Cherubini 2010; Safi *et al.* 2014). Therefore, the main bottleneck of a biorefinery approach is the separation of different fractions without compromising their potential and further exploration. This can be overcome through the use of simple, low energy consumption, cost effective and scalable extraction and separation processes (Chew *et al.* 2017).

The biorefinery approach development and application should follow an integrative perspective to minimize non-renewable energy resources consumption and negative environmental impacts, while maximize a complete and efficient biomass conversion, and, thereby, offering a better advantageous strategy implementation. An important requirement that biorefinery system should fulfill is the renewable-based, consistent and regular supply of feedstock, term applied for the raw materials use. There are four different sectors that can provide renewable carbon-based raw materials: agriculture, forestry, industries and households and aquaculture (algae species) (Cherubini 2010).

In this manner, it is understandable that algae-based biorefinery concept has as fundamental basis a more efficient algae potential exploration through its fractionation. This results in different products, whose properties and bioactivities should be preserved, while promoting a higher sustainable methodology. In order to achieve this environmental and economic sustainability and viability conduct, an optimization procedure regarding the process inputs is required (Ibañez and Cifuentes 2013). Upstream processing (USP) and downstream processing (DSP) are the main stages of microalgae biorefineries. USP is related to cultivation growth phase, while DSP regards with extraction and purification methods to obtain valuable compounds (Chew *et al.* 2017).

Therefore, algae biorefinery presents of further importance and focus for the research community due to its expected additional environmental benefits insurance by allowing a synergetic coproduction of bioenergy and high value compounds (Cherubini 2010; De Bhowmick, Sarmah, and Sen 2019). A shift towards a multiple product parallel synthesis sustained by a biorefinery model has been reported, replacing the traditional single-centric product strategy. However, despite the evidence of several studies concerning algae biorefinery are available, this ecological and integrative approach is limited applied, being enhanced as a possible research opportunity (De Bhowmick, Sarmah, and Sen 2019; Chemat, Vian, and Cravotto 2012).

# 2. AIMS

The expanding consumers' interest on the implementation and development of bioactive formulations for cosmeceuticals obtained by natural sources, addressing a more sustainable and ecological product strategy conception results in an interesting market opportunity. Thereby, algae species are promising as a valuable source of structurally diverse biologically and technologically active compounds and present themselves as a potential anti-aging and skin degradation solution. One important factor to consider is the greener extraction methods applied in order to follow the increasing environmental preservation concern, while a higher yield and product quality is also envisaged. With OH assisted extraction as a promising strategy, the study of its implications in microalgae biocompounds becomes of greater importance, appearing as a crucial part of this scientific work.

Hence, this thesis work has as fundamental purpose to enhance the microalgae potential exploration, by ultimately providing important information for the formulation of an algae-based cosmeceutical anti-aging product with topical application. A more ecofriendly approach offered by OH will be used, possibly allowing the decrease of solvent consumption and downstream procedures requirements and thereby enhancing product viability by global cost reduction. Furthermore, a higher selectivity and energetic efficiency of the process may be attained. Seeking a more sustainable approach, microalgae extraction will be adressed to combine the health promoting effects possibly found with the potential structuring benefits acquired. For uniformity purposes, two designations will be hereby applied: bioactivity will be considered any direct health promoting effect, while functionality will be used when reporting to technological/supportive functions.

This thesis work arises as a follow-up of the results attained under the internship period, which aimed to explore microalgae potential as a source of novel, natural-based and sustainable antioxidant agents. Briefly, three microalgae species (*Chlorella vulgaris, Nannochloropsis oceanica* and *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*) were cultivated in Allmicroalgae facilities and submitted to different extraction solvent systems. *P. tricornutum* standed out for the highest antioxidant power. In this manner, several specific goals were sequentially fulfilled:

- 1) *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* cultivation aiming to achieve two different main fractions:
  - a. UV exposure as adaptive laboratory evolution tool to enhance bioactive activity;
  - b. mixotrophic growth followed by nitrogen limitation for functional properties.

- 2) Extraction tuning considering different solvents (water and ethanol), solvent ratio and different extraction technologies (OH and concentional heating) to attain at least two different extracts from *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biomass, with bioactive and supportive functions.
- 3) Extracts characterization regarding their functionality properties.
- 4) *In vitro* characterization of the bioactive extracts obtained through their antioxidant activity and effect on normal and cancer cell lines.

# **3. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

# 3.1. Biomass material

## 3.1.1. *P. tricornutum* growth for enhanced rich fractions

## 3.1.1.1. Microalgae and culture medium

*Phaeodactylum tricornutum* strain used in the present work was obtained from AlgaFarm (Pataias, Portugal) culture collection. A concentrated culture medium (Sameca, Porto, Portugal) based on Guillard's f/2 medium (Guillard 1975) was used in all trials, with nitrates' final concentration adjusted to 10 mM. It was further supplemented with iron chelated with EDDHSA (25  $\mu$ M), as well as with sodium silicate (0.06 mM). Moreover, magnesium water and NaCl were added to achieve a final 30 g L<sup>4</sup> salinity. All cultures were sparged continuously with air at flow rate of 3.9 L min<sup>4</sup>, through sterilized pipes to assure culture constant aeration, using a 0.2  $\mu$ m Midisart® 2000 PTFE air filter to sterilize the incoming air. The same filters were placed at the air outlet. Culture pH was maintained at 8.0 throughout a negative feedback response mediated by 0.33 % CO<sub>2</sub> supply into the aeration system. White light was continuously provided by fluorescence lamps (100  $\mu$ mol photons m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) at 24 °C, with the distance between the photons source and the reactors being kept constant to assure similar light intensity conditions over the experiment. For the specific case of mixotrophic growth, glycerol was added to a final concentration of 10 mM.

## 3.1.1.2. Growth conditions

## 3.1.1.2.1. Adaptive laboratory evolution and UV exposure

The UV-C exposure was selected as the mutagenic agent. The germicidal tubular UV lamp used was Philips TUV T8 and the UV Output power was 30 Watts with a peak wavelength of 253.7 nm. 250 mL of *P. tricornutum* culture in exponential growth phase were placed in a 500 mL Erlenmeyer flask under constant magnetic agitation. The cultures were then directly exposed to the UV-C lamp at a distance of 20.0 cm for 10 min. Cultures after UV radiation were immediately kept at dark conditions overnight to prevent photo reactivation, at the same conditions as before. It was further used for culture renovation for a final volume of 1 L in 1 L glass bottles fitted with a bubbling aeration system.

Seed cultures for ALE were original wild type and taken under exponential growth phase. Before ALE cycle initiation, strains were cultivated under identical assay conditions in order to get preliminary adaptation and achieve desired cell density. ALE was applied with a three-day cycle by a semi-continuous

culture system. The initial biomass at beginning of each cycle was set at approximately 0.4 g L<sup>1</sup>. The initial and final optical density at 750 nm was measured for each cycle.

Biomass collection was performed for the cultures submitted to one and three UV-C stimuli. A Fiberlite<sup>™</sup> F14-6x250LE Fixed Angle Rotor centrifuge (Thermo Scientific<sup>™</sup>, USA) was used until the total biomass required was attained.

#### 3.1.1.2.2. Mixotrophic cultivation

Two cultures were grown in 2 L round glass flasks under fed-batch mode. The organic carbon source was sterilized by filtration through 0.45 µm FilterBio® PES syringe filter and added to the culture medium to achieve an initial concentration of 10 mM. The fed-batch system was carried out with successive additions of glycerol, when approximately 5 mM had been reached. Biomass collection was performed for one of the cultures arbitrarily selected during the exponential phase. When stationary growth phase was achieved, glycerol addition was stopped, and biomass was collected.

Glycerol concentration was determined as previously reported by Bondioli & Della Bella (2005). 1.6 M acetic acid stock solution, 4.0 M ammonium acetate stock solution, 0.2 M acetylacetone solution and 10 mM sodium periodate solution were prepared. Glycerol standards in ethanolic 50 % (v v<sup>-1</sup>) solvent were prepared to attain a range of 1.0 mM to 0.125 mM. Glycerol quantification was performed by adding and mixing 1.2 mL of a 10 mM sodium periodate solution to 2 mL of each standard solution or sample, followed by the addition of 1.2 mL of a 0.2 M acetylacetone solution. After 1 min of incubation at 70 °C under agitation in a water bath, each standard solution or sample was immediately cooled in water to room temperature and 200 µL were used to measure absorbance at 410 nm by microplate spectrophotometry.

#### 3.1.1.3. Biomass calibration curve

In order to establish the relationship between optical density (OD) and cell dry weight, a calibration curve was required. Different concentration solutions were achieved by a serial dilution process, with deionized water as diluent. 200 µL of each standard was pipetted in triplicate into a microplate well and measured at 750 nm. DW determination was performed by filtration. A 47 mm glass fiber filter (Frisenette, Denmark, Cat. No. GA.047) was dried overnight in a T6 Heraeus drying oven (Thermo Electron Corporation, USA) at 105 °C and weighed (AE200 analytical balance, Mettler Toledo, USA); this procedure was performed in triplicate. 10 mL of sample were filtered for each replicate, with a subsequent wash made by using an equal volume of 35 g L<sup>1</sup> ammonium formate. The washed sample was finally dried overnight at 105 °C and weighed. A blank test was performed by using 10 mL of water,

followed by a wash with ammonium formate solution, in triplicate. The standard curve achieved is represented in Appendix 2.1 and was used to determine biomass concentration (g L<sup>1</sup>) along time.

#### 3.1.1.4. Growth evaluation

Microalgae cultures were sampled for cell density determination through OD at 750 nm (Griffiths *et al.* 2011; Sandnes *et al.* 2005; Lu *et al.* 2017). Cultures were diluted as required to achieve an OD value below 1.0 in order to fall within the linear range of the measurement (Griffiths *et al.* 2011).

Cultures were monitored by microscopic observation (Axio Scope.A1, ZEISS, Germany) to confirm cell integrity, regarding several parameters: bacterial presence, cell division occurrence, cell agglomerations, cell morphology and contamination degree.

#### 3.1.1.5. Nitrate determination

Nitrate determination was performed when required as described by Armstrong (1963), using a standard curve as presented in Appendix 2.2. 1 mL of aliquots collected aseptically were centrifuged (EBA 20 centrifuge, Hettich®, Germany) at 10000 rpm for 10 min for total cell deposition. 9.575 mL of deionized water, 300 µL of hydrochloric acid 1 M and 125 µL of supernatant were measured, allowing a dilution of 1:80. After homogenization by vortex, OD values at 220 and 275 nm were measured. The difference between the OD at 220 nm and twice that at 275 nm gave the nitrate concentration. The results were expressed in mM.

#### 3.1.2. P. tricornutum commercial biomass

*P. tricornutum* commercial gently spray dried powder (L201980035, AlgaFarm, Portugal) and *P. tricornutum* commercial frozen paste (Lot. 201985190, AlgaFarm, Portugal), hereby designated as powder and paste respectively, were used for different extraction purposes. It is important to consider the possible microalgae composition variability due to seasonality, what can mislead the conclusions taken. To mitigate this risk and attending its lot-dependence relation, all the microalgae assays performed will be made by using the same lots.

#### 3.2. P. tricornutum extraction

#### 3.2.1. Growth conditions impact on extracts fractions

The biomass paste collected in section 3.1.1.2.1. was submitted to two sequential solvent-based extractions at 40 °C, using 4 % solid solvent for a final volume of 5 mL. Briefly, ethanol 50 % was added

# *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biorefinery: A sustainable approach to valorize microalgae biomass towards biomolecules recovery

to 1 g microalgae paste, followed by vortex mix until total homogenization, in triplicate. The extraction was carried out under horizontal agitation (170 rpm) and darkness conditions in a shaking water bath (SW22, JULABO GmbH, Germany). The extracts obtained were submitted to centrifugation (EBA 20 centrifuge, Hettich®, Germany) for 15 min at 10000 rpm. The supernatant was passed through a 0.45 μm Midisart® 2000 PTFE filter and adjust to 5mL, being stored at -4°C for further analysis. The remain biomass paste was re-extracted with 5 mL of ethanol 96 %, following the procedure previously described.

An identical methodology was performed for the biomass paste collected in section 3.1.1.2.2., being submitted to three sequential solvent-based extractions at 40 °C: water, ethanol 25 % and finally to ethanol 50 %. The 4 % solid solvent was kept constant.

## 3.2.2. Preliminary assays: solvent based extractions

To gather information regarding cosmeceutical potential application of *P. tricornutum* extracts, two different rich-fractions were aimed: one accountable for the health promoting effects and another for its supportive role. Different extraction conditions were performed accordingly, as summarize in Table 4. Bioactive compounds are expected to be extracted using ethanol 96 % (as they are mainly related with carotenoids, lipids and phenolic compounds), while more aqueous solutions are applied aiming to achieve molecules of higher molecular weight such as proteins and carbohydrates. To establish if the two processing biomass methods have any significant bioactive impact, both commercial biomasses were initially tested using 45 °C and 30 min as extraction method. Extraction conditions impact were further acknowledged for the matrix with the best bioactive performance. For functionality purposes, only commercial powder was used.

**Table 4** – Conditions for the extraction of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* exposed to two different pretreatments, using several solvents, temperatures and extraction times.

Extract	Biomass	Solvent	Solid solvent	Tomporatura	Extraction
purpose	pretreatment	Solven	ratio	Temperature	Time
	Gently spray-	Water		40 °C, 60 °C	
Functionality	dried	Ethanol 25 %	2 % DW	and 80 °C	1 h
Bioactivity	Frozen paste	Ethanol 96 %	4 % DW	45 °C and	15 min and
				65 °C	30 min

Briefly, for each extraction, 5 mL of the tested solvent or mixture were added to *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biomass, followed by vortex mix until total homogenization. The extraction was carried out under horizontal agitation (170 rpm) and darkness conditions in a shaking water bath (SW22, JULABO GmbH, Germany). The extracts obtained were submitted to centrifugation for 10 min at 6000 rpm, with supernatant being adjusted to 5mL and stored at -20 °C for further analysis. For the specific case of bioactive extracts, the supernatant was also passed through by a 0.45  $\mu$ m FilterBio® disposable syringe filter.

3.2.3. Ohmic heating

## 3.2.3.1. Ohmic heating equipment

Extractions were performed in a cylindrical glass reactor, double-walled water-jacketed (1 cm of inner diameter and 10.5 cm of total length) with two inox electrodes at each edge kept 5 cm apart. A Teflon cap was used to properly cover the reactor and to prevent solvent and temperature loss. The design of reactor is described in Figure 3.



**Figure 3** – Bench-scale batch ohmic heater and data acquisition system used for ohmic heating treatments.

The supplied voltage was adjusted when required to control the temperature, with the power source settled at a sinusoidal wave at 25 kHz (Protek 9205A, 0.03 Hz-3 MHz and Voltage Controlled Generator, Portugal). Temperature evolution was measured with a type-K thermocouple (± 1 °C, Omega, 709, U.S.A.), placed at the geometric center of the extractor's volume used. Temperature monitorization

was performed through a data logger (National Instruments, USB-9161, USA) working with Lab View 7 Express software (National Instruments, NI Data logger). A portable oscilloscope (ScopeMeter 125/S, Fluke, WA, USA) was used to measure nominal electric field parameters, namely, electrical frequency, voltage, and current intensity.

### 3.2.3.2. Conventional and ohmic heating extraction conditions

*P. tricornutum* commercial powder was used to achieve functional extracts. The extractions were performed distilled water and 25 % ethanol as solvents, in the reactor of 250 mL (previously described), with 2 % solids for a final volume of 100 mL, for 1 h. Two temperatures were selected: 40 °C and 80 °C.

For bioactive extracts, *P. tricornutum* commercial paste was used. Extractions were performed using 96 % ethanol in the reactor described above at 4 % solid solvent for a final volume of 100 mL. Extractions occurred over 15 min at 65 °C.

Conventional thermal experiments (0 V cm<sup>-1</sup>) were carried on as negative control of the electrical effects. A thermostatic circulator water bath (1110 FrigoMix, B. Braun, Germany) was used as reactor temperature controller. Temperature profiles observed through sample heating phase, in both conventional and ohmic treatments, must be identical in order to assess the nonthermal effects of ohmic heating. A magnetic stirrer (size 2.0 cm) was used to promote solution homogenization, while improving heat transfer. Initial extracts conductivity was measured using a conductivity meter (HCO 304, VWR<sup>™</sup>, USA) at room temperature.

The extracts obtained were submitted to centrifugation for 15 min at 7000 g (Fiberlite<sup>TM</sup> F14-6x250LE Fixed Angle Rotor, Thermo Scientific<sup>TM</sup>, USA). Afterwards, while functional extracts were stored at -20 °C for further analysis, 96 % ethanolic extracts were passed through 0.45  $\mu$ m FilterBio® PES syringe filter and dried under nitrogen gas stream.

#### 3.2.3.3. Extracts purification

Functional extracts were purified based in a precipitation method, by adding cold ethanol (-20 °C) to a final concentration of 80 % (v v<sup>-1</sup>) (Xu *et al.* 2014). This purification step aimed to enhance protein and carbohydrate content (Bernaerts *et al.* 2019) and removing presence of salts. Precipitation was carried out for 2 h at -20 °C. Afterwards, the samples were centrifuged at 14000 *g* for 20 min at 4 °C. The pellet was left overnight drying at 40 °C (SI4-2-R Shaking Incubator, Sheldon, USA) and weighted for purification yield determination.

## 3.3. Biomass and extracts characterization

The previous work completed under the internship period was further explored through *P. tricornutum* potential analysis. When required, a blank assay was performed based on each extract diluted with the respective solvent, in order to disregard pigment color-related interferences. At least two replicates were performed for each sample.

## 3.3.1. Moisture and ash content

Moisture content in microalgae biomass and in each extract were determined according to the convection oven method published by National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) Laboratory Analytical Procedures (LAP). Briefly, 100 mg of biomass (AE200 analytical balance, Mettler Toledo, USA) or a known extract volume were placed into crucibles and dried overnight using a T6 Heraeus drying oven (Thermo Electron Corporation, USA) at 105 °C. The crucibles were cooled to room temperature in a desiccant chamber and weighed (Laurens *et al.* 2012; Sluiter, Hames, Hyman, *et al.* 2008). The difference in weight before and after drying was expressed as a percentage, representing the biomass moisture content (Bernaerts, Gheysen, *et al.* 2018). For extracts, the difference in weight was multiplied by the conversion factor to achieve total extract weight.

Ash determination was performed by placement of approximately 100 mg of biomass in a muffle furnace (ECF 12/6, Lenton, UK) operating for 24 h at 575 °C. The crucibles were further cooled to room temperature in a desiccant chamber and weighed (Sluiter, Hames, Ruiz, *et al.* 2008a).

# 3.3.2. Lipid content

Biomass lipid content was determined according to Bligh and Dyer (1959) with some modifications and improved with ultrasound-assisted extraction, based on higher extraction yields attained by Araujo *et al.* (2013). For this, 2 mL of chloroform/methanol (2/1, v v<sup>-1</sup>) was added to 50 mg of *P. tricornutum* powder, followed by 2 min vortex homogenization (Vortex 2, IKA, Germany) and incubation at 30°C (PURA 10 water bath, JULABO GmbH, Germany) for 25 min. After, the mixture was centrifuged (EBA 20 centrifuge, Hettich®, Germany) at 2000 rpm for 10 min to allow the organic phase collection to a pre-weighed glass tube, while biomass residue was re-extracted with 1mL solvent until the solvent had no color. All resulting organic phases were pooled together, and the total lipid content was determined gravimetrically after evaporation of organic solvent using a nitrogen atmosphere. For microalgae extracts, 1 mL of extract was dried under a nitrogen atmosphere.

Afterwards, lipid quantification was carried out by re-dissolving the dried lipidic residue (of biomass and extracts) in 3 mL chloroform/methanol (2/1, v v<sup>1</sup>), vortexed and sonicated (24 °C, 3 min). 0.75 mL milli-Q water were added, and the mixture was vortexed during 2 min, followed by phase separation by centrifugation (EBA 20 centrifuge, Hettich®, Germany) at 2000 rpm for 10 min. The organic phase was collected to a new pre-weighed tube and dried under a nitrogen stream and weighted. The lipid content in the extracts was calculated using Equation 1.

Total lipid content (% DW, w/w) =  $\frac{\text{lipidic extract weight (g)}}{\text{biomass or total extract weight (g)}} \times 100$  Equation 1

#### 3.3.3. Protein content

In order to establish the relationship between protein colorimetric methods, such as Bradford and Lowry, and another method, namely Kjedahl, three different extractions were performed at 40 °C using water, ethanol 50 % and ethanol 96 % (Appendix 3). Briefly, the tested solvent or mixture (200 mL) was added to 8 g of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* commercial spray dried powder followed by vortex mix until total homogenization, in duplicate. Each extraction was carried out under horizontal agitation (150 rpm) and darkness conditions in a shaking water bath (SW22, JULABO GmbH, Germany) over 1 h. The extracts obtained were submitted to centrifugation for 20 min at 4000 rpm (Fiberlite™ F14-6x250LE Fixed Angle Rotor, Thermo Scientific™, USA), the supernatant was passed through an 8 µm Whatman™ filter paper (Maidstone, UK) and the final volume was adjusted to 200 mL. 2 mL were used for dry weight determination and 1.5 mL was stored at -4 °C for further analysis.

## 3.3.3.1. Bradford and Lowry assays

Protein content determination was performed by Bradford (1976) and Lowry *et al.* (1951) methods optimized for microplate analyses. A bovine serum albumin (BSA) 10 % (100 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> distilled water) solution was used as standard. Calibration curves were established using different BSA standard solutions between a range of 1250 to 62 µg mL<sup>-1</sup>. Different solvents were screened, namely distilled water, 10 % and 50 % (v v<sup>-1</sup>) ethanol and a 30 g L<sup>-1</sup> solution (Appendix 2.3). Moreover, catequin influence on both methods was assessed by testing a known BSA standard solution with different catequin concentrations within a range of 0 to 180 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>, aiming at analyzing the possible phenolic compounds interference with both methods (Appendix 2.4).

For Bradford analyses, 20 µL of extract or standard was added to each well plate with 200 µL of Bradford solution. After 30 min incubation in the dark, at room temperature, the plate was read at 595 nm (Synergy™HT, BioTek®, USA) after 10 s of shaking. Lowry method was performed by adding 20 µL of

extract or standard to each well plate with 200  $\mu$ L of Lowry solution and 20  $\mu$ L of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent. After 4 h incubation in the dark, at 42 °C and 180 rpm, the plate was read at 750 nm after 10 s of shaking. Results were expressed as BSA equivalents per 100 g of extract or biomass.

#### 3.3.3.2. Kjeldahl method

For protein content determination by the Kjeldahl method, approximately 500 mg of biomass or dry extract were transferred to glass containers. Total nitrogen content was determined after acid digestion using a digestor<sup>™</sup> 2508 autorack (FOSS Tecator Line, Denmark), followed by Kjeltec<sup>™</sup> 8400 analyser (FOSS, Denmark). Protein content was estimated from total nitrogen content, multiplied by an overall conversion factor of 4.89, which is specific for the microalgae species studied (Lourenço *et al.* 2004).

### 3.3.4. Carbohydrate content

Determination of structural carbohydrates and acid insoluble residue in biomass was performed according to Sluiter *et al.* (2012). Briefly, 300 mg of *P. tricornutum* powder was subjected to a two-set acid hydrolysis: i) 72 % sulfuric acid at 30 °C for 1 h, under manual stirring followed by ii) dilution to 4 % sulfuric acid for 1 h at 121 °C in the autoclave. Acid insoluble residue was gravimetrically determined after vacuum filtration (Gooch crucibles porosity grade 3) and dried overnight at 105 °C. The remaining autoclaved hydrolysis solution was filtered (0.22 µm FilterBio®) and analysed by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC).

For extracts, the oligosaccharide analysis was based on a quantitative posthydrolysis (121 °C, 20 min, 4 % H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>), which followed the method published by NREL (Sluiter, Hames, Ruiz, *et al.* 2008b). Autoclaved extracts were filtered through 0.22 µm membranes (FilterBio® PES syringe filter) and analyzed by HPLC. The conditions used in the HPLC analysis were as follows: Refractive Index (RI) detector, Aminex HPX-87H column at 60 °C with a mobile phase of 0.005 M sulfuric acid at a flow rate of 0.6 mL min<sup>-1</sup>. A standard curve comprising arabinose fucose, galactose, galacturonic acid, glucose and mannitol was used (0.2 to 1.0 g L<sup>-1</sup>).

Phenol-sulfuric acid (PSA) method (Masuko *et al.* 2005) was also performed for total carbohydrates determination, which was optimized for this specific matrix. Aqueous and 10 % ethanolic solutions of known glucose concentration were used to establish calibration curve within a range of 0.025 to 1 mg mL<sup>1</sup>. Briefly, 600  $\mu$ L of acid sulfuric (>95 %) and 120  $\mu$ L of a 5 % phenol solution were added to 200  $\mu$ L of each sample or standard solution. After, the mixture was placed in boiling water

(100 °C) for 45 min and the absorbance was read at 490 nm after 10 s of shaking. Carbohydrate content was expressed as glucose equivalents per 100 g of extract or biomass.

#### 3.3.5. Photosynthetic pigment analyses

Photosynthetic pigment determination was performed based on microplate spectrophotometry analysis (Synergy™HT, BioTek®, USA) with 200 µL in each well plate, in triplicate. A scan spectrum from 230 to 700 nm, with a resolution of 10 nm, was digitally recorded. Furthermore, specific equations were used to quantify chlorophyll and carotenoids content for ethanolic extracts, after spectrophotometric measurements (V-560 UV/Vis Spectrophotometer, Jasco, UK) at wavelength of 470, 649 and 664 nm (Amin *et al.* 2018; Sumanta *et al.* 2014). Results were expressed in mg g<sup>-1</sup> DE.

[Chlorophyll a] = 13.36 x OD664 – 5.19 x OD649	Equation 2
[Chlorophyll b] = 27.43 x OD 649 – 8.12 x OD 664	Equation 3
$[Total carotenoid] = \frac{1000 \times 0D470 - 2.13[chla] - 97.63[chlb]}{209}$	Equation 4

## 3.3.6. Total phenolic content determination

The total phenolic content (TPC) was quantified by the Folin–Ciocalteau method optimized for 96- well plates by Teixeira-Guedes *et al.* (2019). Gallic acid was used as the reference standard compound, with the results being expressed as gallic acid equivalents (mg GAE g<sup>1</sup> DE). Standards were prepared to achieve a range of 5 to 250 mg mL<sup>1</sup> gallic acid, with ethanol 50 % as diluent. 20  $\mu$ L of each standard or sample was pipetted into a microplate well. To each well, 100  $\mu$ L of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent, previously diluted (1:10) in deionized water, was added, followed by 80  $\mu$ L of Alkaline Working Solution (Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> 7.5 %). After an incubation period of 30 min, at 42 °C and protected from light, measurement at 750 nm was performed.

#### 3.3.7. Total flavonoid content determination

The total flavonoid content (TFC) was determined by the aluminum chloride colorimetric method as described by Teixeira-Guedes *et al.* (2019). Catechin was used as the reference standard compound, with results being expressed as catechin equivalents (mg CE g<sup>1</sup> DE). Catechin standard solutions were prepared to achieve a range of 10 to 250 mg mL<sup>1</sup>, using ethanol 50 % as diluent. To each of well of 96wells plate, 24  $\mu$ L of the sample or standard were added, followed by 28  $\mu$ L of sodium nitrite (5 %), and 5 min later, 28  $\mu$ L of aluminum chloride (10 %). The mixture was left to react for 6 min and then 120  $\mu$ L

sodium hydroxide (1 M) were added. Every new reagent addition was followed by individual well mixing. Absorbance was read at 510 nm after 30 s shaking.

## 3.4. Functional properties analyses

Functional properties analyses were only performed for the purified extracts. At least two replicates were performed for each sample.

## 3.4.1. Intrinsic fluorescence analyses

Intrinsic fluorescence of extracts solutions was followed by means of soluble tryptophan/tyrosine fluorescence value at excitation wavelength of 286 nm (Moreira *et al.* 2019). Samples were prepared to a final concentration of 1 mg mL<sup>-1</sup> in water, to avoid effects of light scattering, and then assayed in a spectrofluorometer (Aqualog 800, HORIBA, Japan) with a 1.0 cm path length quartz cuvette. Emission spectra were recorded between 300 and 400 nm.

### 3.4.2. SDS-PAGE electrophoresis

Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate–Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) was performed to determine the molecular weight (MW) distribution of proteins as underlined by Laemmli (1970). The purified extracts were dissolved in deionized water at 1 % (m v<sup>-1</sup>). Samples were prepared by mixing 16  $\mu$ L of 1 % purified extract solution with 4  $\mu$ L of buffer (0.313 M Tris-HCI (pH 6.8), 10 % SDS, 50 % of glycerol, 10 % of 2-mercaptoethanol and 0.05 % bromophenol blue), followed by 5 min incubation at 100 °C. 15  $\mu$ L of mixture were loaded into the gel (4 % acrylamide stacking gel and 12 % acrylamide separating gel). The electrophoresis was accomplished at 30 mA using a semi-dry blot apparatus (Bio-Rad) with 500 mL of running buffer (25 mM tris, 192 mM glicin and 0.1 % (w v<sup>-1</sup>) SDS). After separation, the gel was stained with a protein staining reagent (BlueSafe, nytech®). The approximate molecular weights were determined using MW standards ranging from 5 to 250 kDa.

#### 3.4.3. Thermal behavior

The thermal properties of functional samples were assessed through Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) using a PerkinElmer DSC 6000 (Norwalk, CT, USA). Per sample, 3–6 mg was weighed in an aluminum pan (PerkinElmer) and sealed. The temperature program started with a 1 min hold at 0 °C, followed by a temperature ramp with a heating rate of 10 °C min<sup>-1</sup> until 250 °C.

### 3.4.4. Rheological analyses

The rheological tests were performed using a controlled stress rheometer HR-1 (TA Instruments, New Castle, USA) fitted with a parallel plate geometry (40 mm diameter, gap 500  $\mu$ m). The solution was centrifuged and placed onto the plate of the rheometer, with liquid paraffin oil being used to prevent water loss. In order to accurately determine the liquid–gel transition behavior, a temperature ramp from 20 to 90 °C at the rate of 1 °C min<sup>4</sup> was applied. The samples were equilibrated for 10 min at 90 °C, followed by frequency sweep tests in the frequency range of 0.1–100 Hz. The samples were cooled from 90 to 20 °C with the same rate of 1 °C min<sup>4</sup>. The samples were equilibrated for 10 min at 20 °C before the frequency sweep tests. Storage (G') and viscous (G'') moduli were recorded as a function of temperature at a frequency of 1.0 Hz and 1.0% strain. Preliminary strain sweep tests were made to ensure that the selected strain was within the linear visco-elastic region. The gelling and melting temperature were determined.

#### 3.4.5. Chemical and structure analyses

Functional groups and possible chemical interactions of purified extractd samples were characterized by Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) Spectroscopy using an ALPHA II- Bruker spectrometer (Ettlingen, Germany) with a diamond-composite attenuated total reflectance (ATR) cell. The FTIR spectra were recorded between 400 and 4000 cm<sup>-1</sup>, by acquiring 24 scans cycles per samples with 4 cm<sup>-1</sup> resolution.

#### 3.4.6. Gel permeation chromatography

The molecular weight distribution of polysaccharides was evaluated by HPLC gel permeation chromatography (GPC) on a PolySep-GFC-P Linear column (300 x 7.8 mm, Phenomenex<sup>®</sup>, USA). The purified extracts were dissolved in deionized water at 1 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>. The samples were eluted with ultrapure water, using a flow rate of 0.8 mL min<sup>-1</sup> at 40 °C with RI and UV detection. Linear regression calibration was performed using standard pullulan kit P-82 (Shodex<sup>™</sup>, Japan).

#### 3.4.7. Emulsification activity

Both conventional and ohmic purified extracts were analyzed regarding their emulsification index (EI), using soybean oil as a hydrocarbon (Lovaglio *et al.* 2011; Shimizu, Saito, and Yamauchi 1985). For each extraction condition, 1 % solutions were prepared. 750 µL of soybean oil were added to 750 µL of each sample, following five minutes stirring using a vortex. The mixture was allowed to stand for 15 h. The emulsification index was measure over a 25 days period to approach the emulsifying stability provided by each extraction condition. A cloudy and pale white phase is indicative of emulsion formation

(Yamashita, Miyahara, and Sakamoto 2017). El was calculated by dividing the height of the emulsion layer by the mixture total height and multiplying by 100 (Morales-Jiménez *et al.* 2020; Fontes *et al.* 2010).

## 3.5. Bioactive properties analyses

## 3.5.1. Antioxidant assays

## 3.5.1.1. Ferric reducing antioxidant power assay

The ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) was determined as previously reported (Teixeira-Guedes *et al.* 2019; Benzie and Strain 1996). 300 mM acetate buffer pH 3.6 (prepared with glacial acetic acid), 10 mM TPTZ (2,4,6-tripyridyl-s-triazine) in 40 mM hydrochloric acid and 20 mM ferric acid were prepared. Working FRAP reagent was prepared as required by mixing 25 mL acetate buffer, 2.5 mL TPTZ solution and 2.5 mL ferric chloride (FeCI<sub>3</sub>) solution. 50 % ethanolic solutions of known Fe<sup>2+</sup> concentration were used for calibration using 5mM Trolox ((±)-6-Hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchromane-2-carboxylic acid) as stock solution, in a range of 0.039 mM to 1.250 mM (1.250, 0.9, 0.625, 0.313, 0.156, 0.078, 0.039 mM). 20 µL of sample and 280 µL of FRAP working solution were incubated at room temperature for 1 h, followed by microplate spectrophotometry measure (Synergy<sup>™</sup>HT, BioTek<sup>®</sup>, USA) at 593 nm. Results were expressed in µmol Trolox equivalent per g of biomass (µmol Teq g biomass<sup>1</sup>) or dry extract (µmol trolox eq.g <sup>-1</sup> DE<sup>1</sup>).

# 3.5.1.2. DPPH radical scavenging activity assay

The method used for measuring the 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging ability of the algae extracts was carried out as in Teixeira-Guedes *et al.* (2019). Briefly, 8.87 mM DPPH solution was prepared. Trolox standards in ethanolic 50 % (v v<sup>-1</sup>) solvent were prepared to attain a range of 1.250 mM to 0.039 mM. A 0.5 mL aliquot was used to achieve an absorbance of DPPH near 1.000 at 520 nm. 10 µL of each sample or standard and 190 µL of DPPH were added to each well to complete 200 µL as total volume reaction, followed by incubation at room temperature, protected from light, for 30 minutes and analysis at 520 nm. The absorbances measured at 520 nm were plotted against sample concentration, with lower absorbance values indicating higher radical scavenging potential. A reagent blank test was also performed. % inhibition was calculated as described in Equation 5. Results were expressed in µmol Trolox equivalent per g of biomass (µmol Teq g biomass<sup>1</sup>). Moreover, the sample concentration (mg mL<sup>-1</sup>) required to inhibit 50% of the activity (*IC*<sub>30</sub>) was also determined from a dose response curve using GraphPad software.

% inhibition<sub>sample</sub> =  $\frac{100 \times (OD520_{Blank} - OD520_{Sample})}{OD520_{Blank}}$  Equation 5

## 3.5.1.3. ABTS radical scavenging activity assay

2,2-azinobis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) (ABTS) radical cation decolorization assay for antioxidant activity determination was assessed according to Teixeira-Guedes *et al.* (2019). This assay comprises the direct production of the blue/green ABTS<sup>-</sup> chromophore through the reaction between ABTS and potassium persulfate (CAS: 7727-21-1, Sigma-Aldrich, USA). 6.88 mM ABTS concentrated solution was produced by reacting ABTS solution with potassium persulfate solution, allowing the mixture to stand protected from light at room temperature, for 12-16 h before use. ABTS<sup>-</sup> solution was diluted in acetic acid buffer (20 mM, pH 4.5) to show an absorbance of 0.70±0.02 at 734 nm. Trolox standards in ethanolic 50 % (v v<sup>-1</sup>) solvent were prepared to attain a range of 1.0 mM to 0.039 mM. Extracts antioxidant capacity was assembled by adding 12 µL of each standard solution or sample to 188 µL of ABTS working solution to microplate well and reading at 734 nm, after an incubation period of 30 min., protected from light, at room temperature. All determinations were carried out three times. The percentage of inhibition indicating the ABTS radical scavenging capacity was calculated and plotted as a function of Trolox concentration for the standard reference data, following equation 5. Results were expressed in µmol Trolox equivalent per g of biomass (µmol Teq g biomass<sup>4</sup>). Moreover, IC<sub>60</sub> (mg mL<sup>-1</sup>) was also determined from a dose response curve using GraphPad software.

% inhibition sample = 
$$100 \text{ x} \frac{\text{OD734 ABTS Blank - OD734 sample}}{\text{OD734 ABTS Blank}}$$
 Equation 6

## 3.5.2. Cell Viability

*In vitro* cell metabolic activity of the bioactive extracts was evaluated using different cell lines: normal mouse fibroblast (L929 ATCC® CCL-1), human lung cancer (A549 ATCC® CCL-185), human epithelial adenocarcinoma (Hela ATCC® CCL-2) and human epithelial colorectal adenocarcinoma (Caco-2 ATCC® HTB-37). The metabolic activity of each cell line was assessed by the resazurin reduction assay (Präbst *et al.* 2017). Cells were grown Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1 % penicillin/streptomycin, at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere with 5 % CO<sub>2</sub>. When a 70–80 % of confluence was reached, cells were trypsinized and seeded in a 96-well plate at a density of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells per well. The different cell lines were incubated with supplemented DMEM and the extracts in a concentration ranging from 16 to 2000 µg mL<sup>1</sup> for 24 h. After incubation, cell viability was measured using the resazurin assay (7-Hydroxy-3H-phenoxazin-3-one-10-oxide sodium

# *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biorefinery: A sustainable approach to valorize microalgae biomass towards biomolecules recovery

salt). Supernatant was replaced by 200  $\mu$ L culture media containing resazurin (0.5 mM in Phosphate Buffer Saline), following 2 h incubation at 37 °C. Afterwards, 150  $\mu$ L of supernatant was transferred to a new 96-well microplate and the resorufin pink fluorescent was measured at 560 nm ( $\lambda$ ex) and 590 nm ( $\lambda$ em) by a microplate reader (Cytation 3, BioTek Instruments, Inc., Winooski, VT, USA). The % cell viability was determined by correcting blank values (cell-free medium) and untreated controls (0.5 % dimethyl sulfoxide solution). Half-maximal inhibitory concentration ( $IC_{50}$ ) values were inferred from a dose response curve using GraphPad software.

# 3.6.Statistical analyses

All experimental analyses were carried out at least in duplicate (n=2), and the data were presented as mean value  $\pm$  standard deviation (Mean  $\pm$  SD). The statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 8.3.0 at  $p \le 0.05$ . Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to assemble differences between extracts using the software RStudio.

# 4. **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

This thesis' work follows the results attained under the internship period in AlgaFarm facilities, in which *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* showed a superior antioxidant ability (Appendix 4). The results are presented in line with the primary goals previously established, comprising *P. tricornutum* cultivation aiming to achieve two main fractions with enhanced bioactivity and functionality properties; *P. tricornutum* biomass pretreatment selection and extraction tuning with traditional and OH technologies to attain at least two different extracts, with bioactive and supportive functions.

## 4.1. Adaptive laboratory evolution and UV exposure

In order to evaluate *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* ability to adapt and endure UV exposure, a total of three 10 min-long UV stimuli were applied in a three day cycle period to the culture in exponential phase. An initial adaptation period to culture conditions was performed, in duplicate, in which OD was recorded and converted to biomass concentration using a calibration curve (Appendix 2.1). The data obtained were used to build *P. tricornutum* growth curve, as shown in Figure 4.



**Figure 4** – *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* growth curve in 1 L photobioreactor, for a maximum of 7 days. Results are the average of a duplicated experiment. Cultures were maintained using Guillard's f/2 medium at 24 °C, under continuously white light (100  $\mu$ mol photons m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) and aeration with 0.33% CO<sub>2</sub>.

*P. tricornutum* presents a typical microorganism growth curve behavior, showing three different growth phases: lag, log and stationary. Lag phase relates to culture adaptation to new conditions (i.e. an acclimation process), during which biomass concentration is mostly kept constant. This phase lasted one

day. Cultures showed a 5-day growth period, with stationary phase being reached at day 6. After microalgae growth curve was established, it was possible to determine the respective kinetic parameters, which are summarized in Table 5.

**Table 5** – Kinetic parameters of *P. tricornutum* cultures grown in 1 L reactors under batch conditions. Results are the average of a duplicated experiment, and a measurement of the dispersion of the data is provided by ploting the maximum and minimum values obtained.

	Maximum dry	Volumetric productivity (g L- d-)		Growth rate	Doubling
	weight (g L¹)	Global	Maximum	(day¹)	time (day)
1-L batch culture	1.58±0.09	0.129±0.013	0.251±0.011	0.217±0.006	3.20±0.09

Several studies regarding P. tricornutum cultivation are reported in literature, but to our knowledge none of them report cultivation conditions identical to the ones presented in our work. The closest conditions relate to a study performed in 5-L glass flasks, which evidenced a growth rate of  $0.131 \pm 0.007$  day<sup>1</sup> and a maximum volumetric productivity of 0.086  $\pm 0.006$  g L<sup>1</sup> d<sup>1</sup>. The better growth performance achieved in our study appear to be related to scale disparities, since all the other variables were maintained constant. Several scale-up variables have been reported as important growthdetermining factors, since they may have an impact on photosynthetic activity, biomass productivity, physiological and biochemical composition of microalgae (Zarrinmehr et al. 2020). The main factors comprise mixing type and efficiency, surface-to-volume ratio and light path and attenuation. Generally, algal productivity decreases with the increase of the volume of the bioreactor, which may be related to higher light and nutrient limitation, as well as a more inefficient mixing (Granata 2017). In fact, higher cell densities in a culture lead to a higher light attenuation due to the shading effect (Gupta, Lee, and Choi 2015) and, consequently, to a lower exposure time of the cells to the light regime, which may have a negative impact on cell growth (Granata 2017). Moreover, air lift mixing presents as a cheap and an efficient way to deliver dissolved inorganic carbon to cultures, while keeping cells mixed. However, bubbles may also cause a high attenuation of light and high shear when breaking. In this manner, the interplay between biomass homogenous mixing to optimize light levels, air mixing to enhance inorganic carbon uptake and high surface-to-volume ratio may explain the disparity of the results attained when compared to a higher scale production (Granata 2017).

Regarding UV-treated cultures, several cultivation indicators such as cell morphology, medium pH, salinity and nitrate concentration, were monitored through time, as represented in Table 6.

**Table 6** – Maximum dry weight and maximum volumetric productivities of *P. tricornutum* cultures grown in 1 L reactors under batch conditions and submitted to different ultraviolet radiation stimuli. 1-UVR – After first UV stimulus; 3-UVR – After third UV stimulus.

Phaeodactylum tricornutum culture		Maximum dry weight (g L¹)	Maximum Volumetric productivity (g Lª dª)
1_1 IVP	Control	1.214	0.250
1-077	UV stimulated	1.184	0.261
3-UVR	Control	0.914	0.173
	UV stimulated	0.514	0.039

Generally, the results obtained in this study suggest a decrease in maximum dry weight and volumetric productivity over cultivation time, regardless of UV stimulation. This may be explained based on a higher stress on microalgae culture due to three day period renovation. In this manner, considering the weaker growth performance, a higher adaptation time might be required, enhancing the importance to adjust renovation scheme depending on culture growth evolution. On the other hand, UV treated cultures evidenced a poorer growth performance over time than control. This is in line with the conclusions presented by (Yi et al. 2015), in which a long UV-C exposure appears to induce serious growth suppression on diatoms cells. However, this was only reported for cultures exposed to UV-C radiation for more than 10 min. An explanation for the results obtained may rely on the output power of the lamp used, which was more than two times higher, causing a negative impact on microalgae growth identical to a longer UV-C exposure period. On the other hand, a study by Rech et al. (2005) reported a decrease by about 80 % in *P. tricornutum* growth rate when expose to UV, as well as its inability to acclimate when the highest UV treatment was applied, foreseen by almost a complete growth inhibition. An identical behavior was registered in this study. Therefore, time and intensity of UV-C treatment should be further explored and optimized, in order to understand its impact on *P. tricornutum* cells as a mutagenic agent, while ascertain if it is achievable the endorse of both microalgae growth and potential interesting bioproducts.

As previously underlined, *P. tricornutum* presents different morphologic conformations as a response to environmental conditions variation (Zhao *et al.* 2015; Ovide *et al.* 2018). Despite control being maintained unchanged over time, the same was not reported for the UV stimulated cultures. In fact, a microalgae phenotype change was visible after one treatment with UV-C radiation, with oval cells appearing in microscopic analysis, as evidenced in Figure 5. It has been recognized that oval cells are
enhanced under stressed conditions, while fusiform cells occur when favorable growth conditions are assured, which supports the results obtained (Zhao *et al.* 2015; Ovide *et al.* 2018).



**Figure 5** – Microscopic observation of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* cultures at 60x. (A) Control; (B) Culture after one UV-C treatment of 10 min.

Molecular differences in oval morphology when compared to the other P. tricornutum morphotypes have been identified, such as promotion of triglyceride, nucleotide and glucuronomannan biosynthesis. As far as glucuronomannan overproduction is concerned, one hypothesis may rely in the advantage of a thicker cell wall layer to achieve a more efficient microalgae protection, as well as in the superior ability to repair cell wall damage (Ovide et al. 2018). In fact, glucuronomannan has been previously identified as the major polysaccharide component of *P. tricornutum* cell wall (Bernaerts, Gheysen, et al. 2018; Ovide et al. 2018). Genes encoding key enzymes involved in purines and pyrimidines biosynthesis are also overexpressed in oval cells (Ovide et al. 2018), which in this particular case may be a response to DNA damage caused by UV treatment. In fact, it has been previously reported that UV-C is responsible for direct DNA damage through absorption of photons by DNA bases, resulting in chemical quenching and pyrimidine dimers formation in the sequence (Sydney et al. 2018). Furthermore, the activation of key primary metabolism pathways that has been described in the oval morphotype such as glycolysis, pentose phosphate pathway and triglycerides biosynthesis can be related to a widely common response to stress conditions, namely energy storage through lipid accumulation (Xue et al. 2017; Ovide et al. 2018). In fact, this is identical to what has been described for the fusiform morphotype when analyzing lipid accumulation mechanisms following nitrogen deprivation (Ovide et al. 2018). Altogether, these metabolic adaptations may present as a great advantage to microalgae indulge UV radiation negative impact, allowing a higher cell resistance to sustain harsh growth conditions.

On the other hand, oval cells are characterized for their higher sedimentation rates (Song, Lye, and Parker 2020; Yi *et al.* 2019). This phenomenon was intensified with the increasing UV-C stimuli applied, sustaining the hypothesis of a higher density of this morphotype proportional to stress treatment intensity. However, microscopic analysis through time did not confirm this conclusion, with the fusiform morphotype remaining as the predominant culture phenotype. Thus, the UV-C treatment applied appears to not allow a general acclimation of *P. tricornutum* cells, leading to serious cellular damage and higher death rates that may explain the greater sedimentation level. In fact, Hull *et al.* (2017) reported that DNA repair of microalgae cells occurs within 24 h after UV light treatment, while Kumar *et al.* (2018) evidenced growth rate increasing after 4 days of UV radiation exposure, suggesting an adaptation in the long run. This was not possible to observe in the present study, which may relate to the high intensity of the UV treatment applied.

Further studies should investigate whether UV-C treatment influenced bacterial and fungal growth profile in the culture, since it may have had a negative impact on microalgae growth and acclimation process. Microalgae culture microenvironment has been gaining attention as an important factor of microalgae growth, with recent studies recognizing beneficial effects to it when specific bacteria strains are added to axenic cultures. Although it has not been well established how or if the microbioma interacts with microalgae cells, it is known to be a crucial aspect for the achievement of more robust algal cultures that can better withstand environmental stresses. On the other hand, besides to their more direct ecophysiological role, microbioma may also present as an important tool for environmental conditions adaptation, providing a gene reservoir for horizontal gene transfer (Lian *et al.* 2018). Therefore, a better understanding of the adaptation of both microalgae and microbial symbionts may potentially lead to a better knowledge of UV stimuli outcome on microalgae cultures.

Growth performance decrease observed along the greater amount of UV-C treatments applied go towards cell lysis induction due to UV radiation absorption by DNA, ribonucleic acid (RNA), protein and lipids, which can lead to structural damage and signaling/metabolic disorder. After UV exposure, DNA replication may be flawed if the correct repair does not take place, which may induce transcription and translation mistakes, and, consequently, result in protein synthesis with incorrect sequencing and misfolds. It has been acknowledged that DNA damage can be photorepaired after initial exposure, if the culture is placed back into natural light, through the enzyme cyclobutane pyrimidine dimer photolyase. However, microalgae cultures were left in dark conditions following irradiation stimuli in order to maximize disruption and prevent UV impact mitigation. Additionally, other DNA repair methods such as excision repair and recombination repair may occur, since they can not be prevented through dark storage (Sydney

*et al.* 2018). On the other hand, it has been reported the ability of *P. tricornutum* to withstand UV-A radiation, as well as it higher sensibility to UV-B radiation (Jokiel and York 1984). Altogether, despite high intensity UV radiation appears to have a negative impact on *P. tricornutum* cells' viability, it may be especially interesting for extraction purposes.

Biomass characterization regarding ash and lipidic content was achieved. The percentage of ash in biomass was identical for UV stimulated and non-stimulated cultures, accounting for  $23.96 \pm 0.26$  % of total dry matter. This goes towards the conclusions previously reported by other authors, since medium composition was kept constant for all assays and a directly proportional correlation has been recognized between ash content and culture medium salt concentration (Quelhas *et al.*, 2019). Lipidic content was determined for all paste collected, by which it was possible to acknowledge a lower lipidic biomass content related to a higher UV-stimuli degree, as shown in Figure 6. This does not follow what has been recognized in literature, since stress conditions often lead to microalgae lipid accumulation. However, UV radiation high oxidizing power results in the formation of powerful oxidants, which leads to fatty acids peroxidation and assembles one of the main types of cell damage. Therefore, this outcome could be one of the reasons behind lipid accumulation reduction over UV increasing treatment (Guihéneuf *et al.* 2010).



**Figure 6** – Lipidic content determined on (A) *P. tricornutum* biomass and (B) ethanolic extracts. Cultures were maintained using Guillard's f/2 medium at 24 °C, under continuously white light (100  $\mu$ mol photons m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) and 0.33 % CO<sub>2</sub> aeration. Different letters indicate significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) between microalgae expose to different UV-C treatments within the same extraction solvent used.

Nevertheless, when analyzing extraction lipidic yield, a reverse behavior occurs, with the extractions performed in the culture submitted to three UV stimuli (3-UVR) allowing the recovery of more than 80% of the total lipidic biomass content. Therefore, UV stimuli might have changed P. tricornutum lipidic profile or induced cell wall damage, leading to a superior lipidic content extracted. In fact, a study showed that UV exposure resulted in an increase of PUFA and a reduction of saturated fatty acids in P. tricornutum (Liang, Beardall, and Heraud 2006). However, this effect is not uniformized in the scientific community, with numerous authors often reporting contradictory results regarding UV radiation effect on microalgae lipidic content. Results variability seem to be highly dependent on microalgal species and UV treatment (Guihéneuf et al. 2010). On the other hand, it has been reported that microalgae exposure to UV radiation may considerably affect their structural integrity and general biological function. UV damaging effects on nucleic acid, proteins and lipids has been previously described for microalgae, with alteration of important cell mechanisms such as motility, photo-orientation, cellular differentiation, growth, membrane permeability, productivity, pigmentation, photosynthesis,  $CO_2$  and  $N_2$  fixation, etc (Rastogi *et* al. 2020). Therefore, this study sustains what has been previously highlighted by Sydney et al. (2018), with UV treatment presenting as an useful tool for increasing microalgae lipidic extraction. This may be explained based on lipidic membrane oxidation and degradation which leads to the formation of free fatty acids (Guihéneuf et al. 2010).

Pigment content in all extracts was analyzed by a wavelength sweep, the results of which are presented in Figure 7. Generally, all extracts are characterized by a peak at 665 nm, which has been reported as the most accurate wavelength to determine chlorophyll-a content in ethanolic solvents (Ritchie 2018). On the other hand, the most obvious peak occurred at approximately 440 nm, which profile is different depending on the solvent used, with 96 % ethanolic extracts showing a greater pigment amount, except for 3-UVR cultures. Several studies also assigned the peak absorption of chlorophyll-a at about 440 nm (Fujiki 2002; Agberien and Örmeci 2019; Israsena Na Ayudhya *et al.* 2015). Moreover, it has been established that carotenoid content should be quantified at 470 nm, which peak does not clearly appear. However, diatoms are phylogenetically closer to brown algae than to the green lineage, leading to a different carotenoid profile by which fucoxanthin presents as the most abundant carotenoid. Chlorophyll-a and chlorophyll-c form with fucoxanthin the fucoxanthin-chlorophyll protein complex, which is involved in the light-harvesting mechanism. The visible spectrum scan of *P. tricornutum* total pigments previously presented by Manfellotto *et al.* (2020) highlighted a broad peak centered at 445 nm, identical to the one found for 96 % ethanolic extracts. This absorption peak has contributions from both fucoxanthin and Chl a (Manfellotto *et al.* 2020). The results attained evidence a greater pigment extraction when higher ethanol

percentage is used as solvent, which may be sustained based on both chlorophyll (A. S. Fernandes *et al.* 2017) and carotenoid (Y. Sun *et al.* 2016) hydrophobic nature. These results sustain the conclusions infer through a study underwent with *P. tricornutum* and different solvents for fucoxanthin extraction, where the increasing ethanol percentage in water led to higher fucoxanthin yields (S. M. Kim *et al.* 2012).



Figure 7 – Scan spectrum of the different extracts within 230 and 700 nm, with a resolution of 10 nm.

In addition, it is possible to recognize that the first UV stimulus allowed both extracts to present the higher pigment content, regardless of the ethanolic percentage used. This may be a consequent of UV exposure, since it has been acknowledged both photoprotective and light-harvesting functions to carotenoids. In fact, certain carotenoids accumulate out of thylakoid membrane of the cellular system only after exposure to specific environmental stress like UV radiation to protect cells against oxidative damage. Despite the exact carotenoids role in UV photoprotection remains controversial, they may play a crucial role in photoprotective mechanisms, either directly by quenching chlorophyll triplet states and scavenging ROS or indirectly by thermal dissipation of excess light energy (Rastogi et al. 2020). Moreover, increasing evidence highlights photoreceptors key role in regulation of the dynamic responses of microalgae photosynthetic system, as well as molecular cross-linking between photoreceptors and chloroplast-mediated signaling (Jaubert et al. 2017). It has been also underlined photoreceptors major importance for diatoms photoacclimation (Schellenberger Costa et al. 2013). In this manner, it becomes understandable that one of the first acclimation responses to UV radiation exposure relay on photoreceptors adaptation. A study previously performed by Yi et al. (2015) showed that UV radiation enhanced fucoxanthin accumulation in most selected mutants, despite the decrease of  $\beta$ -carotene and chlorophyll a contents. This may also have occurred, allowing to explain the higher difference observed

at 445 nm when comparing 1-UVR cultures with control samples. In fact, fucoxanthin plays an essential role in managing photo-oxidative stress and could be directly induced with light stress treatment, since its up-regulation might offer a greater protection against photo-damaging effects. Therefore, further studies should consider analyze fucoxanthin content in order to access if the UV-C treatment leads to its enhancement (Yi *et al.* 2015).

Despite the first UV-C treatment resulted in higher pigment content extracted, 3-UVR cultures showed a significant lower amount. This may be related to the viability loss caused by the long exposure to UV radiation. It is known that *P. tricornutum* does not contain UV radiation absorbing compounds such as mycosporine-like amino acids (MAAs), which might not have decreased the negative UV radiaton impact (Halac, García-Mendoza, and Banaszak 2009). Hence, UV stimulation appears to entail higher pigment content after only one UV treatment, but UV exposure in the long-term resulted in serious cell damage. Thus, in order to establish if the total pigments content reduction after the third UV treatment is related to the loss of viable cells, it should be quantified in the respective biomass.

A PCA was performed to establish extracts different composition based on solvent extraction used and number of UV-C stimuli applied (Figure 8). The first two principal components (PC1 and PC2) accounted for 97.3 % of the total variance, with 87.3 % and 10 %, respectively.



Biplot (axes PC1 and PC2: 97.3%)

**Figure 8** – Principle component analysis (PCA) on the ethanolic 50 % or 96 % extracts obtained from *P. tricornutum* cultivation, with cluster segregation assemble by the number of UV stimuli applied: C – control culture; F – culture after the first UV treatment; T – culture after the third UV treatment.

Generally, PCA analysis demonstrated a good discrimination among samples. PC1 component allowed sample distribution according to ethanol percentage used as solvent, while the number of UV stimuli was responsible for the variance in PC2. This highlights solvent importance to selectively extract different biocoumpounds. The highest antioxidant activity achieved, as well as the upper phenolic, flavonoid and lipidic content occurred for the 96 % extracts. This follows the results reported by Rodriguez-Garcia and Guil-Guerrero (2008), with ethanol being acknowledged as the most effective solvent for antioxidant compounds extraction yield maximization. To what UV treatment concerns, it is possible to recognize that extracts' profiles change throughout the number of stimuli applied. Higher UV radiation exposure resulted in richer lipidic extracts, as previously underlined, as well as a higher ferric to ferrous ion reduction ability. Concurrently, a decrease in phenolic and flavonoid content was observed, along with radical scavenging reduction. This suggests an adjustment of the antioxidant activity spectrum. UV-C radiation might have actively induced oxidative stress defensive responses, such as synthesis of astaxanthin, docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and antioxidant enzymes as superoxide dismutase (SOD), glutathione reductase (GR), and ascorbate peroxidase (APX) (Yi et al. 2015). However, phenolics and flavonoids reduction does not go towards what was expected, since several studies have reported a significant increase of those two components for different algae species when exposed to UV radiation, being recognized as a defense mechanism against light-stress conditions (Cruces et al. 2018; Al-Rashed et al. 2016; Cotas et al. 2020). This might have occurred due to the higher cellular damage induced by UV-C stress performed in this study. On the other hand, a study using Scenedesmus quadricauda evidenced that neither total soluble phenols or flavonoids were influenced by UV-A or by UV-C exposure (Kováčik, Klejdus, and Bačkor 2010), which might suggest that this response is species-dependent. Thus, despite UV-C approach has been identified as potentially useful in developing strains with higher antioxidant systems protection (Yi et al. 2015), it was not possible to sustain this claim in the present study.

#### 4.2. Phaeodactylum tricornutum mixotrophic growth

*P. tricornutum* mixotrophic cultivation was not possible to accomplish, due to microorganisms contamination. This may be related to the non-axenic conditions of the inoculum used, which microbiome showed a superior glycerol consumption and subsequent growth ability, ultimately enabling diatom to subsist. A multiplicity of studies report *P. tricornutum* ability to grow under a mixotrophic regime, with all specifying the aseptic cultivation conditions (García *et al.* 2000; Cerón-García *et al.* 2013; García *et al.* 2005; Villanova *et al.* 2017). Limited research has been conducted on non-axenic algae cultures grown

under mixotrophic conditions, with microbial contamination impact being poorly understood (Higgins and VanderGheynst 2014). However, several studies report algae-bacteria symbiosis, either by bacteria secretion of hormones and co-factors with growth-promoting effects, or by vitamins synthesis (de-Bashan, Antoun, and Bashan 2008; Higgins and VanderGheynst 2014; Bajguz and Piotrowska-Niczyporuk 2013). A study underlining *Chlorella minutissima* co-cultivation with *Escherichia coli* showed that co-cultures achieved higher cellular densities and growth rates, while enhanced lipid and starch productivity (Higgins and VanderGheynst 2014). Although microorganisms co-presence with *P. tricornutum* cells showed resource competition with negative impact on microalgae survival rate, further studies should aim to assess possible microalgae-microbiome interactions. In fact, in light of mixotrophic growth challenges regarding organic carbon supplementation, a commitment between organic-rich wastewaters and algae cultivation may be of potential interesting to explore (Higgins and VanderGheynst 2014).

#### 4.3. Biomass pretreatment selection

Pretreatment and microalgae cell wall interactions determine their compositional and structural changes (Singh *et al.* 2015), which ultimately impact the extent of their bioactive and functional properties. Moreover, compounds susceptibility to endure physical or chemical processes may vary, resulting in different modification profiles. In order to fully perceive the biomass *P. tricornutum* potential applications, the selection of the more adequate pretreatment for the purpose aimed becomes of major importance. Biochemical composition of *P. tricornutum* commercial dry powder and paste can be found in Fig. 9.

Significant differences were observed between all molecule fractions, except for lipidic content. Higher protein and carbohydrate content was registered for commercial dry powder, which may likely result in superior mechanical properties due to its important contribution for foaming, emulsifying and gelling properties (Tako 2015; Zayas 1997; Burgos-Díaz *et al.* 2016). As a result, the following analysis aiming to enhance and characterize extracts functional application will only be performed using this biomass matrix. Moreover, when compared to reported biochemical characterization for typical *P. tricornutum* photoautotropic growth, namely 34.8-39.6 % of crude protein, 16.8-26.1 % carbohydrate and 16.1-18.2 % lipid (Barkia, Saari, and Manning 2019; S. M. Kim *et al.* 2012; Tibbetts, Milley, and Lall 2015), an identical compounds distribution was observed. The minor disparities and the wide range of values found in literature are common and may be related to growth conditions, strain specifications and differences in the quantification methods. The drying process may induce higher cellular damage than biomass paste collection, ultimately resulting in weaker antioxidant performance due to compounds

negative impact. However, this could not be foreseen by the results attained, requiring further evaluation assays.



**Figure 9** – *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biochemical composition on a dry weight basis when exposed to different pretreatments, resulting in gently dry spray powder and frozen paste. Different letters indicate significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) between pretreatments, within the same compound fraction.

#### 4.4. Functional extracts

Microalgae generally contain large amounts of structural biopolymers which might possibly display interesting technological functionalities. In order to explore *P. tricornutum* potential role as texturizer, stabilizer, or emulsifier, different extraction conditions were evaluated. The use of specific solvents is responsible for the selectivity of the extract composition, determining intracellular compounds dissolution of the raw material. The solvent selection, namely water and ethanol, relied on their natural, environmentally friendly, nontoxic and food grade character (Ferreira-Santos *et al.* 2020). Moreover, water has been commonly applied in the extraction of polysaccharides (Zhang *et al.* 2010; W. Chen *et al.* 2012), and many proteins (Kazir *et al.* 2019; Phong *et al.* 2016), while water and ethanol mixture allow to explore different optima of extractability of compounds with different polarities (Getachew, Jacobsen, and Holdt 2020). Preliminary assays allowed to distinguish the solvent and temperature impact on protein and polysaccharide extract content (Table 7). The highest protein fraction was achieved using water at 80 °C, while the best condition to enhance polysaccharide content was 80 °C ethanolic extraction. The following work did not comprise 60 °C extractions, since it showed the lowest global extraction yield to what concerns to protein and polysaccharide fractions, regardless of the solvent applied.

**Table 7** – Preliminary assays results to establish extraction conditions impact on protein and polysaccharide content on the extracts attained. Extractions were carried out under 170 rpm agitation with 2 % as solid solvent ratio.

Extraction	Extraction	Extraction yield	Protein content	Carbohydrate	Total (%)
solvent	temperature (°C)	(%)	(%)	content (%)	10tal (%)
Water	40	42.8 ± 4.0	14.4 ± 1.8	16.9 ± 0.3	32.5 ± 1.5
	60	$44.4\pm1.0$	14.3 ± 0.2	$14.1 \pm 0.5$	29.3 ± 1.3
	80	41.6 ± 2.1	17.2 ± 1.6	13.9 ± 1.0	31.7 ± 1.3
Fthanal	40	32.4 ± 2.9	12.4 ± 0.6	10.8 ± 1.9	$21.4\pm1.4$
25 %	60	38.5 ± 2.4	9.29 ± 0.07	8.70 ± 0.16	17.7 ± 0.2
	80	41.4 ± 1.1	10.8 ± 0.7	21.8 ± 1.2	32.7 ± 1.9

Extracts yield can be found in Fig. 10. Significant higher extraction yields were reported when higher temperatures were applied, showing similar values between different solvents. This may be related to the widely known positive temperature effect on reaction kinetics, resulting in an increased molecules movement and solubilization promotion.



**Figure 10** – *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* global extraction yield when exposed to different extraction conditions: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C by control treatments (without the presence of OH) and OH at 25 Hz, using water (W) and ethanol 25% (E). Different letters indicate significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) between extraction conditions.

Moreover, under high temperatures cell walls are weakened, causing easier extractability of the compounds into the solvent. Sometimes, higher temperature exposure may result in the extraction yield decreasing, due to chemical modification of the compounds related to oxidation or degradation processes (Che Sulaiman *et al.* 2017). This phenomenon was not observed for the tested temperatures.

The extracts present as a mixture of proteins and polysaccharides (Fig. 11A), which might enhance techno-functionality features (especially solubility and emulsifying properties), and are consistent with the results reported in literature (Ebert *et al.* 2019). Protein solubility is influenced by several intrinsic factors as molecular weight, amino acid composition, and  $\alpha$ -helix propensity, as well as by extrinsic factors such as pH, ionic strength, and temperature (Grossmann, Hinrichs, and Weiss 2019). Total polysaccharide content was identical for all extraction conditions, despite it has been previously acknowledged a higher polysaccharide solubility in water than in ethanol mixtures (Bouchard, Hofland, and Witkamp 2007). This may be related to composition and structure variation, explaining the different water-solubility properties observed (Gügi *et al.* 2015). As a result, distinctive protein-polysaccharides interactions might have occurred.

In addition, temperature impacts the extent of hydrogen bonding and hydrophobic interaction in protein-polysaccharide stabilization, as well as in protein conformation, which may affect technological properties (K. and Bandyopadhyay 2012). Moreover, hydrophilicity protein variation may justify the results attained, since a highly diverse protein profile has been recognized for *P. tricornutum* cells (Grossmann, Hinrichs, and Weiss 2019). Higher temperature treatment when using ethanol allowed a higher protein extractability, suggesting a higher exposure of hydrophobic groups to the solvent. It has been well recognized temperature major impact on protein conformation and folding (Lapidus 2017). Thus, thermal denaturation may explain the higher protein solubility in less polar solvents, namely ethanol. Taking into account protein and carbohydrate fractions extracted from dry matter (Fig. 11B), it is possible to highlight the positive outcome of electric fields on protein solubility for 40 °C aqueous extracts' fraction, representing more than 50 %, refer to minerals. The high ash content in microalgae is consistent with other findings, and relate to mineral important role in DNA synthesis, enzymatic reactions and counterbalance of osmotic pressure (Ebert *et al.* 2019).



**Figure 11** – *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* (A) extracts composition and (B) extraction yield on dry weight microalgae basis. Different extraction conditions were performed: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C by control treatments (without the presence of OH) and OH at 25 Hz, using water (W) and ethanol 25% (E). Different letters indicate significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) between extraction conditions, within the same molecule fraction.

Ethanol precipitation was performed as a purification strategy, to enhance polysaccharide and protein fractions technological performance, facilitate analyses and partially remove salts and other contaminants. The precipitation yield achieved (Fig. 12) evidences significant differences between temperature treatments, with 80 °C extractions appearing to allow the attainment of molecules with superior molecular weight. In fact, molecular size has been recognized as a determine factor in precipitation yield, with the smaller polysaccharides not being able to be purified extract using 80 % ethanol. Moreover, polysaccharides with different structural features, even though present similar molecular weights, exhibit significantly different precipitation behaviors (Xu *et al.* 2014).



**Figure 12** – *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* precipitation yield when exposed to different extraction conditions: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C by control treatments (without the presence of OH) and OH at 25 Hz, using water (W) and ethanol 25 % (E). Precipitation was performed by adding cold ethanol to a final concentration of 80 % (v v<sup>-1</sup>). Different letters indicate significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) between extraction conditions.

Purified extracts proximate composition was determined (Fig. 13) in order to acknowledge precipitation effectiveness to fulfill its purpose. It is possible to recognized different precipitation profiles depending on the extraction condition applied. This may be due to the variability of the compounds extracted (different extracts composition), to their solubility and/or to structure changes in the same polymers. Generally, ethanolic precipitation enhanced both protein and polysaccharide content, while salt decreased. This is in line with the separation of polysaccharides from lower molecular weight ethanol-soluble compounds (A. Alves, Sousa, and Reis 2013), with protein co-precipitation (Bernaerts *et al.* 2019). Mineral presence may be potential interesting in a nutritional point of view, since *P. tricornutum* has been

recognized to possess high amounts of calcium and iron. Given that iron deficiency is considered as the most prevalent single nutritional deficiency in the world, *P. tricornutum* by-products may arise as an important component in human diet (Bernaerts, Gheysen, *et al.* 2018). Moreover, the mineral presence might have an impact on physicochemical properties of polysaccharide suspensions, as specific cations play an important role in the stabilization of electrostatic repulsions and in the gelation of negatively charged polysaccharides (Bernaerts, Kyomugasho, *et al.* 2018).





The fluorescence emission spectra of proteins present in the several purified extracts were analyzed (Fig. 14), since it may reveal protein conformation and solvent-exposure variation. The maximum of the fluorescence emission spectra ( $\lambda_{max}$ ) of many fluorophores are sensitive to the polarity of their surrounding environment. A shift in emission spectrum to shorter wavelengths (blue shift) occurs as the solvent polarity is decreased (Lakowicz 1983; Duy and Fitter 2006). The emission of tyrosine (Tyr) in water occurs near 303 nm and is relatively insensitive to solvent polarity, while the emission maximum of tryptophan (Trp) appears at 350 nm and is highly dependent upon details of its surrounding (Lakowicz 2006).



**Figure 14** – Fluorescence emission spectra (excitation at 286 nm) of *P. tricornutum* purified extracts when exposed to different extraction conditions: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C by control treatments (without the presence of OH) and OH at 25 Hz, using water and ethanol 25 %.

Exposure to more aqueous solvents did not result in a blue shift, possible due to the polarity similarity of the solvents analyzed. Generally, all purified extracts evidenced a flatted emission peak around 330-350 nm, while a more well-defined peak at 336 nm is observed for 40 °C treatment in aqueous solvent. No differences between OH treatment and conventional extraction were detected. The variation in the emission spectrum shape suggests the presence of heterogeneity, which is a result of emission from different fluorophores (e.g., Tyr and Trp) or from the same fluorophore in different environments (e.g., buried and solvent-exposed Trp residues) (J. Chen et al. 2008). Moreover, changes in the tryptophan emission spectra often arise in response to conformational transitions, subunit association, substrate binding, or denaturation (Lakowicz 2006).  $\lambda_{max}$  is a valuable parameter to characterize the unfolded state properties (Duy and Fitter 2006). The red shift observed for 80 °C treatment in aqueous extracts, as well when ethanol 25 % was the selected solvent, may be explained based on denatured and structurally unfolded states. In fact, unfolded protein conformations display higher solvent-exposure of Trp residues, resulting almost often in red shifts (Ghisaidoobe and Chung 2014; Eftink 1994). Depending on the kind of denaturing conditions, the ensemble of unfolded states possess diverse structural and conformational properties (Duy and Fitter 2006), which is reflected in spectra differences. The emission response observed for aqueous 40 °C extraction suggest that the residues are shielded from water to some extent in the native protein structure (Lakowicz 2006). Furthermore, the fluorescence decrease observed must be the result of an increased quenching from the

neighbor amino acids due to small conformation rearrangements or higher structural dynamics. Concurrently, exposure to 80 °C using ethanolic mixture resulted in higher Trp fluorescence with a broader spectrum. These results suggest the presence of substantial structural changes between different extraction treatments (Rodrigues *et al.* 2020). It has been reported that mixtures of folded and unfolded would produce broader spectral widths (Moon and Fleming 2011). On the other hand, fluorescence intensity disparities may be correlated to protein concentration differences. In fact, purified extract analyses previously underlined follows a similar profile to the results attained. In this manner, a combined effect among the aspects highlighted may be occurring.

The electrophoretic profile of the proteins present in the several purified extracts are represented in Fig. 15. Generally, five clear bands of different molecular weight are visible, regardless of the extraction conditions: one <20 kDa, two around 30 kDa and other two near 40 kDa.



**Figure 15** – Gel electrophoresis of proteins present in the *P. tricornutum* purified extracts when expose to different extraction procedures to establish molecular weight distribution: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C by control treatments (without the presence of OH) and OH at 25 Hz, using water (W) and ethanol 25 % (E).

The very intense area of staining at <20 kDa may be explained based on diatom light harvest complexes presence. In fact, fucoxanthin-chlorophyll proteins have molecular mass values ranging from 17 to 23 kDa (Stack *et al.* 2018). A band near 100 kDa is also present for 80 °C treatments, which may indicate protein denaturation and aggregation or interaction with polysaccharides in the matrix, affecting its molecular weight. This may have a direct impact on proteins functionality that should be considered depending on the intended application (Rodríguez-Restrepo *et al.* 2020). Moreover, the stronger smearing effect and fuzzy bands observed for aqueous extraction conditions may be due to salt interference (Dunbar

1987), since these purified extracts show superior ash content. The bands are more intense for 80 °C ethanolic purified extracts, suggesting a higher protein content (in accordance with the results described above for composition and fluorescence).

Monosaccharide profile of purified extracts were observed by HPLC-RI (Table 8). *P. tricornutum* purified extracts show differences depending on solvent and temperature exposure, with no major impact of OH treatment.

**Table 8** – Carbohydrate quantification in *P. tricornutum* purified extracts performed by HPLC-RI. Values are the mean  $\pm$  SD. Different extraction conditions were performed: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C, using water (W) and ethanol 25 % (E). Glu – glucose; Xil – xilose; Man – mannose; Gal – galactose; Fuc – fucose. Different letters indicate significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) between extraction conditions, within the same fraction.

Extraction	Acide	Monosad	Total carbohydrate		
conditions	Acius	Glu	Xil/Man/Gal	Fuc	- (%)
W40_C	10.50 ± 0.25d	3.86 ± 0.88a	3.07± 0.69a	1.93 ± 0.75a	19.4± 2.6de
W40_OH	$10.48\pm0.16d$	3.95 ± 0.69a	2.85 ± 0.55a	1.34 ± 0.01a	$18.6 \pm 1.1 \text{cde}$
W80_C	$6.42\pm0.06c$	4.85 ± 0.78a	3.11 ± 0.39a	2.11 ± 0.43a	$16.5 \pm 1.5 \mathrm{bd}$
W80_OH	$6.41\pm0.27c$	4.11 ± 0.95a	2.76 ± 0.36a	1.99 ± 0.08a	15.3 ± 1.1ab
E40_C	2.62 ± 0.29a	6.29 ± 0.76ab	3.96 ± 0.36a	2.59 ± 0.13a	15.5 ± 1.5abc
E40_0H	3.48 ± 0.09a	8.69 ± 2.06b	5.36 ± 0.72a	3.17 ± 0.17a	20.7 ± 3.0e
E80_C	3.66 ± 0.18a	5.68 ± 0.11ab	4.33 ± 0.18a	2.92 ± 0.28a	16.6 ± 0.5b
E80_0H	2.36 ± 0.21a	4.6 ± 1.2a	3.49 ± 0.51a	2.44 ± 0.19a	12.9 ± 1.7a

Despite information about the original polysaccharides structure not being conceivable from this analysis, the individual monosaccharides recognition can give some indication of the origin polymer. As follows, acids major contribution in aqueous extraction may refer to glucuronic acid presence, which adds for approximately 4 % of the total biomass and may be derived from an alginate-like polysaccharide (Templeton *et al.* 2012). In fact, this suggests the extraction of the *P. tricornutum* cell wall prominent polysaccharide, namely, a sulfated glucuronomannan (Bernaerts *et al.* 2019). The fewer acid content on 80 °C aqueous extraction possible means that some hydrolysis took placed, which may counteract its mechanical properties. For ethanolic extractions, a different profile is registered, with the main fractions reporting to glucose and xylose/mannose/galactose. Mannose has been previously recognized as the

major monosaccharide in *P. tricornutum* hydrolysate, being derived from the structural mannan in the cell wall (Bernaerts *et al.* 2019; Templeton *et al.* 2012). The fucose content on these purified extracts is likely due to a fucoidan-like polysaccharide. Galactose, mannose and glucose presence is consistent with phylogenetic reports for diatoms (Templeton *et al.* 2012). In fact, the high glucose content may be related to the presence of chrysolaminarin, which has been recognized as a typical reserve carbohydrate in diatoms and comprises glucose monomers linked by a  $\beta$ -1,3 bond with limited  $\beta$ -1,6 branching (Caballero et al., 2016). Therefore, the disparity of monosaccharides profile obtained between solvents, suggest the extraction of different polysaccharides in different proportions, as well as corroborate solvent impact on polymer extraction.

A typical thermogram achieved for DSC is shown in Fig. 16. Four main endothermic peaks were detected in the heating cycle performed: one around 130°C, another around 140 °C, the biggest one near 160 °C and a last one at approximately 200 °C.



Figure 16 – Typical DSC thermogram for *P. tricornutum* purified extracts during heating cycle.

The first peak is usually assigned to residual water evaporation present in the sample (Rocha *et al.* 2019). The latest peak is not present in all samples, possible due to a concealed effect caused by the major peak observed at 160 °C. DSC characteristic peaks may be observed in more detail in Table 9. Generally, *P. tricornutum* purified extracts show three characteristic endotermic peaks. Despite it has been previously recognized OH possible effect in thermal properties (Kaur and Singh 2016), this was not observed.

**Table 9** – Thermal properties attained by DSC analyses for *P. tricornutum* purified extracts. Values are the mean  $\pm$  SD. Different extraction conditions were performed: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C, using water (W) and ethanol 25 % (E). n.d. – not discernible; *T* – temperature. Different letters indicate significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) between extraction conditions, within the same peak and parameter.

Extraction conditions	Peak 2		Peak 3		Peak 4	
	T (°C)	∆H (J g -¹)	T (°C)	∆H (J g -¹)	T (°C)	∆H (J g -¹)
W40_C	141.03 ± 0.83a	3.164 ± 0.007a	157.3 ± 2.2a	113.0 ± 8.2b	205.87 ± 0.11b	1.71 ± 0.15a
W40_OH	141.31 ± 0.46a	1.75 ± 0.42a	156.7 ± 9.7a	87.2 ± 6.2a	n.d.	n.d.
W80_C	141.0 ± 2.1a	2.7 ± 1.4a	163.9 ± 3.5a	118.9 ± 21.8b	n.d.	n.d.
W80_OH	142.9 ± 3.0a	1.70 ± 0.46a	163.1 ± 5.1a	107.3 ± 1.3ab	197.5 ± 2.1a	9.1 ± 3.5b
E40_C	141.2 ± 1.6a	2.83 ± 0.96a	164.56 ± 0.59a	177 ± 19c	n.d.	n.d.
E40_OH	144.1 ± 1.0a	3.15 ± 0.49a	164.7 ± 1.6a	$130.4 \pm 4.2b$	n.d.	n.d.
E80_C	140.6 ± 2.7a	4.9± 3.1a	164.7 ± 4.4a	111 ± 3.0ab	n.d.	n.d.
E80_0H	139.55 ± 0.36a	1.87 ± 0.32a	159.68 ± 0.93a	$113 \pm 27b$	n.d.	n.d.

Rheological parameters for solutions of the various purified extracts prepared at 5 % are presented in Table 10. The storage modulus (G) is a measure of the solid nature of a sample, indicating the resistance to stretching, while the loss modulus (G') gives a measure of viscous flow (Rocha *et al.* 2019; Curnutt et al. 2020). G' is expected to be positively correlated with the gel strength (Rocha et al. 2019). Analysis of G' and G'' change as a function of temperature allowed to distinguish different sample behavior, depending on the extraction solvent and temperature applied. For 40 °C aqueous purified extracts, the elasticity of the solution is the dominant factor, with G > G'' regardless of the temperature, indicating always a gel nature throughout the test. It is possible to observe that G' remains constant until around 50 °C, from which it increases. This may possibly occur due to the thermal denaturation of proteins and subsequent aggregation, resulting in the reinforcement of gel network structure (Chronakis 2001; Andrade et al. 2010; Zheng, Matsumura, and Mori 1993), explaining the higher G'achieved after the heat treatment, as well as at the end of the analysis. These results are consistent with the findings achieved in fluorescence analysis. The same rheologic behavior was not reported for 40 °C ethanolic purified extracts. Despite a G'increasing was observed around 80-85 °C, temperature of melting ( $T_m$ ) and gelling ( $T_{\epsilon}$ ) were measurable, indicating a gel-temperature dependence. However, the lower values attained, as well as the disparities observed between OH and conventional extraction may be related to working with concentrations near the gelling limit. Therefore,  $T_m$  values are not considered trustworthy. Moreover, the ability of water extracts at 40 °C to form a gel at 20 °C may be related to the presence of alginate-like polysaccharides. In fact, at lower temperatures, the reactivity of ionic cross-linker is reduced, allowing a cross-linkage network structure more ordered with enhanced mechanical properties (K. Y. Lee and Mooney 2012; Augst, Kong, and Mooney 2006). It has been reported that ethanol percentage has an important impact on rheologic properties of alginate gels, with 24 % ethanol reducing its gel strength. This may be explained based on the observed polymer network, which is more compact, with larger pores and less connected (Hermansson et al. 2016). These findings go towards the monosaccharide profile previously recognized for these purified extracts, with uronic acids major content (possibly related with the alginate-like behaviour) being referred to aqueous 40 °C extraction condition. On the other hand, the weaker elastic behavior observed for ethanolic 40 °C purified extracts may be related to the lower alginatelike polysaccharide presence, as suggested by HPLC analysis. The enhanced G'observed at 20 °C after the heat treatment is also explained based on the protein denaturation that occurred at higher temperatures. The purified extracts whose extraction occurred at 80 °C present a typical behavior for the presence of a water-soluble polysaccharide, with viscosity decreasing as temperature increases (Zaim et al. 2020; Wu et al. 2015). Despite protein may be already partially denaturated due to the extraction heat

# *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biorefinery: A sustainable approach to valorize microalgae biomass towards BIOMOLECULES RECOVERY

treatment, the superior G' observed after the heat cycle suggests that a further denaturation may have occured, as a result of the higher temperature (90 °C) exposure over rheological analysis. High temperature may intensify molecules thermal motion, resulting in the enlargement of intermolecular distance and weaker interactions (Wu et al. 2015). Moreover, some bonding forces (e.g. hydrogen, electrostatic and hydrophobic bonds) that can occur between polymer molecules may be weakened (V. D. Alves et al. 2010). In fact, gels whose helices primarily contain hydrogen-bonded crosslinks melt with the temperature increasing (Ji *et al.* 2017).  $T_m$  and  $T_{\varepsilon}$  were different between the solvent extraction used, suggesting different extraction composition. In fact, during heating of 80 °C aqueous purified extracts the increased thermal energy destabilises the structure of the second transition observed on cooling at higher temperatures (with near 30 °C of difference), producing an extensive thermal hysteresis (Papageorgiou, Kasapis, and Gothard 1994). This phenomenum was reported in minor extent for ethanolic extracts, with aqueous polymer interactions appearing to be more difficult to break. Moreover, a simultaneous contribution from polysaccharide and protein polymers undergoing a gel-sol transition may be occurring, leading to more complex rheologic behaviors (Panouillé and Larreta-Garde 2009). In this manner, different temperature and solvent treatments during extraction process, appear to affect both protein and polysaccharide conformation and distribution composition, as well as their final ratio. This translates into distinct rheological properties, giving a wide range of texturizing features that can be used in the cosmetic formulations.

**Table 10** – Rheological data obtained through dynamic rheological measurements in a stress-controlled rheometer for 5 % *P. tricornutum* purified extracts. Values are the mean  $\pm$  SD. Different extraction conditions were performed: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C, using water (W) and ethanol 25 % (E). *G'*– storage modulus; *G''*– viscous modulus; *T*<sub>s</sub>– gelling temperature; *T*<sub>m</sub> – melting temperature. Different letters indicate significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) between extraction conditions, within the same parameter.

Extraction conditions	Tm	Τε		20	О° (		90	°C
	(°C)	(°C)	G'initial (Pa)	G'final (Pa)	G"initial (Pa)	G"final (Pa)	<i>G'</i> (Pa)	<i>G"</i> (Pa)
W40_C	-	-	$12.31\pm0.80b$	22.0 ± 6.6e	8.74 ± 0.40a	8.04 ± 0.49a	14.3 ± 5.1c	5.55 ± 0.57a
W40_OH	-	-	$13.1\pm2.1\text{b}$	$18.4 \pm 2.4$ de	8.99 ± 0.83a	9.3 ± 1.5a	$8.1 \pm 2.7 b$	5.218 ± 0.089a
W80_C	90b	59.5 ± 2.1b	6.61 ± 0.13a	$10.16\pm0.35\text{bc}$	5.157 ± 0.078a	4.954 ± 0.073a	1.66 ± 0.32a	1.91 ± 0.21a
W80_0H	90b	66.5 ± 5.9b	7.50 ± 0.91a	$14.86 \pm 0.30$ cd	5.95 ± 0.50a	5.91 ± 0.30a	2.07 ± 0.58a	2.29 ± 0.29a
E40_C	-	32.12 ± 0.44a	4.49 ± 0.55a	5.09 ± 0.80a	4.44 ± 0.29a	4.56 ± 0.43a	1.210 ± 0.085a	1.58 ± 0.17a
E40_OH	42.26 ± 0.31a	39.6 ± 1.0a	7.50 ± 0.12a	9.0 ± 1.7ab	6.334 ± 0.030a	6.13 ± 0.31a	0.914 ± 0.023a	1.58 ± 0.18a
E80_C	82.7 ± 3.2b	76.3 ± 4.1c	$13.8 \pm 1.8 \mathrm{b}$	$16.48 \pm 0.12 d$	8.03 ± 0.67a	7.018 ± 0.070a	1.78 ± 0.57a	2.13 ± 0.53a
E80_0H	$84.4 \pm 4.8b$	75.9 ± 6.6c	12.4 ± 2.5b	18.52 ± 0.60de	7.4 ± 1.2a	7.18 ± 0.40a	1.80 ± 0.34a	2.16 ± 0.30a

FTIR spectra are presented in Figure 17. Generally, all samples evidence the typical bands for polysaccharide and protein presence.



**Figure 17** – FTIR spectra for *P. tricornutum* purified extracts when exposed to different extraction conditions: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C by control treatments (without the presence of OH) and OH at 25 Hz, using water and ethanol 25 %.

The broadened peak around 1280-1180 cm<sup>-1</sup> may be assigned to the presence of sulphate ester groups (S=O) which is a characteristic component in fucoidan and sulphated polysaccharides other than alginate in brown seaweeds (Fernando et al. 2017; L. Pereira, Gheda, and Ribeiro-Claro 2013; Gómez-Ordóñez and Rupérez 2011). Ester sulfates presence is evidenced by 1370 cm<sup>1</sup> band (Rocha *et al.* 2019). The intense peak centered at 1035 cm<sup>-1</sup>, as well as the band at 1150 cm<sup>-1</sup> are common to all polysaccharides and could be assigned to C-O-H bending and to C-O and C-C stretching of the glycoside bridge (Fernando et al. 2017; Rocha et al. 2019; L. Pereira, Gheda, and Ribeiro-Claro 2013). The shoulder observed at 1070 cm<sup>-1</sup> is due to the mannose units (Kacuráková 2000), which has been recognized as the major monosaccharide of *P. tricornutum* (Templeton *et al.* 2012). The band at 2920 cm<sup>-1</sup> is related with the C–H, being a good measure of total sugar content (Rocha et al. 2019). The 1700-1600 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1575–1480 cm<sup>-1</sup> peaks can be assigned to amide I and II absorption, respectively. Amide I band arises due almost entirely to the C=O stretching vibration of the peptide linkages (about 80 %), while amide II absorption has contributions from NH bending (40-60 %) and CN stretching vibration (18-40 %) (Jackson and Mantsch 1995; Kong and Yu 2007). The bands occurring at 2967 cm<sup>1</sup> and 2875 cm<sup>1</sup> can be assigned to the asymmetric and symmetric CH stretch of the methyl group, respectively. The asymmetric and symmetric vibrations of the methylene group may be responsible for the 2930 cm<sup>1</sup> and

2855 cm<sup>-1</sup> absorption bands, respectively (Coates 2006). Differences between different extraction conditions are visible in this absorption region (3000–2850 cm<sup>-1</sup>), as well as at 550–500 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The peak observe for aqueous extractions around 520 cm<sup>-1</sup> relates to S–S stretch (Nyquist 2001). The 3700–3000 cm<sup>-1</sup> broad absorption peak relates to stretching vibrations of the OH group in water (Warren *et al.* 2013; Fernando *et al.* 2017).

In order to further explore purified extract composition, polysaccharide segregation was conceivable by gel permeation chromatography (Fig. 18).



**Figure 18** – Gel permeation high-performance liquid chromatography profile of polysaccharides present on *P. tricornutum* purified extracts (1 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>), using RI detection: effect of using (A) ethanol 25 % and (B) water as solvent extraction. Temperature and OH effect were analyzed, from top to bottom: 40 °C conventional extraction; 40 °C extraction with OH treatment; 80 °C conventional extraction; and 80 °C extraction with OH treatment.

The peaks around 7 and 12.5 min are common to all purified extracts. The major differences between extraction conditions occur within 8 to 11 min, with ethanolic extracts resulting in a superior molecular weight dispersion, suggesting different polysaccharides extracted. Aqueous extracts present only two peaks within this range, while ethanolic extraction led to four peaks of lower intensities. Molecular weight values were possible to be determined, using a pullulan standard curve in the range of 22 – 642 kDa. The results are in agreement with the evidences reffered before that all aqueous extracts appear to possess an alginate-like polymer. In fact, a previous study underwent with brown seaweed alginate recognized its molecular weight within 213–277 kDa (Gómez-Ordóñez, Jiménez-Escrig, and Rupérez 2012). A hydrolysis of the peaks around 10 min appear to exist in all extracts except for 40 °C aqueous

purified extracts, explaining the higher intensities observed for the peak near 12.5 min. This may have occurred due to higher temperature exposure, as well as a result of the ethanolic mixture impact. In fact, high temperatures are responsible for significant modifications in the adopted conformation of polymer chains (M. Raposo, De Morais, and Bernardo de Morais 2013). Rheological behavior sustain this hypothesis, with enhanced elastic properties being confirmed for 40 °C water extracts.

On the other hand, the results attained by UV detection (Fig. 19) show concurrent peaks when higher intensities are observed, implying a strong interaction between polysaccharides and proteins. Moreover, higher intensities at the lowest retention time for 80 °C extractions were observed, verifying the electrophoresis band of higher molecular weight previously identified. Considering the spectra attained by RI and UV detection it appears that different polysaccharide-protein interactions are occurring under solvent and temperature treatment variation. Protein denaturation followed by protein or polysaccharide interaction and aggregation appear to have occurred for all extract conditions except when 40 °C water was used, causing the peak around 7 min. This is in line with the findings attained in fluorescence spectra.



**Figure 19** – Gel permeation high-performance liquid chromatography profile of proteins present on *P. tricornutum* purified extracts (1 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>), using UV detection: effect of using (A) ethanol 25% and (B) water as solvent extraction. Temperature and OH effect were analyzed, from top to bottom: 40 °C conventional extraction; 40 °C extraction with OH treatment; 80 °C conventional extraction; and 80 °C extraction with OH treatment.

To access *P. tricornutum* purified extracts further potential in terms of their technological properties, emulsification capacity and stability presents as an important parameter in product formulation that should be evaluated. The emulsion layer height was monitored along time (Fig. 20).

Overall, *P. tricornutum* purified extracts were able to form emulsions with soybean oil. 80 °C ethanolic purified extracts showed the greatest emulsifier potential, by presenting the highest emulsification index, as well as the greater emulsion stability over the time evaluated. This goes towards the results previously attained by both electrophoresis and rheologic analysis, with these purified extracts showing bands more pronounced of higher molecular weight, as well as superior mechanical properties. Proteins are often used as emulsifiers agents, since they can adsorb at the oil-water interface and increase emulsion stability (Bouyer *et al.* 2012; Ebert *et al.* 2019), while most polysaccharides emulsion stabilizing mechanism relay in increasing viscosity of the aqueous phase, leading to droplet movement inhibition (Bouyer *et al.* 2012; Melanie *et al.* 2020).

In this manner, the use of 80 °C as extraction temperature allowed protein denaturation to occur, leading to a higher surface hydrophobicity exposure. It has been ascertained that surface hydrophobicity plays an important role as trigger of emulsification, enhancing the functional properties (Kato et al. 1983). Hence, a protein-polysaccharide interaction appears to be responsible for the increased emulsifying performance (Bouyer et al. 2012; Ebert et al. 2019). An identical behavior was not reported for 80 °C aqueous purified extracts, possible due to solvent related affinity and extraction of proteins with a more hydrophilic character. On the other hand, the mechanical energy applied might have been insufficient to promote the homogenization of emulsion droplet sizes (Maphosa and Jideani 2018). After 24h, it can be observed that, among the purified extracts assayed, those obtained from 40 °C aqueous extraction evidenced the second best emulsion forming capacity, which follows the superior gel strength achieved under rheologic analysis. However, after 90h, the emulsification index decreased in more than half, highlining its low emulsion stability. This may be explained based on the previous gel formation of the aqueous phase at low temperatures due to alginate-like polymers, allied with an insufficient homogenization, leading to a lower interaction oil-water and emulsion droplets embedded (Dickinson 2012). Despite the formation of a hydrogel network can immobilize droplets within the gel structure, thus preventing flocculation and coalescence (Farjami and Madadlou 2019; Dickinson 2012), it was not possible to observe. This suggests that gel formation should had occurred during or after the emulsification process, or alternatively applying a higher mechanical energy to the system, capable of reversely breaking down the gel network. Moreover, these purified extracts possess the higher ash content between the extraction conditions evaluated. In this manner, this might have had a negative impact on emulsion stability since the main driving force stabilizing protein-polysaccharide complexes is electrostatic and, consequently, an increase in ionic strength can influence the complexes formation and stability (Ebert et al. 2019). The weaker emulsifying properties observed for 40 °C ethanolic purified extracts goes

towards the rheology findings, as well as the minor protein content previously observed in UV spectrum. Altogether, it is possible to recognize the potential use of *P. tricornutum* purified extracts as emulsifiers, with further insights on droplet size and distribution; pH, temperature and homogenization method impact; and molecular composition being required.



**Figure 20** – Emulsification index over a 25 days period registered for 1 % *P. tricornutum* purified extracts, using soybean oil as a hydrocarbon. Different extraction conditions were analyzed to establish emulsifying formation and stability impact: temperatures of 40 and 80 °C by control treatments (without the presence of OH) and OH at 25 Hz, using water (W) and ethanol 25 % (E).

#### 4.5. Bioactive extracts

Extractions from different *P. tricornutum* biomasses, namely commercial powder and paste, were performed using ethanol 96 % as solvent at 45 °C for 30 min, to establish pretreatment impact on bioactive properties and ultimately select the more advantageous matrix for the current purpose. Different antioxidant compounds present in microalgae ethanolic extracts may act through different mechanisms. Moreover, each assay relies in an approximation of the total extract antioxidant capacity, depending on reaction time, method applied, and reaction kinetics complexity (Assunção *et al.* 2017). In this sense, several quantification assays were performed to allow a more accurate evaluation, analyzing different mechanisms of extracts action. The ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) method is based on the reduction of an iron complex (Fe<sup>3+</sup> to Fe<sup>2+</sup>), and DPPH and ABTS are the most widely used methods for determining the free radical scavenging capacity (Ferreira-Santos *et al.* 2020). Antioxidant profile of both

extracts (Fig. 21A), as well as lipidic and total phenolic content (TPC) (Fig. 21B) allow to significantly distinguish between the two extracts attained.



**Figure 21** – Pretreatment impact on *P. tricornutum* extracts: (A) antioxidant (ABTS, DPPH and FRAP) activities and (B) phenolic and lipidic content.

Spray drying has been widely applied in food and pharmaceutical industries (T.A. Tran and V.H. Nguyen 2018), being a highly appropriate process for heat sensitive components such as carotenoids, flavonoids and phenolic compounds, since it allows their preservation (Kha, Nguyen, and Roach 2010). However, when compared to biomass paste, a weaker antioxidant performance was reported. These results may be explained based on the superior solvent exposure of molecules in more hydrated matrices. In fact, dried samples impose a minor solvent accessibility to compounds, encumber solvent penetration, which presents as one critical step of solvent extraction (Grosso *et al.* 2015). Moreover, frozen-thaw process may be considered as a physical disruption cell wall method, being frequently employed to damage cell wall structures without completely disrupting the walls (Teuling *et al.* 2019). Frozen-thaw impact on cell wall integrity, could have enhanced cell rupture efficiency, ultimately increasing compounds bioavailability. In this manner, the more suitable matrix for the following analyzes is commercial frozen paste, due to the promising bioactive properties registered.

Preliminary assays were conducted in order to ascertain the impact of independent variables, such as extraction time and temperature, on antioxidant activity and related compounds (Fig 22). All extracts present similar composition and antioxidant profiles, with the major differences referring to FRAP analysis, in which 65 °C extracts showed greater antioxidant ability. Accordingly, only the extraction at

65 °C throughout 15 min was selected to evaluate ohmic heating treatment impact and determine extracts bioactive and cytotoxic activities.



**Figure 22** – Impact of different extractions conditions, namely, temperature (45 and 65 °C) and time (15 and 30 min) on *P. tricornutum* frozen paste: (A) antioxidant (ABTS, DPPH and FRAP) activities and (B) phenolic and lipidic content.

Microalgae are widely known for producing a variety of different biological active components with great interest for their antioxidant and health beneficial effects (Banskota et al. 2019). Both extracts were characterized regarding the main fractions more likely to be responsible for their bioactive properties (Table 11). These include phenolics (Ferreira-Santos et al. 2020) and flavonoids (Sansone and Brunet 2019) compounds, carotenoids (Goiris et al. 2012), and fatty acids (e.g. PUFA) (Banskota et al. 2019). It has been acknowledged that microalgae are a rich source of protein enzymes, peptides, and amino acids, which are recognized for their important role for normal physiological activities, as well as for their strong health-protecting effects (Sansone and Brunet 2019). However, protein quantification was not performed, since the methods more commonly used, namely Bradford and Lowry, prove to be inadequate for this specific matrix (Appendix 2.3). Several compounds may interfere with both Lowry and Bradford methods, causing inaccurate quantifications. Lowry quantification showed to be influence by the ethanol percentage in the solution, as well as by the phenolic compounds concentration. Moreover, the reactivity of both methods to a specific protein is strongly dependent by its amino acid composition, since not all amino acid residues can oxidate equally the Folin phenol reactive or bind to the Coomassie dye (Barbarino and Lourenço 2005). In fact, Bradford's method led to lower protein values, which is consisting with the findings by other authors (Barbarino and Lourenço 2005). Protein quantification by Lowry's method tend

to be greater, since it interacts with all peptide bonds and with some amino acids (Barbarino and Lourenço 2005). The results show that Lowry method provides similar protein quantification as Kjeldahl method for aqueous and 50 % ethanolic *P. tricornutum* extracts (Appendix 3). This suggest that Lowry method should be used for *P. tricornutum* extracts only when ethanolic concentration is not a conditional factor to be considered. To obtain a more reliable measurement of protein, it would be useful to identify the predominant proteins in the specific working matrices. However, this is not of practical value due to the time consuming and high demanding work (Barbarino and Lourenço 2005). Alternately, Kjeldahl quantification should be performed. However, this was not possible to ensure due to the lack of sufficient extracts material.

**Table 11** – Ohmic heating impact on antioxidant (ABTS, DPPH and FRAP) activities and biochemical characterization of ethanolic extracts from *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Extractions were carried out at 65 °C for 15 min. Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD of 3–4 experiments (half-maximal inhibitory concentration, *IC*<sub>50</sub>).

		Conventional extraction	Ohmic heating extraction
<i>IC</i> ₅∞ (mg mL⁻¹)	ABTS	$12.2 \pm 1.8$	12.3 ± 2.8
	DPPH	$42.0 \pm 6.8$	42.5 ± 9.8
FRAP ( $\mu$ mol trolox e	eq.g -1 DE)	35.8 ± 3.1	32.2 ± 2.4
Chlorophyll content (mg. g -1 DE)		$7.81\pm0.74$	$7.14 \pm 0.24$
Carotenoid content (mg. g -1 DE)		$0.99\pm0.26$	$1.326 \pm 0.068$
Phenolic content (mg GAE.g -1 DE)		7.67 ± 0.37	$7.34 \pm 0.36$
Flavonoid content (	mg CE.g -1 DE)	$7.56 \pm 0.86$	$8.55 \pm 0.36$
Lipidic content (g g -1 DE)		0.1281 ± 0.0043	$0.1238 \pm 0.0025$

No significant differences were induced by ohmic heating in comparison to conventional extraction, except for carotenoid content. The inhibition percentages of the radicals DPPH and ABTS by the extracts were found to be concentration-dependent, as expected. The deduced values of  $/C_{so}$  can also be found in Table 11. Lower  $/C_{so}$  values indicate superior antioxidant activities. The  $/C_{so}$  value attained for ABTS assay is almost 4–fold lower than the  $/C_{so}$  determined for DPPH test. DPPH has been regarded as a limited evaluator of antioxidant capacity in living systems due to its radical superior stability. Moreover, the major drawback of DPPH assay in the present study relates to carotenoid presence, which leads to a dark purple color. In this manner, this interference with the absorbance readings may explain the differences in the antioxidant power observed between the two methods (Assunção *et al.* 2017).

Concurrently, different compounds with distinctive antioxidant mechanisms of action may be presence. While the ABTS. nitrogen atom quenches the hydrogen atom, causing solution decolorization; DPPH scavenging assay depends on the presence of hydrogen-donating compounds (Ferreira-Santos et al. 2020). The concentration required to inhibit 50 % of DPPH radical by *P. tricornutum* extracts (≈ 42 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>) is comparable to the value attain for *Characiopsis* sp. ethanolic extract (44.27  $\pm$  0.39 mg mL<sup>-1</sup>), which showed the highest scavenging activity within a multiplicity of microalgae strains (Assunção et al. 2017). The FRAP analysis also revealed high antioxidant power, which agrees with a previous study performed by Goiris et al. (2012), with ethanolic extracts of P. tricornutum being within the higher antioxidant capacities observed. Both phenolic and carotenoid compounds have been recognized for their important contribution in total FRAP antioxidant activity (Goiris et al. 2012). The total phenol and flavonoid content do not follow the results attained by Safafar et al. (2015) – with 3.16 ± 0.04 mg GAE g-1 and  $0.84 \pm 0.12$  mg quercetine equivalent g<sup>-1</sup>, respectively –, with our work showing greater extraction of these compounds. The reported study highlights *P. tricornutum* lowest phenolic content when compared to other microalgae species in methanolic extracts. However, the highest phenolic content was observed for *Desmodesmus* methanolic extracts (7.72 ± 0.08 mg GAE.g -1), which is similar to the values achieved in the present work for *P. tricornutum* ethanolic extracts. Flavonoids are known to be the largest group of naturally occurring phenolic compounds (Sulaiman and Balachandran 2012), comprising a major fraction of total phenolic content in *P. tricornutum* (Rico et al. 2013). In this manner, the results suggest that an overestimation and/or underestimation of the analytical data might have occurred. Phenolic compounds analysis is determined by their source, the extraction and purification techniques employed, the storage conditions, and the presence of interfering substances (non-phenolic reducing compounds) in extracts such as fatty acids or pigments (Cotas et al. 2020). This ultimately hampers assays accuracy (Sánchez-Rangel et al. 2013). Thus, several aspects as solvent concentration, standard compound and complexation time should be evaluated and adjusted to this specific matrix (Ramos et al. 2017).

Lipids with higher unsaturation degrees enhance the antioxidant potency of microalgal extracts. In this manner, considering the high lipidic content of the extracts attained in comparison with others previously described for this diatom (Banskota *et al.* 2019), further comprehensive studies should be performed. This should pass through underlining *P. tricornutum* extracts lipidic profile, in order to assess its relation to the antioxidant behavior presented.

Altogether, it is reasonable to highlight this diatom extracts antioxidant activity when compared to other microalgae extracts, being in line with the previous statement that ethanol has an important role

in the extraction of compounds with strong antioxidant activities (Rodriguez-Garcia and Guil-Guerrero 2008; Ferreira-Santos *et al.* 2020).

To evaluate the effects of *P. tricornutum* ethanolic extracts on cell viability, *in vitro* cell metabolic activity was assess using four different cell lines: normal mouse fibroblast (L929), human lung cancer (A549), human epithelial adenocarcinoma (Hela) and human epithelial colorectal adenocarcinoma (Caco-2). The extracts impact on cell proliferation was measure by resazurin assay and the results are presented in Fig. 23.



**Figure 23** – Effect on cell viability of *P tricornutum* extracts using conventional (C) and ohmic heating (OH) treatment in four different cell lines. Values are expressed as mean and standard deviation of three independent experiments.

Generally, both extracts exhibited a dose-response suppression in all cell lines used, with no significant differences between conventional and OH extraction. The IC<sub>50</sub> value determined for normal fibroblast cells (Table 12) underlines extracts concentration range that can be safely used for their health-promoting properties. In this manner, further studies exploring *P. tricornutum* extracts potential application in cosmeceutical formulations should work with concentrations lower than 0.19 mg mL<sup>1</sup>.

# *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biorefinery: A sustainable approach to valorize microalgae biomass towards biomolecules recovery

Caco-2 cells have been recognized as a reliable intestinal cell model for nutrient uptake studies, drug absorption and toxicity analysis (Caron *et al.* 2017; Glahn 2009). In this manner, the slight variation observed in Caco-2 dose-response curve suggest lower toxicity levels in intestinal absorptive cells, which is verified by the high *IC*<sub>50</sub> values attained. These results highlight the potential interesting application of *P. tricornutum* extracts for nutraceutical purposes. Moreover, a negative impact on carcinogenic cells viability was observed, suggesting a dose-dependent anticancer activity of *P. tricornutum* extracts. However, the American Cancer Institute (NCI) establishes that crude extracts should only be considered as interesting antitumor agents when *IC*<sub>50</sub> was less than 30 µg mL<sup>-1</sup> (Saadaoui *et al.* 2020). The *IC*<sub>50</sub> values attained were much higher than the ones found for other microalgae extracts (Martínez Andrade *et al.* 2018), rejecting *P. tricornutum* extracts therapeutic use in lung and epithelial cancer pathologies.

**Table 12** – Half-maximal inhibitory concentration ( $IC_{so}$ ) of *P. tricornutum* extracts on proliferation in four different cell lines.

IC (mambel)	Conventional astraction	Obmic besting extraction
1050 (IIIg IIIL <sup></sup> )	Conventional extraction	Ommic nearing extraction
L929	$0.19 \pm 0.05$	$0.19\pm0.05$
Hela	$0.31 \pm 0.01$	$0.29 \pm 0.06$
A549	$0.40 \pm 0.06$	$0.41 \pm 0.07$
Caco-2	$1.5 \pm 0.2$	$1.7 \pm 0.1$

# 5. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK PERSPECTIVES

Microalgae species have been gaining increasing attention in the last few years due to the multiplicity of advantages that they can offer in several fields. The adoption of more sustainable and environmental-friendly approaches in product development is of growing importance, with microalgae exploration providing a novel path towards this purpose. This study provided insights into a more integrated strategy to enhance *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* properties, comprising an overlook from cultivation conditions to extracts production and characterization. Thus, the present work focused on achieving two different main fractions accountable for bioactive and technologic functions, underlying *P. tricornutum* growth conditions impact and establishing OH technology extraction tuning.

Even though UV treatment applied to *P. tricornutum* cultures as a natural selection agent did not provide a clear impact on total antioxidant ability of ethanolic extracts, it presented as a potential useful tool to enhance lipidic extraction. The combined use of specific growth conditions that can simultaneously favor both extraction and production of biocompounds of interest, might ultimately lead to a higher efficiency of the process and provide a more competitive production. Therefore, further comprehensive studies regarding UV impact on carotenoid, phenolic and lipidic profiles, as well as on astaxanthin content should be addressed.

The features of this diatom extracts demonstrate a promising potential to be used in product formulation, either for their technologic function or as a bioactive ingredient. In fact, extracts showed different biochemical profiles, depending on the solvent used, allowing to attain a broader spectrum of compounds activities. Generally, no statistically significant ( $p \le 0.05$ ) effects were observed for electric fields application, suggesting that the replacement of conventional solvent-based extraction for this technology is feasible, as a more energetically favourable alternative.

Regarding techno-functionality purposes, the applied procedures resulted in extracts with a main polysaccharide composition, with substantial co-presence of proteins and minerals. These combined extracts may be applied as functional food components, providing a more economical and environmental friendly production in line with the "zero waste" vision. Moreover, the distinctive rheologic behavior and emulsifying properties attained may be of great value for further product development studies. Extraction with ethanol 25 % at 80 °C provided the best emulsifying characteristics, which appear to be due to protein-polysaccharides synergetic effect and higher protein surface hydrophobicity exposure. Emulsifiers have been frequently used in cosmetic and food industries as additives to enhance organoleptic features and extend shelf-life (Partridge *et al.* 2019). They are known to assist in stabilization of the dispersed

phase against coalescence and to decrease interfacial tension between both liquids (Moravkova and Filip 2013). Aqueous extraction at 40 °C conferred superior mechanical properties, suggesting its possible application as thickening and gelling agent. Thickeners can partially inhibit the reaction between the chemicals in the emulsion and simultaneously modify in higher extent the rheological characteristics (Moravkova and Filip 2013). Thus, future work may rely on exploring these purified extracts' potential under coadjuvant conditions, as well as underlining other important features for cosmetic application, such as moisture-absorption and retention ability (J. Wang *et al.* 2013) and microbial charge.

Bioactive extracts showed promising antioxidant activities when compared to other microalgae extracts, enhancing ethanol important role in promoting phenolic and lipid content. Considering the high phenolic and lipid content of the extracts attained, further studies should pass through underlining *P. tricornutum* extracts profiles, in order to assess its relation to the antioxidant behavior presented. Cell viability assays suggest lower toxicity levels in intestinal absorptive cells, unravelling the potential use of this extracts for the nutraceutical and food sectors. In order to assess these extracts usefulness in cosmetic field, further studies should be adressed regarding their antimicrobial effects and ability as antioxidant preservative agents (Halla *et al.* 2018).

The present work brings new perspectives on *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* which revealed to be a valuable source of structurally diverse biologically and technologically active compounds, with high potential for further application in nutraceutical and cosmetic industries. Furthermore, this study also proved that an integrated strategy of nutrient bioextraction is feasible. In fact, the combined use of the extracts responsible for the greater technologic behavior and antioxidant performance may be useful to address a synergetic effect on the final product. This strategy could also be employed to simplify the formulation, while providing an alternative to the use of external commercial agents, which is likely to result in decreased production costs. This follows the biorefinery approach, by which an integrative perspective is aimed to minimize non-renewable energy resources consumption and negative environmental impacts, while maximize a complete and efficient biomass conversion.

In conclusion, the major goals of the present work were successfully accomplished, highlighting *P. tricornutum* extracts potential not only for the cosmeceutical industry, but also for functional foods development. Generally, further comprehensive studies are required to unravel the feasibility of this diatom extracts in product formulation.

# 6. **R**EFERENCES

- Abdel Ghaly, Mariam Al hattab. 2015. "Microalgae Oil Extraction Pre-Treatment Methods: Critical Review and Comparative Analysis." *Journal of Fundamentals of Renewable Energy and Applications* 05 (04). https://doi.org/10.4172/2090-4541.1000172.
- Acién, F.G., E Molina, A Reis, G Torzillo, G.C. Zittelli, C. Sepúlveda, and J. Masojídek. 2017. "Photobioreactors for the Production of Microalgae." In *Microalgae-Based Biofuels and Bioproducts*, 1–44. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-101023-5.00001-7.
- Agberien, Adogbeji Valentine, and Banu Örmeci. 2019. "Monitoring of Cyanobacteria in Water Using Spectrophotometry and First Derivative of Absorbance." *Water* 12 (1). https://doi.org/10.3390/w12010124.
- AHAVA. n.d. "Age Control Brightening and Anti-Fatigue Eye Cream." Accessed April 30, 2020a. https://global.ahava.com/age-control-brightening-and-anti-fatigue-eye-cream.
- -----. n.d. "Dunaliella Algae Peel-off Mask." Accessed April 30, 2020b. https://global.ahava.com/dunaliella-algae-peel-off-mask.
- Ahmed, Ishtiaq, Hafiz M. N. Iqbal, and Kuldeep Dhama. 2017. "Enzyme-Based Biodegradation of Hazardous Pollutants – An Overview." *Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences* 5 (4): 402–11. https://doi.org/10.18006/2017.5(4).402.411.
- Al-Rashed, Sarah A., Mohamed M. Ibrahim, Gehan A. El-Gaaly, Sameha Al-Shehri, and Ahmed Mostafa. 2016. "Evaluation of Radical Scavenging System in Two Microalgae in Response to Interactive Stresses of UV-B Radiation and Nitrogen Starvation." *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences* 23 (6): 706–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2016.06.010.
- Algenist ®. n.d. "GENIUS Liquid Collagen™." Accessed April 30, 2020a. https://www.algenist.com/products/genius-liquid-collagen.
- -----. n.d. "GENIUS Ultimate Anti-Aging Vitamin C+ Serum." Accessed April 30, 2020b. https://www.algenist.com/products/genius-ultimate-anti-aging-vitamin-c-serum.
  - ----. n.d. "Microalgae Oil." Accessed April 30, 2020c. https://www.algenist.com/pages/technology/#microalgae-oil.
- Alves, Anabela, Rui A. Sousa, and Rui L. Reis. 2013. "A Practical Perspective on Ulvan Extracted from Green Algae." *Journal of Applied Phycology* 25 (2): 407–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-012-9875-4.
- Alves, Vítor D., Filomena Freitas, Nuno Costa, Mónica Carvalheira, Rui Oliveira, Maria P. Gonçalves, and Maria A.M. Reis. 2010. "Effect of Temperature on the Dynamic and Steady-Shear Rheology of a New Microbial Extracellular Polysaccharide Produced from Glycerol Byproduct." *Carbohydrate Polymers* 79 (4): 981–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2009.10.026.
- Amin, M, P Chetpattananondh, M N Khan, F Mushtaq, and S K Sami. 2018. "Extraction and Quantification of Chlorophyll from Microalgae *Chlorella sp.*" *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering* 414 (September). https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/414/1/012025.
#### *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biorefinery: A sustainable approach to valorize microalgae biomass towards BIOMOLECULES RECOVERY

- An, H. J., and J. M. King. 2007. "Thermal Characteristics of Ohmically Heated Rice Starch and Rice Flours." *Journal of Food Science* 72 (1). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2006.00239.x.
- Andrade, R. J., A. G. Azevedo, R. M. Musampa, and João M. Maia. 2010. "Thermo-Rheological Behavior of Model Protein–Polysaccharide Mixtures." *Rheologica Acta* 49 (4): 401–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00397-010-0431-3.
- Aneiros, Abel, and Anoland Garateix. 2004. "Bioactive Peptides from Marine Sources: Pharmacological Properties and Isolation Procedures." *Journal of Chromatography B* 803: 41–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2003.11.005.
- Araujo, Glacio S., Leonardo J.B.L. Matos, Jader O. Fernandes, Samuel J.M. Cartaxo, Luciana R.B. Gonçalves, Fabiano A.N. Fernandes, and Wladimir R.L. Farias. 2013. "Extraction of Lipids from Microalgae by Ultrasound Application: Prospection of the Optimal Extraction Method." *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry* 20 (1): 95–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2012.07.027.
- Ariede, Maíra Bueno, Thalita Marcílio Candido, Ana Lucia Morocho Jacome, Maria Valéria Robles Velasco, João Carlos M. de Carvalho, and André Rolim Baby. 2017. "Cosmetic Attributes of Algae - A Review." *Algal Research* 25 (July): 483–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2017.05.019.
- Armbrust, E. Virginia. 2009. "The Life of Diatoms in the World's Oceans." *Nature* 459 (7244): 185–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08057.
- Armstrong, F. A. J. 1963. "Determination of Nitrate in Water Ultraviolet Spectrophotometry." *Analytical Chemistry* 35 (9): 1292–94. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac60202a036.
- Assunção, Mariana F. G., Raquel Amaral, Clara B. Martins, Joana D. Ferreira, Sandrine Ressurreição, Sandra Dias Santos, Jorge M. T. B. Varejão, and Lília M. A. Santos. 2017. "Screening Microalgae as Potential Sources of Antioxidants." *Journal of Applied Phycology* 29 (2): 865–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-016-0980-7.
- Augst, Alexander D., Hyun Joon Kong, and David J. Mooney. 2006. "Alginate Hydrogels as Biomaterials." *Macromolecular Bioscience* 6 (8): 623–33. https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.200600069.
- Baby, André Rolim, Ketylin Fernanda Migliato, Carolina Penteado Moraes Maciel, Vivian Zague, Claudinéia Aparecida Sales de Olive Pinto, Hérida Regina Nunes Salgado, Telma Mary Kaneko, and Maria Valéria Robles Velasco. 2007. "Accelerated Chemical Stability Data of O/W Fluid Emulsions Containing the Extract of Trichilia Catigua Adr. Juss (and) Ptychopetalum Olacoides Bentham." *Revista Brasileira de Ciências Farmacêuticas* 43 (3). https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-93322007000300009.
- Bajguz, Andrzej, and Alicja Piotrowska-Niczyporuk. 2013. "Synergistic Effect of Auxins and Brassinosteroids on the Growth and Regulation of Metabolite Content in the Green Alga *Chlorella vulgaris* (Trebouxiophyceae)." *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 71 (October): 290–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2013.08.003.
- Banskota, Arjun H., Sandra Sperker, Roumiana Stefanova, Patrick J. McGinn, and Stephen J. B. O'Leary. 2019. "Antioxidant Properties and Lipid Composition of Selected Microalgae." *Journal of Applied Phycology* 31 (1): 309–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-018-1523-1.
- Barbarino, Elisabete, and Sergio O. Lourenço. 2005. "An Evaluation of Methods for Extraction and Quantification of Protein from Marine Macro- and Microalgae." *Journal of Applied Phycology* 17 (5):

# *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biorefinery: A sustainable approach to valorize microalgae biomass towards biomolecules recovery

447-60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-005-1641-4.

- Barkia, Ines, Nazamid Saari, and Schonna R. Manning. 2019. "Microalgae for High-Value Products Towards Human Health and Nutrition." *Marine Drugs* 17 (5): 304. https://doi.org/10.3390/md17050304.
- Bart, Jan C.J., Natale Palmeri, and Stefano Cavallaro. 2010. "Feedstocks for Biodiesel Production." In *Biodiesel Science and Technology*, 130–225. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1533/9781845697761.130.
- Benzie, Iris F.F., and J.J. Strain. 1996. "The Ferric Reducing Ability of Plasma (FRAP) as a Measure of 'Antioxidant Power': The FRAP Assay." *Analytical Biochemistry* 239 (1): 70–76. https://doi.org/10.1006/abio.1996.0292.
- Bernaerts, Tom M.M., Lore Gheysen, Imogen Foubert, Marc E. Hendrickx, and Ann M. Van Loey. 2019. "The Potential of Microalgae and Their Biopolymers as Structuring Ingredients in Food: A Review." *Biotechnology Advances* 37 (8): 107419. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2019.107419.
- Bernaerts, Tom M.M., Lore Gheysen, Clare Kyomugasho, Zahra Jamsazzadeh Kermani, Stéphanie Vandionant, Imogen Foubert, Marc E Hendrickx, and Ann M. Van Loey. 2018. "Comparison of Microalgal Biomasses as Functional Food Ingredients: Focus on the Composition of Cell Wall Related Polysaccharides." *Algal Research* 32 (October 2017): 150–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2018.03.017.
- Bernaerts, Tom M.M., Clare Kyomugasho, Noor Van Looveren, Lore Gheysen, Imogen Foubert, Marc E. Hendrickx, and Ann M. Van Loey. 2018. "Molecular and Rheological Characterization of Different Cell Wall Fractions of *Porphyridium cruentum*." *Carbohydrate Polymers* 195 (September): 542–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2018.05.001.
- Bhalamurugan, Gatamaneni Loganathan, Orsat Valerie, and Lefsrud Mark. 2018. "Valuable Bioproducts Obtained from Microalgal Biomass and Their Commercial Applications: A Review." *Environmental Engineering Research* 23 (3): 229–41. https://doi.org/10.4491/eer.2017.220.
- Bhowmick, Goldy De, Ajit K. Sarmah, and Ramkrishna Sen. 2019. "Zero-Waste Algal Biorefinery for Bioenergy and Biochar: A Green Leap towards Achieving Energy and Environmental Sustainability." *Science of The Total Environment* 650 (February): 2467–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.002.
- Bilal, Muhammad, Tahir Rasheed, Juan Sosa-Hernández, Ali Raza, Faran Nabeel, and Hafiz Iqbal. 2018. "Biosorption: An Interplay between Marine Algae and Potentially Toxic Elements—A Review." *Marine Drugs* 16 (2): 65. https://doi.org/10.3390/md16020065.
- Bitaubé Pérez, E., I. Caro Pina, and L. Pérez Rodríguez. 2008. "Kinetic Model for Growth of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* in Intensive Culture Photobioreactor." *Biochemical Engineering Journal* 40 (3): 520–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2008.02.007.
- Bleakley, Stephen, and Maria Hayes. 2017. "Algal Proteins: Extraction, Application, and Challenges Concerning Production." *Foods* 6 (5): 33. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods6050033.
- Bligh, E. G., and W. J. Dyer. 1959. "A Rapid Method of Total Lipid Extraction and Purification." *Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology* 37 (8): 911–17. https://doi.org/10.1139/o59-099.

- Bondioli, Paolo, and Laura Della Bella. 2005. "An Alternative Spectrophotometric Method for the Determination of Free Glycerol in Biodiesel." *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* 107 (3): 153–57. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.200401054.
- Borowitzka, Michael A. 2013. "High-Value Products from Microalgae—Their Development and Commercialisation." *Journal of Applied Phycology* 25 (3): 743–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-013-9983-9.
- Bouchard, Andréanne, Gerard W. Hofland, and Geert-Jan Witkamp. 2007. "Properties of Sugar, Polyol, and Polysaccharide Water–ethanol Solutions." *Journal of Chemical & Engineering Data* 52 (5): 1838–42. https://doi.org/10.1021/je700190m.
- Bouyer, Eléonore, Ghozlene Mekhloufi, Véronique Rosilio, Jean-Louis Grossiord, and Florence Agnely. 2012. "Proteins, Polysaccharides, and Their Complexes Used as Stabilizers for Emulsions: Alternatives to Synthetic Surfactants in the Pharmaceutical Field?" *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* 436 (October): 359–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2012.06.052.
- Bradford, Marion M. 1976. "A Rapid and Sensitive Method for the Quantitation of Microgram Quantities of Protein Utilizing the Principle of Protein-Dye Binding." *Analytical Biochemistry* 72 (1–2): 248–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(76)90527-3.
- Branco-Vieira, Monique, Sergio San Martin, Cristian Agurto, Marcos A.V. Freitas, Teresa M. Mata, António A. Martins, and Nídia Caetano. 2018. "Biochemical Characterization of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* for Microalgae-Based Biorefinery." *Energy Procedia* 153 (October): 466–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2018.10.079.
- Burgos-Díaz, César, José A. Piornos, Traudy Wandersleben, Takahiro Ogura, Xaviera Hernández, and Mónica Rubilar. 2016. "Emulsifying and Foaming Properties of Different Protein Fractions Obtained from a Novel Lupin Variety AluProt-CGNA® (Lupinus Luteus)." *Journal of Food Science* 81 (7). https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.13350.
- Caballero, Michael A., Denis Jallet, Libin Shi, Chris Rithner, Yun Zhang, and Graham Peers. 2016. "Quantification of Chrysolaminarin from the Model Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum.*" *Algal Research* 20 (December): 180–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2016.10.008.
- "Cargill: Skin Care/Face." n.d. Accessed June 1, 2019. https://www.cargill.com/personalcare/applications/skin-care-face.
- Caron, Juliette, Dorothée Domenger, Pascal Dhulster, Rozenn Ravallec, and Benoit Cudennec. 2017. "Using Caco-2 Cells as Novel Identification Tool for Food-Derived DPP-IV Inhibitors." *Food Research International* 92 (February): 113–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2017.01.002.
- Cerón-García, M.C., J.M. Fernández-Sevilla, A. Sánchez-Mirón, F. García-Camacho, A. Contreras-Gómez, and E. Molina-Grima. 2013. "Mixotrophic Growth of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* on Fructose and Glycerol in Fed-Batch and Semi-Continuous Modes." *Bioresource Technology* 147 (November): 569–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.08.092.
- Cerón García, M. C., Camacho Francisco Garcia, Miron A.Sanchez, Sevilla José María Fernandez, Yusuf Chisti, and Grima Emilio Molina. 2006. "Mixotrophic Production of Marine Microalga *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* on Various Carbon Sources." *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 16 (5): 689–94.

- Chauton, Matilde Skogen, Per Winge, Tore Brembu, Olav Vadstein, and Atle M. Bones. 2013. "Gene Regulation of Carbon Fixation, Storage, and Utilization in the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Acclimated to Light/Dark Cycles." *Plant Physiology* 161 (2): 1034–48. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.112.206177.
- Che Sulaiman, Intan Soraya, Mahiran Basri, Hamid Reza Fard Masoumi, Wei Jian Chee, Siti Efliza Ashari, and Maznah Ismail. 2017. "Effects of Temperature, Time, and Solvent Ratio on the Extraction of Phenolic Compounds and the Anti-Radical Activity of *Clinacanthus Nutans* Lindau Leaves by Response Surface Methodology." *Chemistry Central Journal* 11 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13065-017-0285-1.
- Cheirsilp, Benjamas, and Salwa Torpee. 2012. "Enhanced Growth and Lipid Production of Microalgae under Mixotrophic Culture Condition: Effect of Light Intensity, Glucose Concentration and Fed-Batch Cultivation." *Bioresource Technology* 110 (April): 510–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.01.125.
- Chemat, Farid, Anne Sylvie Fabiano-Tixier, Maryline Abert Vian, Tamara Allaf, and Eugene Vorobiev. 2015. "Solvent-Free Extraction of Food and Natural Products." *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry* 71 (September): 157–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2015.02.021.
- Chemat, Farid, Maryline Abert Vian, and Giancarlo Cravotto. 2012. "Green Extraction of Natural Products: Concept and Principles." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 13 (7): 8615–27. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms13078615.
- Chen, Jiejin, Dmitri Toptygin, Ludwig Brand, and Jonathan King. 2008. "Mechanism of the Efficient Tryptophan Fluorescence Quenching in Human ΓD-Crystallin Studied by Time Resolved Fluorescence." *Biochemistry* 47 (40): 10705–21. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi800499k.
- Chen, Wei, Wei-Ping Wang, Hua-Shan Zhang, and Qin Huang. 2012. "Optimization of Ultrasonic-Assisted Extraction of Water-Soluble Polysaccharides from Boletus Edulis Mycelia Using Response Surface Methodology." *Carbohydrate Polymers* 87 (1): 614–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2011.08.029.
- Cherubini, Francesco. 2010. "The Biorefinery Concept: Using Biomass Instead of Oil for Producing Energy and Chemicals." *Energy Conversion and Management* 51 (7): 1412–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2010.01.015.
- Chew, Kit Wayne, Jing Ying Yap, Pau Loke Show, Ng Hui Suan, Joon Ching Juan, Tau Chuan Ling, Duu-Jong Lee, and Jo-Shu Chang. 2017. "Microalgae Biorefinery: High Value Products Perspectives." *Bioresource Technology* 229 (April): 53–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.01.006.
- Choi, Hee-Jeong, and Sung-Whan Yu. 2015. "Influence of Crude Glycerol on the Biomass and Lipid Content of Microalgae." *Biotechnology & Biotechnological Equipment* 29 (3): 506–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/13102818.2015.1013988.
- Christaki, Efterpi, Eleftherios Bonos, Ilias Giannenas, and Panagiota Florou-Paneri. 2013. "Functional Properties of Carotenoids Originating from Algae." *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 93 (1): 5–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.5902.
- Chronakis, Ioannis S. 2001. "Gelation of Edible Blue-Green Algae Protein Isolate (*Spirulina platensis* strain pacifica): Thermal Transitions, Rheological Properties, and Molecular Forces Involved." *Journal of*

Agricultural and Food Chemistry 49 (2): 888–98. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0005059.

- Coast Southwest™. n.d. "Astaderm™." Accessed April 30, 2020. https://www.coastsouthwest.com/astaderm/.
- Coates, John. 2006. "Interpretation of Infrared Spectra, A Practical Approach." In *Encyclopedia of Analytical Chemistry*. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470027318.a5606.
- Costaouëc, Tinaïg Le, Carlos Unamunzaga, Lalia Mantecon, and William Helbert. 2017. "New Structural Insights into the Cell-Wall Polysaccharide of the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*." *Algal Research* 26: 172–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2017.07.021.
- Cotas, João, Adriana Leandro, Pedro Monteiro, Diana Pacheco, Artur Figueirinha, Ana M. M. Gonçalves, Gabriela Jorge da Silva, and Leonel Pereira. 2020. "Seaweed Phenolics: From Extraction to Applications." *Marine Drugs* 18 (8). https://doi.org/10.3390/md18080384.
- Cravotto, Giancarlo, Luisa Boffa, Stefano Mantegna, Patrizia Perego, Milvio Avogadro, and Pedro Cintas. 2008. "Improved Extraction of Vegetable Oils under High-Intensity Ultrasound and/or Microwaves." *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry* 15 (5): 898–902. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2007.10.009.
- Cruces, Edgardo, María Rosa Flores-Molina, María José Díaz, Pirjo Huovinen, and Iván Gómez. 2018. "Phenolics as Photoprotective Mechanism against Combined Action of UV Radiation and Temperature in the Red Alga *Gracilaria chilensis*?" *Journal of Applied Phycology* 30 (2): 1247–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-017-1304-2.
- Curnutt, Austin, Kaylee Smith, Emily Darrow, and Keisha B. Walters. 2020. "Chemical and Microstructural Characterization of pH and [Ca<sup>2+</sup>] Dependent Sol-Gel Transitions in Mucin Biopolymer." *Scientific Reports* 10 (December). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-65392-4.
- de-Bashan, Luz E., Hani Antoun, and Yoav Bashan. 2008. "Involvement of Indole-3-Acetic Acid Produced by the Growth-Promoting Bacterium *Azospirillum spp*. in Promoting Growth of *Chlorella vulgaris*." *Journal of Phycology* 44 (4): 938–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2008.00533.x.
- "DHC: Astaxanthin Collagen All-in-One Gel." n.d. Accessed June 1, 2019. https://www.dhccare.com/astaxanthin-collagen-all-in-one-gel.html.
- Dickinson, Eric. 2012. "Emulsion Gels: The Structuring of Soft Solids with Protein-Stabilized Oil Droplets." *Food Hydrocolloids* 28 (1): 224–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2011.12.017.
- Dragosits, Martin, and Diethard Mattanovich. 2013. "Adaptive Laboratory Evolution Principles and Applications for Biotechnology." *Microbial Cell Factories* 12 (1): 64. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2859-12-64.
- Dunbar, Bonnie S. 1987. "Sample Preparation for Electrophoresis." In *Two-Dimensional Electrophoresis and Immunological Techniques*, 47–65. Boston, MA: Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4613-1957-3\_3.
- Duy, C., and J. Fitter. 2006. "How Aggregation and Conformational Scrambling of Unfolded States Govern Fluorescence Emission Spectra." *Biophysical Journal* 90 (10): 3704–11. https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.105.078980.

- Ebert, Sandra, Lutz Grossmann, Jörg Hinrichs, and Jochen Weiss. 2019. "Emulsifying Properties of Water-Soluble Proteins Extracted from the Microalgae *Chlorella sorokiniana* and *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*." *Food & Function* 10 (2): 754–64. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8F002197J.
- Eftink, M.R. 1994. "The Use of Fluorescence Methods to Monitor Unfolding Transitions in Proteins." *Biophysical Journal* 66 (2): 482–501. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(94)80799-4.
- ELEMIS. n.d. "Pro-Collagen Marine Cream SPF 30." Accessed April 30, 2020. https://www.elemis.com/pro-collagen-marine-cream-spf-30.html.
- Farjami, Toktam, and Ashkan Madadlou. 2019. "An Overview on Preparation of Emulsion-Filled Gels and Emulsion Particulate Gels." *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 86 (April): 85–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2019.02.043.
- Fernandes, Andrêssa S., Gabriela P. Nogara, Cristiano R. Menezes, Alexandre J. Cichoski, Adriana Z. Mercadante, Eduardo Jacob-Lopes, and Leila Q. Zepka. 2017. "Identification of Chlorophyll Molecules with Peroxyl Radical Scavenger Capacity in Microalgae *Phormidium autumnale* Using Ultrasound-Assisted Extraction." *Food Research International* 99 (September): 1036–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2016.11.011.
- Fernandes, Bruno, José Teixeira, Giuliano Dragone, António A. Vicente, Shigeyuki Kawano, Kateřina Bišová, Pavel Přibyl, Vilém Zachleder, and Milada Vítová. 2013. "Relationship between Starch and Lipid Accumulation Induced by Nutrient Depletion and Replenishment in the Microalga *Parachlorella kessleri.*" *Bioresource Technology* 144 (September): 268–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.06.096.
- Fernandes, Melissa. 2018. "Portugal Acolhe a Maior Plataforma de Produção de Microalgas Da Europa," 2018.
- Fernando, I. P. Shanura, K. K. Asanka Sanjeewa, Kalpa W. Samarakoon, Won Woo Lee, Hyun-Soo Kim, Eun-A Kim, U. K. D. S. S. Gunasekara, *et al.* 2017. "FTIR Characterization and Antioxidant Activity of Water Soluble Crude Polysaccharides of Sri Lankan Marine Algae." *ALGAE* 32 (1): 75–86. https://doi.org/10.4490/algae.2017.32.12.1.
- Ferreira-Santos, Pedro, Zlatina Genisheva, Cláudia Botelho, Joana Santos, Carla Ramos, José A. Teixeira, and Cristina M.R. Rocha. 2020. "Unravelling the Biological Potential of *Pinus pinaster* Bark Extracts." *Antioxidants* 9 (4). https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox9040334.
- Fontes, Gizele Cardoso, Priscilla Filomena Fonseca Amaral, Marcio Nele, and Maria Alice Zarur Coelho. 2010. "Factorial Design to Optimize Biosurfactant Production by *Yarrowia lipolytica*." *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/821306.
- Fu, Weiqi, Amphun Chaiboonchoe, Basel Khraiwesh, David Nelson, Dina Al-Khairy, Alexandra Mystikou, Amnah Alzahmi, and Kourosh Salehi-Ashtiani. 2016. "Algal Cell Factories: Approaches, Applications, and Potentials." *Marine Drugs* 14 (12): 225. https://doi.org/10.3390/md14120225.
- Fujiki, T. 2002. "Variability in Chlorophyll a Specific Absorption Coefficient in Marine Phytoplankton as a Function of Cell Size and Irradiance." *Journal of Plankton Research* 24 (9): 859–74. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/24.9.859.
- Galasso, Christian, Antonio Gentile, Ida Orefice, Adrianna Ianora, Antonino Bruno, Douglas M. Noonan, Clementina Sansone, Adriana Albini, and Christophe Brunet. 2019. "Microalgal Derivatives as

Potential Nutraceutical and Food Supplements for Human Health: A Focus on Cancer Prevention and Interception." *Nutrients* 11 (6): 1226. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11061226.

- Gao, Baoyan, Ailing Chen, Wenyuan Zhang, Aifen Li, and Chengwu Zhang. 2017. "Co-Production of Lipids, Eicosapentaenoic Acid, Fucoxanthin, and Chrysolaminarin by *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Cultured in a Flat-Plate Photobioreactor under Varying Nitrogen Conditions." *Journal of Ocean University of China* 16 (5): 916–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11802-017-3174-2.
- García, M.C. Cerón, J.M. Fernandez Sevilla, F.G. Acién Fernández, E. Molina Grima, and F. García Camacho. 2000. "Mixotrophic Growth of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* on Glycerol: Growth Rate and Fatty Acid Profile." *Journal of Applied Phycology* 12: 239–48. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1008123000002.
- García, M.C. Cerón, A. Sánchez Mirón, J.M. Fernández Sevilla, E. Molina Grima, and F. García Camacho.
  2005. "Mixotrophic Growth of the Microalga *Phaeodactylum tricornutum.*" *Process Biochemistry* 40 (1): 297–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2004.01.016.
- Getachew, Adane Tilahun, Charlotte Jacobsen, and Susan Løvstad Holdt. 2020. "Emerging Technologies for the Extraction of Marine Phenolics: Opportunities and Challenges." *Marine Drugs* 18 (8). https://doi.org/10.3390/md18080389.
- Ghisaidoobe, Amar, and Sang Chung. 2014. "Intrinsic Tryptophan Fluorescence in the Detection and Analysis of Proteins: A Focus on Förster Resonance Energy Transfer Techniques." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 15 (12). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms151222518.
- Gilbert, Laura, Céline Picard, Géraldine Savary, and Michel Grisel. 2013. "Rheological and Textural Characterization of Cosmetic Emulsions Containing Natural and Synthetic Polymers: Relationships between Both Data." *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects* 421 (March): 150–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2013.01.003.
- Glahn, R. 2009. "The Use of Caco-2 Cells in Defining Nutrient Bioavailability: Application to Iron Bioavailability of Foods." In *Designing Functional Foods*, 340–61. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1533/9781845696603.2.340.
- Goiris, Koen, Koenraad Muylaert, Ilse Fraeye, Imogen Foubert, Jos De Brabanter, and Luc De Cooman. 2012. "Antioxidant Potential of Microalgae in Relation to Their Phenolic and Carotenoid Content." *Journal of Applied Phycology* 24 (6): 1477–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-012-9804-6.
- Gómez-Ordóñez, Eva, Antonio Jiménez-Escrig, and Pilar Rupérez. 2012. "Molecular Weight Distribution of Polysaccharides from Edible Seaweeds by High-Performance Size-Exclusion Chromatography (HPSEC)." *Talanta* 93 (May): 153–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2012.01.067.
- Gómez-Ordóñez, Eva, and Pilar Rupérez. 2011. "FTIR-ATR Spectroscopy as a Tool for Polysaccharide Identification in Edible Brown and Red Seaweeds." *Food Hydrocolloids* 25 (6): 1514–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2011.02.009.
- Granata, Tim. 2017. "Dependency of Microalgal Production on Biomass and the Relationship to Y Yield and Bioreactor Scale-up for Biofuels: A Statistical Analysis of 60+ Years of Algal Bioreactor Data." *BioEnergy Research* 10 (1): 267–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12155-016-9787-2.
- Griffiths, Melinda J., Clive Garcin, Robert P. van Hille, and Susan T.L. Harrison. 2011. "Interference by Pigment in the Estimation of Microalgal Biomass Concentration by Optical Density." *Journal of*

*Microbiological Methods* 85 (2): 119–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2011.02.005.

- Grossmann, Lutz, Jörg Hinrichs, and Jochen Weiss. 2019. "Solubility of Extracted Proteins from Chlorella Sorokiniana, *Phaeodactylum Tricornutum*, and *Nannochloropsis oceanica*: Impact of PH-Value." *LWT* 105 (May): 408–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2019.01.040.
- Grosso, Clara, Patrícia Valentão, Federico Ferreres, and Paula Andrade. 2015. "Alternative and Efficient Extraction Methods for Marine-Derived Compounds." *Marine Drugs* 13 (5): 3182–3230. https://doi.org/10.3390/md13053182.
- Gügi, Bruno, Tinaïg Le Costaouec, Carole Burel, Patrice Lerouge, William Helbert, and Muriel Bardor. 2015. "Diatom-Specific Oligosaccharide and Polysaccharide Structures Help to Unravel Biosynthetic Capabilities in Diatoms." *Marine Drugs* 13 (9): 5993–6018. https://doi.org/10.3390/md13095993.
- Guihéneuf, Freddy, Manuela Fouqueray, Virginie Mimouni, Lionel Ulmann, Boris Jacquette, and Gérard Tremblin. 2010. "Effect of UV Stress on the Fatty Acid and Lipid Class Composition in Two Marine Microalgae *Pavlova lutheri* (Pavlovophyceae) and *Odontella aurita* (Bacillariophyceae)." *Journal of Applied Phycology* 22 (5): 629–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-010-9503-0.
- Guillard, Robert R. L. 1975. "Culture of Phytoplankton for Feeding Marine Invertebrates." In *Culture of Marine Invertebrate Animals*, 29–60. Boston, MA: Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-8714-9\_3.
- Gupta, Prabuddha L., Seung-Mok Lee, and Hee-Jeong Choi. 2015. "A Mini Review: Photobioreactors for Large Scale Algal Cultivation." *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 31 (9): 1409–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-015-1892-4.
- Halac, Silvana, Ernesto García-Mendoza, and Anastazia T. Banaszak. 2009. "Ultraviolet Radiation Reduces the Photoprotective Capacity of the Marine Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* (Bacillariophyceae, Heterokontophyta)." *Photochemistry and Photobiology* 85 (3): 807–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-1097.2008.00497.x.
- Halla, Noureddine, Isabel Fernandes, Sandrina Heleno, Patrícia Costa, Zahia Boucherit-Otmani, Kebir Boucherit, Alírio Rodrigues, Isabel Ferreira, and Maria Barreiro. 2018. "Cosmetics Preservation: A Review on Present Strategies." *Molecules* 23 (7). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23071571.
- He, Liyan, Xiaotian Han, and Zhiming Yu. 2014. "A Rare *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Cruciform Morphotype: Culture Conditions, Transformation and Unique Fatty Acid Characteristics." Edited by Hector Escriva. *PLOS ONE* 9 (4): e93922. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0093922.
- Hermansson, Elin, Erich Schuster, Lars Lindgren, Annika Altskär, and Anna Ström. 2016. "Impact of Solvent Quality on the Network Strength and Structure of Alginate Gels." *Carbohydrate Polymers* 144 (June): 289–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2016.02.069.
- Higgins, Brendan T., and Jean S. VanderGheynst. 2014. "Effects of *Escherichia coli* on Mixotrophic Growth of *Chlorella minutissima* and Production of Biofuel Precursors." Edited by Dwayne Elias. *PLoS ONE* 9 (5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096807.
- Huang, Tse-Hung, Pei-Wen Wang, Shih-Chun Yang, Wei-Ling Chou, and Jia-You Fang. 2018. "Cosmetic and Therapeutic Applications of Fish Oil's Fatty Acids on the Skin." *Marine Drugs* 16 (8): 256. https://doi.org/10.3390/md16080256.

#### *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biorefinery: A sustainable approach to valorize microalgae biomass towards BIOMOLECULES RECOVERY

- Hull, Natalie M., Mythili R. Isola, Brian Petri, Po-Shun Chan, and Karl G. Linden. 2017. "Algal DNA Repair Kinetics Support Culture-Based Enumeration for Validation of Ultraviolet Disinfection Ballast Water Treatment Systems." *Environmental Science & Technology Letters* 4 (5): 192–96. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.7b00076.
- Ibañez, Elena, and Alejandro Cifuentes. 2013. "Benefits of Using Algae as Natural Sources of Functional Ingredients." *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 93 (4): 703–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.6023.
- Inc, CALM SkinCare. n.d. "Hot Chocolate Aromatherapy Powder Facial Mask." Accessed June 1, 2019. https://www.calmskincare.com/hot-chocolate-aromatherapy-powder-facial-maskp/609224803406.htm.
- Israsena Na Ayudhya, Theppawut, Frederick T. Posey, Jessica C. Tyus, and Nin N. Dingra. 2015. "Using a Microscale Approach to Rapidly Separate and Characterize Three Photosynthetic Pigment Species from Fern." *Journal of Chemical Education* 92 (5): 920–23. https://doi.org/10.1021/ed500344c.
- Jackson, Michael, and Henry H. Mantsch. 1995. "The Use and Misuse of FTIR Spectroscopy in the Determination of Protein Structure." *Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 30 (2): 95–120. https://doi.org/10.3109/10409239509085140.
- Jaubert, Marianne, Jean-Pierre Bouly, Maurizio Ribera d'Alcalà, and Angela Falciatore. 2017. "Light Sensing and Responses in Marine Microalgae." *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 37 (June): 70–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2017.03.005.
- Jensen, Erik L., Karen Yangüez, Frédéric Carrière, and Brigitte Gontero. 2019. "Storage Compound Accumulation in Diatoms as Response to Elevated CO<sub>2</sub> Concentration." *Biology* 9 (1). https://doi.org/10.3390/biology9010005.
- Jeong, Seok Won, Seung Won Nam, Kwon HwangBo, Won Joong Jeong, Byeong-ryool Jeong, Yong Keun Chang, and Youn-II Park. 2017. "Transcriptional Regulation of Cellulose Biosynthesis during the Early Phase of Nitrogen Deprivation in *Nannochloropsis salina*." *Scientific Reports* 7 (1): 5264. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-05684-4.
- Ji, Lei, Yong Xue, Dandan Feng, Zhaojie Li, and Changhu Xue. 2017. "Morphology and Gelation Properties of Konjac Glucomannan: Effect of Microwave Processing." *International Journal of Food Properties* 20 (12): 3023–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/10942912.2016.1270962.
- Jokiel, P. L., and R. H. York. 1984. "Importance of Ultraviolet Radiation in Photoinhibition of Microalgal Growth." *Limnology and Oceanography* 29 (1): 192–98. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1984.29.1.0192.
- K., Amit, and Prasun Bandyopadhyay. 2012. "Polysaccharide-Protein Interactions and Their Relevance in Food Colloids." In *The Complex World of Polysaccharides*. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/50561.
- Kacuráková, M. 2000. "FT-IR Study of Plant Cell Wall Model Compounds: Pectic Polysaccharides and Hemicelluloses." *Carbohydrate Polymers* 43 (2): 195–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0144-8617(00)00151-X.
- Kadam, Shekhar U, Brijesh K Tiwari, and Colm P. O'Donnell. 2013. "Application of Novel Extraction Technologies for Bioactives from Marine Algae." *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 61 (20):

4667–75. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf400819p.

Kammeyer, A, and R M Luiten. 2015. "Ac Ce Pt e d T." https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2015.01.001.

- Kato, Akio, Yukiko Osako, Naotoshi Matsudomi, and Kunihiko Kobayashi. 1983. "Changes in the Emulsifying and Foaming Properties of Proteins during Heat Denaturation." *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry* 47 (1): 33–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/00021369.1983.10865579.
- Kaur, Nimratbir, and A. K. Singh. 2016. "Ohmic Heating: Concept and Applications—A Review." *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* 56 (14): 2338–51. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2013.835303.
- Kazir, Meital, Yarden Abuhassira, Arthur Robin, Omri Nahor, Jincheng Luo, Alvaro Israel, Alexander Golberg, and Yoav D. Livney. 2019. "Extraction of Proteins from Two Marine Macroalgae, *Ulva sp.* and *Gracilaria sp.*, for Food Application, and Evaluating Digestibility, Amino Acid Composition and Antioxidant Properties of the Protein Concentrates." *Food Hydrocolloids* 87 (February): 194–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2018.07.047.
- Kempkes, Michael A. 2016. *Pulsed Electric Fields for Algal Extraction and Predator Control*. Edited by Damijan Miklavcic. *Handbook of Electroporation*. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-26779-1.
- Kha, Tuyen C., Minh H. Nguyen, and Paul D. Roach. 2010. "Effects of Spray Drying Conditions on the Physicochemical and Antioxidant Properties of the Gac (*Momordica cochinchinensis*) Fruit Aril Powder." *Journal of Food Engineering* 98 (3): 385–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2010.01.016.
- Khan, Muhammad Imran, Jin Hyuk Shin, and Jong Deog Kim. 2018. "The Promising Future of Microalgae: Current Status, Challenges, and Optimization of a Sustainable and Renewable Industry for Biofuels, Feed, and Other Products." *Microbial Cell Factories* 17 (36): 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12934-018-0879-x.
- Kim, Hyun-Min, Jin Hyuk Jung, Ji Yea Kim, Jina Heo, Dae-Hyun Cho, Hee-Sik Kim, Sungkwan An, In-Sook An, and Seunghee Bae. 2019. "The Protective Effect of Violaxanthin from *Nannochloropsis oceanica* against Ultraviolet B-induced Damage in Normal Human Dermal Fibroblasts." *Photochemistry and Photobiology* 95 (2): 595–604. https://doi.org/10.1111/php.13030.
- Kim, Ji, Jae-eun Lee, Kyoung Heon Kim, and Nam Joo Kang. 2018. "Beneficial Effects of Marine Algae-Derived Carbohydrates for Skin Health." *Marine Drugs* 16 (11): 459. https://doi.org/10.3390/md16110459.
- Kim, Sang Min, Yu-Jin Jung, Oh-Nam Kwon, Kwang Hyun Cha, Byung-Hun Um, Donghwa Chung, and Cheol-Ho Pan. 2012. "A Potential Commercial Source of Fucoxanthin Extracted from the Microalga *Phaeodactylum tricornutum.*" *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology* 166 (7): 1843–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-012-9602-2.
- Kim, Se-Kwon, Y Dominic Ravichandran, Sher Bahadar Khan, and Young Tae Kim. 2008. "Prospective of the Cosmeceuticals Derived from Marine Organisms." *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering* 13 (5): 511–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-008-0113-5.
- Kligman, M. 2000. "A Dermatologist Looks to the Future: Promises and Problems." *Dermatologic Clinics* 18 (4): 699–709.

- Knirsch, Marcos Camargo, Carolina Alves dos Santos, António Augusto Martins de Oliveira Soares Vicent, and Thereza Christina Vessoni Penna. 2010. "Ohmic Heating – a Review." *Trends in Food Science* & *Technology* 21 (9): 436–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2010.06.003.
- Koller, Martin, Alexander Muhr, and Gerhart Braunegg. 2014. "Microalgae as Versatile Cellular Factories for Valued Products." *Algal Research* 6 (PA): 52–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2014.09.002.
- Kong, Jilie, and Shaoning Yu. 2007. "Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopic Analysis of Protein Secondary Structures." *Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica* 39 (8): 549–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-7270.2007.00320.x.
- Kováčik, Jozef, Bořivoj Klejdus, and Martin Bačkor. 2010. "Physiological Responses of *Scenedesmus quadricauda* (Chlorophyceae) to UV-A and UV-C Light." *Photochemistry and Photobiology* 86 (3): 612–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-1097.2010.00708.x.
- Kumar, Vinod, Manisha Nanda, Sanjay Kumar, and Pankaj K. Chauhan. 2018. "The Effects of Ultraviolet Radiation on Growth, Biomass, Lipid Accumulation and Biodiesel Properties of Microalgae." *Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects* 40 (7): 787–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/15567036.2018.1463310.
- Laemmli, U. K. 1970. "Cleavage of Structural Proteins during the Assembly of the Head of Bacteriophage T4." *Nature* 227: 680–85. https://doi.org/10.1038/227680a0.
- Lakowicz, Joseph R. 1983. "Effects of Solvents on Fluorescence Emission Spectra." In *Principles of Fluorescence Spectroscopy*, 187–215. Boston, MA: Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-7658-7\_7.
- 2006. "Protein Fluorescence." In *Principles of Fluorescence Spectroscopy*, 3rd ed., 529–75. Boston, MA: Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-46312-4\_16.
- Lapidus, Lisa J. 2017. "Protein Unfolding Mechanisms and Their Effects on Folding Experiments." *F1000Research* 6 (September). https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.12070.1.
- Laurens, Lieve M. L., Thomas A. Dempster, Howland D. T. Jones, Edward J. Wolfrum, Stefanie Van Wychen, Jordan S. P. McAllister, Michelle Rencenberger, Kylea J. Parchert, and Lindsey M. Gloe. 2012. "Algal Biomass Constituent Analysis: Method Uncertainties and Investigation of the Underlying Measuring Chemistries." *Analytical Chemistry* 84 (4): 1879–87. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac202668c.
- Lee, Kuen Yong, and David J. Mooney. 2012. "Alginate: Properties and Biomedical Applications." *Progress in Polymer Science* 37 (1): 106–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2011.06.003.
- Lee, Robert Edward. 2008. *Phycology*. 8th ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09780511812897.
- Levasseur, Wendie, Patrick Perré, and Victor Pozzobon. 2020. "A Review of High Value-Added Molecules Production by Microalgae in Light of the Classification." *Biotechnology Advances* 41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2020.107545.

Lian, Jie, Rene H. Wijffels, Hauke Smidt, and Detmer Sipkema. 2018. "The Effect of the Algal Microbiome

on Industrial Production of Microalgae." *Microbial Biotechnology* 11 (5): 806–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.13296.

- Liang, Ying, John Beardall, and Philip Heraud. 2006. "Effects of Nitrogen Source and UV Radiation on the Growth, Chlorophyll Fluorescence and Fatty Acid Composition of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* and *Chaetoceros muelleri* (Bacillariophyceae)." *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology* 82 (3): 161–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2005.11.002.
- Lillebo, Ana, and Geoffrey D. Gooch. 2015. *Coastal Lagoons in Europe: Integrated Water Resource Strategies*. IWA publishing.
- Lopes, Maria Carolina. 2016. "The Consumption of Beauty Products on Female Young Adults in Portugal."
- Lorencini, Márcio, Carla A. Brohem, Gustavo C. Dieamant, Nilson I.T. Zanchin, and Howard I. Maibach. 2014. "Active Ingredients against Human Epidermal Aging." *Ageing Research Reviews* 15 (1): 100– 115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2014.03.002.
- Lourenço, Sergio O, Elisabete Barbarino, Paris L Lavín, Ursula M Lanfer Marquez, and Elizabeth Aidar. 2004. "Distribution of Intracellular Nitrogen in Marine Microalgae: Calculation of New Nitrogen-to-Protein Conversion Factors." *European Journal of Phycology* 39 (1): 17–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/0967026032000157156.
- Lovaglio, Roberta B., Francisco José dos Santos, Miguel Jafelicci, and Jonas Contiero. 2011. "Rhamnolipid Emulsifying Activity and Emulsion Stability: PH Rules." *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces* 85 (2): 301–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2011.03.001.
- Lowry, O H, N. Rosebrough, A.L Farr, and R.J. Randall. 1951. "Protein Measurement with the Folin Phenol Reagent." *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 193 (1): 265–75.
- Lu, Lin, Guanpin Yang, Baohua Zhu, and Kehou Pan. 2017. "A Comparative Study on Three Quantitating Methods of Microalgal Biomass." *Indian Journal of Geo Marine Sciences* 46: 2265–72.
- Lupo, Mary P. 2001. "Antioxidants and Vitamins in Cosmetics." *Clinics in Dermatology* 19 (4): 467–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0738-081X(01)00188-2.
- Manfellotto, Francesco, Giulio Rocco Stella, Angela Falciatore, Christophe Brunet, and Maria Immacolata Ferrante. 2020. "Engineering the Unicellular Alga *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* for Enhancing Carotenoid Production." *Antioxidants* 9 (8). https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox9080757.
- Maphosa, Yvonne, and Victoria A. Jideani. 2018. "Factors Affecting the Stability of Emulsions Stabilised by Biopolymers." In *Science and Technology Behind Nanoemulsions*. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.75308.
- Martin-Jézéquel, Veronique, and Benoit Tesson. 2012. "*Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Polymorphism: An Overview." In *Advances in Algal Cell Biology*. Berlin, Boston: De Gruyter. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110229615.43.
- Martínez Andrade, Kevin, Chiara Lauritano, Giovanna Romano, and Adrianna Ianora. 2018. "Marine Microalgae with Anti-Cancer Properties." *Marine Drugs* 16 (5). https://doi.org/10.3390/md16050165.

- Martino, Alessandra De, Ana Bartual, Anusuya Willis, Agnes Meichenin, Beatriz Villazán, Uma Maheswari, and Chris Bowler. 2011. "Physiological and Molecular Evidence That Environmental Changes Elicit Morphological Interconversion in the Model Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*." *Protist* 162 (3): 462–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.protis.2011.02.002.
- Martins, Ana, Helena Vieira, Helena Gaspar, and Susana Santos. 2014. "Marketed Marine Natural Products in the Pharmaceutical and Cosmeceutical Industries: Tips for Success." *Marine Drugs* 12 (2): 1066–1101. https://doi.org/10.3390/md12021066.
- Masaki, Hitoshi. 2010. "Role of Antioxidants in the Skin: Anti-Aging Effects." *Journal of Dermatological Science* 58 (2): 85–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdermsci.2010.03.003.
- Masuko, Tatsuya, Akio Minami, Norimasa Iwasaki, Tokifumi Majima, Shin-Ichiro Nishimura, and Yuan C. Lee. 2005. "Carbohydrate Analysis by a Phenol–Sulfuric Acid Method in Microplate Format." *Analytical Biochemistry* 339 (1): 69–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ab.2004.12.001.
- Mata, Teresa M, António A. Martins, and Nidia S Caetano. 2010. "Microalgae for Biodiesel Production and Other Applications: A Review." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 14 (1): 217–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2009.07.020.
- McClure, Dale D., Audrey Luiz, Blandine Gerber, Geoffrey W. Barton, and John M. Kavanagh. 2018. "An Investigation into the Effect of Culture Conditions on Fucoxanthin Production Using the Marine Microalgae *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*." *Algal Research* 29 (January): 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2017.11.015.
- Melanie, Hakiki, Noamane Taarji, Yiguo Zhao, Nauman Khalid, Marcos A. Neves, Isao Kobayashi, Ambo Tuwo, and Mitsutoshi Nakajima. 2020. "Formulation and Characterisation of O/W Emulsions Stabilised with Modified Seaweed Polysaccharides." *International Journal of Food Science & Technology* 55 (1): 211–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijfs.14264.
- Melo, Rebeca Gonçalves de, Alexsandra Frazão de Andrade, Raquel Pedrosa Bezerra, Daniela de Araújo Viana Marques, Valdemiro Amaro da Silva, Silvania Tavares Paz, José Luiz de Lima Filho, and Ana Lúcia Figueiredo Porto. 2019. "Hydrogel-Based *Chlorella vulgaris* Extracts: A New Topical Formulation for Wound Healing Treatment." *Journal of Applied Phycology* 31 (6): 3653–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-019-01837-2.
- Moon, C. Preston, and Karen G. Fleming. 2011. "Using Tryptophan Fluorescence to Measure the Stability of Membrane Proteins Folded in Liposomes." In , 189–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-381268-1.00018-5.
- Morales-Jiménez, Mónica, Luisa Gouveia, Jorge Yáñez-Fernández, Roberto Castro-Muñoz, and Blanca Estela Barragán-Huerta. 2020. "Production, Preparation and Characterization of Microalgae-Based Biopolymer as a Potential Bioactive Film." *Coatings* 10 (2): 120. https://doi.org/10.3390/coatings10020120.
- Moravkova, Tereza, and Petr Filip. 2013. "The Influence of Emulsifier on Rheological and Sensory Properties of Cosmetic Lotions." *Advances in Materials Science and Engineering*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/168503.
- Moreira, Thais Caldas Paiva, Ricardo N. Pereira, António A. Vicente, and Rosiane Lopes da Cunha. 2019. "Effect of Ohmic Heating on Functionality of Sodium Caseinate – A Relationship with Protein

Gelation." *Food Research International* 116 (February): 628–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2018.08.087.

- Mourelle, M., Carmen Gómez, and José Legido. 2017. "The Potential Use of Marine Microalgae and Cyanobacteria in Cosmetics and Thalassotherapy." *Cosmetics* 4 (4): 46. https://doi.org/10.3390/cosmetics4040046.
- Necas, J., and Lenka Bartosikova. 2013. "Carrageenan: A Review." *Veterinarni Medicina* 58 (4): 187–205. https://doi.org/10.17221/6758-VETMED.
- Neumann, Ulrike, Felix Derwenskus, Verena Flaiz Flister, Ulrike Schmid-Staiger, Thomas Hirth, and Stephan Bischoff. 2019. "Fucoxanthin, a Carotenoid Derived from *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Exerts Antiproliferative and Antioxidant Activities in Vitro." *Antioxidants* 8 (6): 183. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox8060183.
- Nikolakis, Georgios, Evgenia Makrantonaki, and Christos C Zouboulis. 2013. "Skin Mirrors Human Aging" 16 (1): 13–28. https://doi.org/10.1515/hmbci-2013-0018.
- NYQUIST, R. 2001. "Thiols, Sulfides and Disulfides, Alkanethiols, and Alkanedithiols (S-H Stretching)." In *Interpreting Infrared, Raman, and Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectra*, 65–83. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012523475-7/50184-4.
- Obata, Toshihiro, Alisdair Fernie, and Adriano Nunes-Nesi. 2013. "The Central Carbon and Energy Metabolism of Marine Diatoms." *Metabolites* 3 (2): 325–46. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo3020325.

"Ordenamento Do Espaço Marítimo Nacional, Plano de Situação." n.d. República Portuguesa do Mar.

- Ovide, Clément, Marie-Christine Kiefer-Meyer, Caroline Bérard, Nicolas Vergne, Thierry Lecroq, Carole Plasson, Carole Burel, *et al.* 2018. "Comparative in Depth RNA Sequencing of *P. tricornutum*'s Morphotypes Reveals Specific Features of the Oval Morphotype." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1): 14340. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-32519-7.
- Pangestuti, Ratih, Evi Siahaan, and Se-Kwon Kim. 2018. "Photoprotective Substances Derived from Marine Algae." *Marine Drugs* 16 (11). https://doi.org/10.3390/md16110399.
- Panis, G., and J. Rosales Carreon. 2016. "Commercial Astaxanthin Production Derived by Green Alga *Haematococcus pluvialis*: A Microalgae Process Model and a Techno-Economic Assessment All through Production Line." *Algal Research* 18: 175–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2016.06.007.
- Panouillé, Maud, and Véronique Larreta-Garde. 2009. "Gelation Behaviour of Gelatin and Alginate Mixtures." *Food Hydrocolloids* 23 (4): 1074–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2008.06.011.
- Papageorgiou, Maria, Stefan Kasapis, and Michelle G. Gothard. 1994. "Structural and Textural Properties of Calcium Induced, Hot-Made Alginate Gels." *Carbohydrate Polymers* 24 (3): 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/0144-8617(94)90131-7.
- Partridge, D., K. A. Lloyd, J. M. Rhodes, A. W. Walker, A. M. Johnstone, and B. J. Campbell. 2019. "Food Additives: Assessing the Impact of Exposure to Permitted Emulsifiers on Bowel and Metabolic Health Introducing the FADiets Study." *Nutrition Bulletin* 44 (4): 329–49. https://doi.org/10.1111/nbu.12408.

Peng, Juan, Jian-Ping Yuan, Chou-Fei Wu, and Jiang-Hai Wang. 2011. "Fucoxanthin, a Marine Carotenoid Present in Brown Seaweeds and Diatoms: Metabolism and Bioactivities Relevant to Human Health." *Marine Drugs* 9 (10): 1806–28. https://doi.org/10.3390/md9101806.

Pentapharm. n.d. "PEPHA® -TIGHT." Basel, Switzerland.

- Pereira, Leonel. 2008. "As Algas Marinhas e Respectivas Utilidades." Coimbra.
- Pereira, Leonel, Saly F. Gheda, and Paulo J. A. Ribeiro-Claro. 2013. "Analysis by Vibrational Spectroscopy of Seaweed Polysaccharides with Potential Use in Food, Pharmaceutical, and Cosmetic Industries." *International Journal of Carbohydrate Chemistry*, March, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/537202.
- Pereira, R.N., and A.A. Vicente. 2010. "Environmental Impact of Novel Thermal and Non-Thermal Technologies in Food Processing." *Food Research International* 43 (7): 1936–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2009.09.013.
- Perez-Garcia, Octavio, and Yoav Bashan. 2015. "Microalgal Heterotrophic and Mixotrophic Culturing for Bio-Refining: From Metabolic Routes to Techno-Economics." In *Algal Biorefineries*, 61–131. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-20200-6\_3.
- Perez-Garcia, Octavio, Froylan M.E. Escalante, Luz E. De-Bashan, and Yoav Bashan. 2011. "Heterotrophic Cultures of Microalgae: Metabolism and Potential Products." *Water Research* 45 (1): 11–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.08.037.
- Phong, Win Nee, Cheng Foh Le, Pau Loke Show, Hon Loong Lam, and Tau Chuan Ling. 2016. "Evaluation of Different Solvent Types on the Extraction of Proteins from Microalgae." *Chemical Engineering Transactions* 52. https://doi.org/10.3303/CET1652178.
- Poddar, Nature, Ramkrishna Sen, and Gregory J.O. Martin. 2018. "Glycerol and Nitrate Utilisation by Marine Microalgae Nannochloropsis salina and Chlorella sp. and Associated Bacteria during Mixotrophic and Heterotrophic Growth." Algal Research 33 (July): 298–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2018.06.002.
- Poojary, Mahesha, Francisco Barba, Bahar Aliakbarian, Francesco Donsi, Gianpiero Pataro, Daniel Dias, and Pablo Juliano. 2016. "Innovative Alternative Technologies to Extract Carotenoids from Microalgae and Seaweeds." *Marine Drugs* 14 (11): 214. https://doi.org/10.3390/md14110214.
- Präbst, Konstantin, Hannes Engelhardt, Stefan Ringgeler, and Holger Hübner. 2017. "Basic Colorimetric Proliferation Assays: MTT, WST, and Resazurin." In *Cell Viability Assays: Methods and Protocols*, edited by Daniel F. Gilbert and Oliver Friedrich, 1–17. Methods in Molecular Biology. Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6960-9.
- Pulz, Otto, and Wolfgang Gross. 2004. "Valuable Products from Biotechnology of Microalgae." *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 65 (6): 635–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-004-1647-x.
- Quelhas, Pedro M, Mafalda Trovão, Joana T. Silva, Adriana Machado, Tamára Santos, Hugo Pereira, João Varela, Manuel Simões, and Joana L Silva. 2019. "Industrial Production of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* for CO<sub>2</sub> Mitigation: Biomass Productivity and Photosynthetic Efficiency Using Photobioreactors of Different Volumes." *Journal of Applied Phycology* 31 (4): 2187–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-019-1750-0.

- Ramos, RhayanneT. M., IsabelleC. F. Bezerra, MagdaR. A. Ferreira, and LuizAlberto Lira Soares. 2017. "Spectrophotometric Quantification of Flavonoids in Herbal Material, Crude Extract, and Fractions from Leaves of Eugenia Uniflora Linn." Pharmacognosy Research 9 (3). https://doi.org/10.4103/pr.pr\_143\_16.
- Ramos-e-Silva, Marcia, Livia Ribeiro Celem, Stella Ramos-e-Silva, and Ana Paula Fucci-da-Costa. 2013. "Anti-Aging Cosmetics: Facts and Controversies." *Clinics in Dermatology* 31 (6): 750–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clindermatol.2013.05.013.
- Raposo, Maria Filomena de Jesus, Rui Manuel Santos Costa de Morais, and Alcina Maria Miranda Bernardo de Morais. 2013. "Health Applications of Bioactive Compounds from Marine Microalgae." *Life Sciences* 93 (15): 479–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2013.08.002.
- Raposo, Maria, Rui De Morais, and Alcina Bernardo de Morais. 2013. "Bioactivity and Applications of Sulphated Polysaccharides from Marine Microalgae." *Marine Drugs* 11 (1): 233–52. https://doi.org/10.3390/md11010233.
- Rastogi, Rajesh P., Datta Madamwar, Hitoshi Nakamoto, and Aran Incharoensakdi. 2020. "Resilience and Self-Regulation Processes of Microalgae under UV Radiation Stress." *Journal of Photochemistry* and *Photobiology C: Photochemistry Reviews* 43 (June). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotochemrev.2019.100322.
- Rech, Malko, Jean-Luc Mouget, Annick Morant-Manceau, Rosa Philippe, and Gérard Tremblin. 2005. "Long-Term Acclimation to UV Radiation: Effects on Growth, Photosynthesis and Carbonic Anhydrase Activity in Marine Diatoms." *Botanica Marina* 48 (5–6). https://doi.org/10.1515/bot.2005.054.
- Review, General. 2011. "Skin Moisturization Mechanisms :," 135–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharma.2011.01.004.
- Ribeiro, Rita. 2008. "A Comparative Study on Predicting Algae Blooms in Douro River, Portugal." *Ecological Modelling* 2: 86–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2007.10.018.
- Richmond, Amos. 2004. *Handbook of Microalgal Culture: Biotechnology and Applied Phycology*. 1st ed. Blackwell Science Ltd.
- Rico, Milagros, Aroa López, J. Magdalena Santana-Casiano, Aridane G. Gonzàlez, and Melchor Gonzàlez-Dàvila. 2013. "Variability of the Phenolic Profile in the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Growing under Copper and Iron Stress." *Limnology and Oceanography* 58 (1): 144– 52. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2013.58.1.0144.
- Ritchie, Raymond J. 2018. "Measurement of Chlorophylls a and b and Bacteriochlorophyll a in Organisms from Hypereutrophic Auxinic Waters." *Journal of Applied Phycology* 30 (6): 3075–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-018-1431-4.
- Rocha, Cristina M.R., Zlatina Genisheva, Pedro Ferreira-Santos, Rui Rodrigues, António A. Vicente, José
   A. Teixeira, and Ricardo N. Pereira. 2018. "Electric Field-Based Technologies for Valorization of Bioresources." *Bioresource Technology* 254: 325–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.01.068.

Rocha, Cristina M.R., Ana M.M. Sousa, Jang K. Kim, Júlia M.C.S. Magalhães, Charles Yarish, and Maria

do Pilar Gonçalves. 2019. "Characterization of Agar from *Gracilaria tikvahiae* Cultivated for Nutrient Bioextraction in Open Water Farms." *Food Hydrocolloids* 89 (April): 260–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2018.10.048.

- Rodrigues, Rui M., Zita Avelar, António A. Vicente, Steffen B. Petersen, and Ricardo N. Pereira. 2020. "Influence of Moderate Electric Fields in β-Lactoglobulin Thermal Unfolding and Interactions." *Food Chemistry* 304 (January). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.125442.
- Rodriguez-Garcia, Ignacio, and Jose Luis Guil-Guerrero. 2008. "Evaluation of the Antioxidant Activity of Three Microalgal Species for Use as Dietary Supplements and in the Preservation of Foods." *Food Chemistry* 108 (3): 1023–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2007.11.059.
- Rodríguez-Restrepo, Y.A., P. Ferreira-Santos, C.E. Orrego, J.A. Teixeira, and C.M.R. Rocha. 2020. "Valorization of Rice By-Products: Protein-Phenolic Based Fractions with Bioactive Potential." *Journal of Cereal Science*, September. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2020.103039.
- Ruocco, Nadia, Susan Costantini, Stefano Guariniello, and Maria Costantini. 2016. "Polysaccharides from the Marine Environment with Pharmacological, Cosmeceutical and Nutraceutical Potential." *Molecules* 21 (5): 551. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules21050551.
- Ryckebosch, Eline, Sara Paulina Cuéllar Bermúdez, Romina Termote-Verhalle, Charlotte Bruneel, Koenraad Muylaert, Roberto Parra-Saldivar, and Imogen Foubert. 2014. "Influence of Extraction Solvent System on the Extractability of Lipid Components from the Biomass of *Nannochloropsis gaditana.*" *Journal of Applied Phycology* 26 (3): 1501–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-013-0189-y.
- Saadaoui, Imen, Rihab Rasheed, Nabeel Abdulrahman, Touria Bounnit, Maroua Cherif, Hareb Al Jabri, and Fatima Mraiche. 2020. "Algae-Derived Bioactive Compounds with Anti-Lung Cancer Potential." *Marine Drugs* 18 (4). https://doi.org/10.3390/md18040197.
- Safafar, Hamed, Jonathan van Wagenen, Per Møller, and Charlotte Jacobsen. 2015. "Carotenoids, Phenolic Compounds and Tocopherols Contribute to the Antioxidative Properties of Some Microalgae Species Grown on Industrial Wastewater." *Marine Drugs* 13 (12): 7339–56. https://doi.org/10.3390/md13127069.
- Safi, Carl, Bachar Zebib, Othmane Merah, Pierre-Yves Pontalier, and Carlos Vaca-Garcia. 2014. "Morphology, Composition, Production, Processing and Applications of *Chlorella vulgaris*. A Review." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 35 (July): 265–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.04.007.
- Sánchez-Rangel, Juan Carlos, Jorge Benavides, J. Basilio Heredia, Luis Cisneros-Zevallos, and Daniel A. Jacobo-Velázquez. 2013. "The Folin-Ciocalteu Assay Revisited: Improvement of Its Specificity for Total Phenolic Content Determination." *Analytical Methods* 5 (21): 5990–99. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3ay41125g.
- Sandberg, Troy E., Michael J. Salazar, Liam L. Weng, Bernhard O. Palsson, and Adam M. Feist. 2019.
   "The Emergence of Adaptive Laboratory Evolution as an Efficient Tool for Biological Discovery and Industrial Biotechnology." *Metabolic Engineering* 56 (December): 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2019.08.004.

Sandnes, J M, T. Källqvist, D Wenner, and H R. Gislerød. 2005. "Combined Influence of Light and

Temperature on Growth Rates of *Nannochloropsis oceanica*: Linking Cellular Responses to Large-Scale Biomass Production." *Journal of Applied Phycology* 17 (6): 515–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-005-9002-x.

- Sansone, Clementina, and Christophe Brunet. 2019. "Promises and Challenges of Microalgal Antioxidant Production." *Antioxidants* 8 (7). https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox8070199.
- Sasso, Severin, Georg Pohnert, Martin Lohr, Maria Mittag, and Christian Hertweck. 2012. "Microalgae in the Postgenomic Era: A Blooming Reservoir for New Natural Products." *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* 36 (4): 761–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.2011.00304.x.
- Sastry, S. 2008. "Ohmic Heating and Moderate Electric Field Processing." *Food Science and Technology International* 14 (5): 419–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/1082013208098813.
- Sathasivam, Ramaraj, and Jang-Seu Ki. 2018. "A Review of the Biological Activities of Microalgal Carotenoids and Their Potential Use in Healthcare and Cosmetic Industries." *Marine Drugs* 16 (1): 26. https://doi.org/10.3390/md16010026.
- Sathasivam, Ramaraj, Ramalingam Radhakrishnan, Abeer Hashem, and Elsayed F. Abd\_Allah. 2019. "Microalgae Metabolites: A Rich Source for Food and Medicine." *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences* 26 (4): 709–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2017.11.003.
- Schellenberger Costa, Benjamin, Matthias Sachse, Anne Jungandreas, Carolina Rio Bartulos, Ansgar Gruber, Torsten Jakob, Peter G. Kroth, and Christian Wilhelm. 2013. "Aureochrome 1a Is Involved in the Photoacclimation of the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*." Edited by Douglas Andrew Campbell. *PLoS ONE* 8 (9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0074451.
- Shimizu, Makoto, Masayoshi Saito, and Kunio Yamauchi. 1985. "Emulsifying and Structural Properties of  $\beta$ -Lactoglobulin at Different PHs." *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry* 49 (1): 189–94. https://doi.org/10.1080/00021369.1985.10866680.
- Sigaud, Teresa Cristina Siqueira, and Elizabeth Aidar. 1993. "Salinity and Temperature Effects on the Growth and Chlorophyll-α Content of Some Planktonic Aigae." *Boletim Do Instituto Oceanográfico* 41 (1–2): 95–103. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0373-55241993000100008.
- Singh, Seema, Gang Cheng, Noppadon Sathitsuksanoh, Dong Wu, Patanjali Varanasi, Anthe George, Venkatesh Balan, *et al.* 2015. "Comparison of Different Biomass Pretreatment Techniques and Their Impact on Chemistry and Structure." *Frontiers in Energy Research* 2 (February). https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2014.00062.
- Sluiter, A., B. Hames, D. Hyman, C. Payne, R. Ruiz, C. Scarlata, J. Sluiter, D. Templeton, and J. Wolfe. 2008. "Determination of Total Solids in Biomass and Total Dissolved Solids in Liquid Process Samples."
- Sluiter, A., B. Hames, R. Ruiz, C. Scarlata, J. Sluiter, and D. Templeton. 2008a. "Determination of Ash in Biomass."
- Sluiter, A., B. Hames, R. Ruiz, C. Scarlata, J. Sluiter, D. Templeton, and D. Crocker. 2012. "Determination of Structural Carbohydrates and Lignin in Biomass."
- Sluiter, A, B Hames, R Ruiz, C Scarlata, J Sluiter, and D Templeton. 2008b. "Determination of Sugars, Byproducts, and Degradation Products in Liquid Fraction Process Samples."

- Song, Zhongdi, Gary J. Lye, and Brenda M. Parker. 2020. "Morphological and Biochemical Changes in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Triggered by Culture Media: Implications for Industrial Exploitation." *Algal Research* 47: 101822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2020.101822.
- Spolaore, Pauline, Claire Joannis-Cassan, Elie Duran, and Arsène Isambert. 2006. "Commercial Applications of Microalgae." *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* 101 (2): 87–96. https://doi.org/10.1263/jbb.101.87.
- Stack, Julianne, Aurélien V. Le Gouic, Paul R. Tobin, Freddy Guihéneuf, Dagmar B. Stengel, and Richard J. FitzGerald. 2018. "Protein Extraction and Bioactive Hydrolysate Generation from Two Microalgae, *Porphyridium purpureum* and *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*." *Journal of Food Bioactives*, March. https://doi.org/10.31665/JFB.2018.1134.
- statista. 2019. "Cosmetics Consumption Value in Europe 2018, by Country." 2019. https://www.statista.com/statistics/382100/european-cosmetics-market-volume-by-country/.
- Su, Yixi, Zhiqian Yi, Snædís Huld Björnsdóttir, Sigurdur Brynjolfsson, and Weiqi Fu. 2018. "Adaptive Laboratory Evolution for Enhanced Carotenoid Production in Microalgae." In , 117–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8742-9\_7.
- Suganya, T, M Varman, H.H. Masjuki, and S Renganathan. 2016. "Macroalgae and Microalgae as a Potential Source for Commercial Applications along with Biofuels Production: A Biorefinery Approach." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 55 (March): 909–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.11.026.
- Sulaiman, CT, and Indira Balachandran. 2012. "Total Phenolics and Total Flavonoids in Selected Indian Medicinal Plants." *Indian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 74 (3). https://doi.org/10.4103/0250-474X.106069.
- Sumanta, Nayek, Choudhury Imranul Haque, Jaishee Nishika, and Roy Suprakash. 2014. "Spectrophotometric Analysis of Chlorophylls and Carotenoids from Commonly Grown Fern Species by Using Various Extracting Solvents." *Research Journal of Chemical Sciences* 4: 63–69.
- Sun, Xiao-Man, Lu-Jing Ren, Quan-Yu Zhao, Xiao-Jun Ji, and He Huang. 2018. "Microalgae for the Production of Lipid and Carotenoids: A Review with Focus on Stress Regulation and Adaptation." *Biotechnology for Biofuels* 11 (1): 272. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-018-1275-9.
- Sun, Yan, Fang Guo, Tongfei Zuo, Jingjing Hua, and Guowang Diao. 2016. "Stimulus-Responsive Light-Harvesting Complexes Based on the Pillararene-Induced Co-Assembly of β-Carotene and Chlorophyll." *Nature Communications* 7 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12042.
- Sydney, Thomas, Jo-Ann Marshall-Thompson, Rahul Kapoore, Seetharaman Vaidyanathan, Jagroop Pandhal, and J. Fairclough. 2018. "The Effect of High-Intensity Ultraviolet Light to Elicit Microalgal Cell Lysis and Enhance Lipid Extraction." *Metabolites* 8 (4): 65. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo8040065.
- T.A. Tran, Tuyet, and Ha V.H. Nguyen. 2018. "Effects of Spray-Drying Temperatures and Carriers on Physical and Antioxidant Properties of Lemongrass Leaf Extract Powder." *Beverages* 4 (4). https://doi.org/10.3390/beverages4040084.
- Takaichi, Shinichi. 2011. "Carotenoids in Algae: Distributions, Biosyntheses and Functions." *Marine Drugs* 9 (6): 1101–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/md9061101.

- Tako, Masakuni. 2015. "The Principle of Polysaccharide Gels." *Advances in Bioscience and Biotechnology* 06 (01): 22–36. https://doi.org/10.4236/abb.2015.61004.
- Talakoub, Lily, Isaac M. Neuhaus, and Siegrid S. Yu. 2016. "Antiaging Cosmeceuticals." In *International Textbook of Aesthetic Surgery*, 1183–1209. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-46599-8\_81.
- "Teana Laboratories: ALGOBOTORELAX." n.d. Accessed June 1, 2019. http://teana-team.com/about/kosmetics/algobotorelax/.
- Teixeira-Guedes, Catarina I., David Oppolzer, Ana I. Barros, and Cristina Pereira-Wilson. 2019. "Impact of Cooking Method on Phenolic Composition and Antioxidant Potential of Four Varieties of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. and *Glycine max* L." *LWT* 103 (April): 238–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2019.01.010.
- Templeton, David W., Matthew Quinn, Stefanie Van Wychen, Deborah Hyman, and Lieve M.L. Laurens. 2012. "Separation and Quantification of Microalgal Carbohydrates." *Journal of Chromatography A* 1270 (December): 225–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2012.10.034.
- Tesson, Benoit, Cedric Gaillard, and Veronique Martin-Jézéquel. 2009. "Insights into the Polymorphism of the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Bohlin." *Botanica Marina* 52 (2): 104–16. https://doi.org/10.1515/BOT.2009.012.
- Teuling, Emma, Peter A. Wierenga, Jeleel O. Agboola, Harry Gruppen, and Johan W. Schrama. 2019. "Cell Wall Disruption Increases Bioavailability of *Nannochloropsis gaditana* Nutrients for Juvenile Nile Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*)." *Aquaculture* 499 (January): 269–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.09.047.
- Thiyagarasaiyar, Krishnapriya, Bey-Hing Goh, You-Jin Jeon, and Yoon-Yen Yow. 2020. "Algae Metabolites in Cosmeceutical: An Overview of Current Applications and Challenges." *Marine Drugs* 18 (6). https://doi.org/10.3390/md18060323.
- Thomas, Noel, and Se-kwon Kim. 2013. "Beneficial Effects of Marine Algal Compounds in Cosmeceuticals." *Marine Drugs* 11 (12): 146–64. https://doi.org/10.3390/md11010146.
- Tiande®.n.d."Fucoidan."AccessedApril30,2020.https://tiandeshop.co.uk/en/blog/products/fucoidan.
- Tibbetts, Sean M., Joyce E. Milley, and Santosh P. Lall. 2015. "Chemical Composition and Nutritional Properties of Freshwater and Marine Microalgal Biomass Cultured in Photobioreactors." *Journal of Applied Phycology* 27 (3): 1109–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-014-0428-x.
- To, Trang Q., Kerryn Procter, Blake A. Simmons, Suresh Subashchandrabose, and Rob Atkin. 2018. "Low Cost Ionic Liquid–Water Mixtures for Effective Extraction of Carbohydrate and Lipid from Algae." *Faraday Discussions* 206: 93–112. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7FD00158D.

Tomé, Luís. 2014. "Portugal as EU External Border." EU External Borders, 1–17.

Tommasi, Edoardo De, Roberta Congestri, Principia Dardano, Anna Chiara De Luca, Stefano Managò, Ilaria Rea, and Mario De Stefano. 2018. "UV-Shielding and Wavelength Conversion by Centric Diatom Nanopatterned Frustules." *Scientific Reports* 8 (1): 16285. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-34651-w.

- Ursu, Alina-violeta, Alain Marcati, Thierry Sayd, Véronique Sante-Lhoutellier, Gholamreza Djelveh, and Philippe Michaud. 2014. "Extraction, Fractionation and Functional Properties of Proteins from the Microalgae *Chlorella vulgaris.*" *Bioresource Technology* 157 (June): 134–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.01.071.
- Varela, João C., Hugo Pereira, Marta Vila, and Rosa León. 2015. "Production of Carotenoids by Microalgae: Achievements and Challenges." *Photosynthesis Research* 125 (3): 423–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11120-015-0149-2.
- Varghese, K. Shiby, M. C. Pandey, K. Radhakrishna, and A. S. Bawa. 2014. "Technology, Applications and Modelling of Ohmic Heating: A Review." *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 51 (10): 2304–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-012-0710-3.
- Vigani, Mauro, Claudia Parisi, Emilio Rodríguez-Cerezo, Maria J Barbosa, Lolke Sijtsma, Matthias Ploeg, and Christien Enzing. 2015. "Food and Feed Products from Microalgae: Market Opportunities and Challenges for the EU." *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 42 (1): 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2014.12.004.
- Villanova, Valeria, Antonio Emidio Fortunato, Dipali Singh, Davide Dal Bo, Melissa Conte, Toshihiro Obata, Juliette Jouhet, *et al.* 2017. "Investigating Mixotrophic Metabolism in the Model Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum.*" *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 372 (1728). https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0404.
- Wang, Hui-Min David, Ching-Chun Chen, Pauline Huynh, and Jo-Shu Chang. 2015. "Exploring the Potential of Using Algae in Cosmetics." *Bioresource Technology* 184: 355–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.12.001.
- Wang, Hui-min David, Xiao-chun Li, Duu-jong Lee, and Jo-shu Chang. 2017. "Potential Biomedical Applications of Marine Algae." *Bioresource Technology* 244: 1407–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.198.
- Wang, Jing, Weihua Jin, Yun Hou, Xizhen Niu, Hong Zhang, and Quanbin Zhang. 2013. "Chemical Composition and Moisture-Absorption/Retention Ability of Polysaccharides Extracted from Five Algae." *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 57 (June): 26–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2013.03.001.
- Warren, Frederick J., Benjamin B. Perston, Paul G. Royall, Peter J. Butterworth, and Peter R. Ellis. 2013.
   "Infrared Spectroscopy with Heated Attenuated Total Internal Reflectance Enabling Precise Measurement of Thermally Induced Transitions in Complex Biological Polymers." *Analytical Chemistry* 85 (8): 3999–4006. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac303552s.
- Wijesinghe, W. A J P, and You Jin Jeon. 2011. "Biological Activities and Potential Cosmeceutical Applications of Bioactive Components from Brown Seaweeds: A Review." *Phytochemistry Reviews* 10 (3): 431–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-011-9214-4.
- Wijesinghe, W.A.J.P., and You-Jin Jeon. 2012. "Enzyme-Assistant Extraction (EAE) of Bioactive Components: A Useful Approach for Recovery of Industrially Important Metabolites from Seaweeds: A Review." *Fitoterapia* 83 (1): 6–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fitote.2011.10.016.
- Winkler, James D., and Katy C. Kao. 2014. "Recent Advances in the Evolutionary Engineering of Industrial Biocatalysts." *Genomics* 104 (6): 406–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygeno.2014.09.006.

- Wu, Yanbei, Wei Ding, Lirong Jia, and Qiang He. 2015. "The Rheological Properties of Tara Gum (Caesalpinia Spinosa)." *Food Chemistry* 168 (February): 366–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.07.083.
- Xu, Jun, Rui-Qi Yue, Jing Liu, Hing-Man Ho, Tao Yi, Hu-Biao Chen, and Quan-Bin Han. 2014. "Structural Diversity Requires Individual Optimization of Ethanol Concentration in Polysaccharide Precipitation." *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 67 (June): 205–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2014.03.036.
- Xue, Jiao, Srinivasan Balamurugan, Da-Wei Li, Yu-Hong Liu, Hao Zeng, Lan Wang, Wei-Dong Yang, Jie-Sheng Liu, and Hong-Ye Li. 2017. "Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase as a Target for Highly Efficient Fatty Acid Biosynthesis in Microalgae by Enhancing NADPH Supply." *Metabolic Engineering* 41 (May): 212–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2017.04.008.
- Yamashita, Y., R. Miyahara, and K. Sakamoto. 2017. "Emulsion and Emulsification Technology." In *Cosmetic Science and Technology*, 489–506. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802005-0.00028-8.
- Yang, Yu-Hong, Lei Du, Masashi Hosokawa, Kazuo Miyashita, Yume Kokubun, Hisayoshi Arai, and Hiroyuki Taroda. 2017. "Fatty Acid and Lipid Class Composition of the Microalga *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*." *Journal of Oleo Science* 66 (4): 363–68. https://doi.org/10.5650/jos.ess16205.
- Yap, Benjamin H. J., Simon A. Crawford, Raymond R. Dagastine, Peter J. Scales, and Gregory J. O. Martin. 2016. "Nitrogen Deprivation of Microalgae: Effect on Cell Size, Cell Wall Thickness, Cell Strength, and Resistance to Mechanical Disruption." *Journal of Industrial Microbiology & Biotechnology* 43 (12): 1671–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-016-1848-1.
- Yasin, Zaliyatun A.M., Fatimah Ibrahim, Nurshamimi N. Rashid, Muhammad F.M. Razif, and Rohana Yusof. 2018. "The Importance of Some Plant Extracts as Skin Anti-Aging Resources: A Review." *Current Pharmaceutical Biotechnology* 18 (11): 864–76. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389201019666171219105920.
- Yi, Zhiqian, Yixi Su, Paulina Cherek, David R. Nelson, Jianping Lin, Ottar Rolfsson, Hua Wu, Kourosh Salehi-Ashtiani, Sigurdur Brynjolfsson, and Weiqi Fu. 2019. "Combined Artificial High-Silicate Medium and LED Illumination Promote Carotenoid Accumulation in the Marine Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum.*" *Microbial Cell Factories* 18 (1): 209. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12934-019-1263-1.
- Yi, Zhiqian, Maonian Xu, Manuela Magnusdottir, Yuetuan Zhang, Sigurdur Brynjolfsson, and Weiqi Fu. 2015. "Photo-Oxidative Stress-Driven Mutagenesis and Adaptive Evolution on the Marine Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* for Enhanced Carotenoid Accumulation." *Marine Drugs* 13 (10): 6138– 51. https://doi.org/10.3390/md13106138.
- Zaim, Soumia, Abdelhadi Mortadi, Fatima Chibi, El Houssine Benchennouf, Wafaa Arsalane, Omar Cherkaoui, Halima Rchid, Rachid Nmila, and Reddad El Moznine. 2020. "Extraction of Polysaccharides from Brown Algae: Rheological Studies." *Iranian Polymer Journal* 29 (12): 1137– 45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13726-020-00867-9.
- Zarrinmehr, Mohammad Javad, Omidvar Farhadian, Fatemeh Paykan Heyrati, Javad Keramat, Eleni Koutra, Michael Kornaros, and Ehsan Daneshvar. 2020. "Effect of Nitrogen Concentration on the Growth Rate and Biochemical Composition of the Microalga *Isochrysis galbana*." *The Egyptian*

#### *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biorefinery: A sustainable approach to valorize microalgae biomass towards BIOMOLECULES RECOVERY

Journal of Aquatic Research 46 (2): 153–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejar.2019.11.003.

- Zayas, Joseph F. 1997. "Gelling Properties of Proteins" In *Functionality of Proteins in Food*, 310–66. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-59116-7\_7.
- Zhang, Zhongshan, Feng Wang, Xiaomei Wang, Xiaolei Liu, Yun Hou, and Quanbin Zhang. 2010. "Extraction of the Polysaccharides from Five Algae and Their Potential Antioxidant Activity in Vitro." *Carbohydrate Polymers* 82 (1): 118–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2010.04.031.
- Zhao, Peipei, Wenhui Gu, Songcui Wu, Aiyou Huang, Linwen He, Xiujun Xie, Shan Gao, *et al.* 2015. "Silicon Enhances the Growth of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Bohlin under Green Light and Low Temperature." *Scientific Reports* 4 (1): 3958. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep03958.
- Zheng, Bai-An, Yasuki Matsumura, and Tomohiko Mori. 1993. "Relationship between the Thermal Denaturation and Gelling Properties of Legumin from Broad Beans." *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry* 57 (7): 1087–90. https://doi.org/10.1271/bbb.57.1087.

### 7. Appendix

### APPENDIX 1 – EXTRACTION TECHNOLOGY EXTRACTIONS

Extraction technology extraction	Technology fundamental	Advantages	Disadvantages	Reviewed applications	Ref.
Ionic liquids	Application of liquids consisting in cations and anions entirely based.	Greener; efficient; low cost.	Downstreaming processes required, difficult separation from target.	Lipid extraction and carbohydrate rich extract.	(Rocha <i>et al</i> . 2018; To <i>et al</i> . 2018)
Microwave- assisted extraction (MAE)	Nonionizing electromagnetic radiation with a frequency from 300 MHz to 300 GHz.	Rapid and volumetric heating; improved extraction rate and yield; lower use of solvents, economically feasible; high reproducibility and purity product; less energy consumption; shorter procedures.	Not suitable for thermolabile compounds extraction.	Algae fucoidans, carotenoids minerals and sulfated polysaccharides extraction.	(Kadam, Tiwari, and O'Donnell 2013; Pangestuti, Siahaan, and Kim 2018; R. N. Pereira and Vicente 2010; Chemat <i>et al.</i> 2015)
Ultrasound- assisted extraction (UAE)	High frequency sound waves above 20 kHz.	Increased extraction yield; simple, cost-effective; efficient; fast processing time; low solvent consumption; higher purity product; reduced downstreaming processes required.	High power consumption; difficult scale up; clean up step required.	Omega 3-fatty acids and algae isoflavones, minerals and sulfated polysaccharides extraction.	(Cravotto <i>et al.</i> 2008; Kadam, Tiwari, and O'Donnell 2013; Pangestuti, Siahaan, and Kim 2018; R. N. Pereira and Vicente 2010; Chemat <i>et al.</i> 2015)

Table A1	- Extraction	technology	extraction	used in a	algae speci	es with th	ie advantages,	disadvantages an	d reviewed	l applications
----------	--------------	------------	------------	-----------	-------------	------------	----------------	------------------	------------	----------------

Enzyme assisted extraction (EAE)	Application of cell wall degrading enzymes (e.g. carbohydrases and proteases).	Ecofriendly, relatively low-cost nontoxic, mild, high bioactive yield and selectivity; enhanced antioxidant activity preservation.	Highly dependent on temperature and treatment time conditions; careful enzyme selection; enzymatic optimization needed; further processes required, high enzymes cost.	Fucoxanthin and antioxidant rich extraction.	(Kadam, Tiwari, and O'Donnell 2013; Pangestuti, Siahaan, and Kim 2018)
Supercritical fluid extraction (SFE)	Use of a fluid whose temperature and pressure are above its critical limit.	Fast extraction rate, high yield, ecofriendly and more selective than UAE.	High investment cost and low CO₂ supercritical polarity.	Nutraceuticals and bioactive compounds extraction (carotenoids, pigments, polyunsaturated fatty acids, polyphenols).	(Bleakley and Hayes 2017; Kadam, Tiwari, and O'Donnell 2013)
Subcritical water extraction (SWE)	Use of hot water (100– 374°C) under high pressure (~10 bar) to maintain water in a liquid state.	Reduce extraction time; simple; ecofriendly; high yield; low solvent consumption.	High investment costs and temperature.	Algae lipids extraction.	(Pangestuti, Siahaan, and Kim 2018; Bleakley and Hayes 2017)
Instant controlled pressure drop	High temperature short-time (HTST) process based in a fast transition from high steam pressure to vacuum.	Short-time process; no solvent use; rapid metabolite release; low thermal degradation.	_	Essential oils extraction	(Chemat <i>et al</i> . 2015)
Electro- technologies	Application of electric fields to a system.	Improve mass-transfer processes; versatility, easy scale-up, fast; membrane	Conductivity medium dependent.	Biocompounds extraction.	(Rocha <i>et al</i> . 2018; Chemat <i>et al</i> . 2015;

electroporation effects; green; Bleak energetic efficiency.

Bleakley and Hayes 2017)

#### APPENDIX 2 – CALIBRATION CURVES

**A2.1–** Calibration curve for *P. tricornutum* concentration determination expressed in g L<sup>-1</sup>, with a linear equation of OD750nm= (0.651±0.014) x Concentration (g L<sup>-1</sup>) + (-0.020 ±0.011) for a 95 % confidence level.



A2.2– Calibration curve for nitrate determination expressed in mM, with a linear equation of OD220nm=  $(1.823 \pm 0.043) \times \text{Concentration (mM)} + (0.009 \pm 0.011)$  for a 95 % confidence level.





A2.3– Ethanol percentage and salt interference on (A) Lowry and (B) Bradford quantification methods.



A2.4– Catequin influence on Lowry and Bradford quantification methods.

# *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biorefinery: A sustainable approach to valorize microalgae biomass towards biomolecules recovery

### APPENDIX 3 – PROTEIN QUANTIFICATION METHODS

**Table A3** – Protein content of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* extracts determined by different quantification methods (Bradford, Lowry and Kjedahl) under different solvent systems: water, ethanol 50 % and ethanol 96 %.

Extraction conditions	Bradford (%)	Lowry (%)	Kjedahl (%)
Water 40 °C	$2.14\pm0.29$	8.85 ± 0.14	16.03 ± 0.07
Ethanol 50% 40 °C	$1.37\pm0.03$	10.88 ± 0.33	9.83± 0.50
Ethanol 96 % 40 °C	6.77 ± 0.83	$21.41 \pm 0.55$	9.61 ± 0.33

#### APPENDIX 4 – MICROALGAE EXTRACTS ANTIOXIDANT PROFILE

**A4.1–** Antioxidant activity determined by (A) FRAP, (B) ABTS, (C) DPPH methods determined for the different extraction conditions tested for the three microalgal studied, namely, *Chlorella vulgaris, Nannochloropsis oceanica* and *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Cultures were maintained using Guillard's f/2 medium at 24°C, under continuously white light (100 µmol photons m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) and aeration with CO<sub>2</sub> pulses. Extractions were carried out using 4 % solid solvent for a final volume of 5 mL. Different letters indicate significant differences ( $p \le 0.05$ ) between extraction conditions within the same microalgae species (water; H<sub>2</sub>O; ethanol, EtOH; dichloromethane:ethanol 50%, DE).



